NUCLEUS ACCUMBENS N-METHYL-D-ASPARTATE RECEPTOR FUNCTION AND REWARD LEARNING: IMPLICATIONS FOR COCAINE USE DISORDERS

By

Max Emanuel Joffe

Dissertation

Submitted to the Faculty of the

Graduate School of Vanderbilt University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

Pharmacology

August, 2016

Nashville, Tennessee

Approved:

Brad A. Grueter, Ph.D.

Christine Konradi, Ph.D.

Roger J. Colbran, Ph.D.

Ariel Y. Deutch, Ph.D.

Danny G. Winder, Ph.D.

Copyright © 2016 by Max Emanuel Joffe

All Rights Reserved

To Milton H. Joffe and his great-grandchildren.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First I would like to thank my advisor Dr. Brad Grueter for his consistent support throughout the completion of my dissertation. I was extremely fortunate not only to be trained by an outstanding mentor, but to gain a friend during the process. The continuous help from my dissertation committee was essential; their thoughtful guidance over the years paved the way towards the completion of my thesis work. Danny Winder, in particular, was instrumental towards the completion of the research examining Glu2C function. I would like to thank the other members of the Grueter laboratory for their assistance, encouragement, and comradery throughout my time in the lab. Additionally, my graduate work could not have been completed without two core facilities at Vanderbilt, the Murine Neurobehavioral Lab and the Cell Imaging Shared Resource.

I would like to thank my parents and my family for their unwavering confidence and support, and I thank the lifelong friends I have met in Nashville who have no doubt helped maintain my sanity throughout graduate school. Finally I would like to thank my darling wife Kendra, whose love and own accomplishments continue to inspire me every day. And she also made figures and pictures found on pages 5, 62, and 91

iv

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	ix

Chapter

I: INTRODUCTION	1
1. Background	1
1.1 Neuropharmacology of Abused Substances	3
1.2 Neurocircuitry of Reward	6
1.2.1 Dopamine Centers	8
1.2.2 Dorsal Striatum and Nucleus Accumbens	9
1.2.3 Glutamatergic Regions of the Reward Circuit	12
2. Rodent Models of Addiction-like Behaviors	16
2.1 Neurochemistry	16
2.2 Behavioral Models	17
2.3 Etiology of Addiction-like Behavior	19
2.3.1 Stages of Addiction	19
2.3.2 Reinforcement	20
2.3.3 Reward	22
2.3.4 Interoceptive State and Drug Action	25
2.3.5 Cognition	26
2.3.6 Anxiety and Anhedonia	28
3. Molecular Mediators of Addiction Pathology	29
3.1 Structural and Regulatory Proteins	29
3.2 Kinases	31
3.3 Transcription Factors	32
3.4 Cell Surface Receptors and Transporters	33

36
36
39
39
39
43
44
•

4.	NMDAR Function	48
5.	Summary	52

III: METHODS AND MATERIALS	. 55
1. Mice	. 55
2. Stereotaxic Injections	. 56
3. Behavioral Procedures	. 57
3.1 Cocaine Conditioned Place Preference	. 57
3.1.1 Grin1 Experiments	. 57
3.1.2 Grin2B Experiments	. 58
3.2 Open Field Assay	. 59
3.3 Elevated Plus Maze	. 59
3.4 Novelty-induced Hypophagia	. 60
3.5 Tail Suspension and Forced Swim Tests	. 60
3.6 Cocaine Conditioning	. 61
4. Electrophysiology	. 61
4.1 Slice Preparation	. 61
4.2 MSN Identification and Glutamate Release	. 62
4.3 Experimental Protocols	. 63
5. Data Analysis	. 64
6. Drugs	. 65

IV: GLUN1 DELETIONS IN D1- AND A2A-EXPRESSING CELL TYPES

RE	EVEAL DISTINCT MODES OF BEHAVIORAL REGULATION	66
1.	Abstract	66
2.	Introduction	67
3.	Results	70
	3.1. Functional Verification of GluN1 Genetic Deletions	70
	3.2. Cocaine Place Conditioning in GluN1 Deletion Models	71
	3.3. Open Field Test in GluN1 Deletion Models	74
	3.4. Anxiety-like Behavior in GluN1 Deletion Models	77
	3.5. Tail Suspension and Forced Swim Tests in GluN1 Deletion Models	79
4.	Discussion	80

V: COCAINE EXPERIENCE ENHANCES THALAMO-ACCUMBENS N-

M	ETHYL-D-ASPARTATE RECEPTOR FUNCTION	85
1.	Abstract	85
2.	Introduction	86
3.	Results	89
	3.1 Circuit-specific AMPAR and NMDAR Properties of NAc Core MSNs.	89
	3.2 Cocaine Experience Does Not Alter Electrically-evoked NAc core	
	iGluR Properties	92
	3.3 Cocaine Experience Alters mThal-D1(+) iGluR Function	94

3.4 NMDAR Function at PFC-D1(+) NAc Core Synapses Is Increased	
Following Cocaine Experience	
3.5 mThal-D1(-) NAc Core Synapses Exhibit Functional Properties	
Consistent with More Silent Synapses Following Cocaine Experier	nce 98
3.6 Cocaine Experience Does Not Alter PFC-D1(-) iGluR Properties	
3.7 Functional Upregulation of GluN2C/D at mThal-D1(+) Synapses	
Following Cocaine Experience	101
3.8 Cocaine Experience Unmasks NMDAR-dependent LTD at	
mThal-D1(+) NAc Core Synapses	103
4. Discussion	106
5. Coefficient of Variation Analysis	112
6. In vivo optogenetics	114

VI: DISCUSSION	116
1. Summary	116
1.1 D1 MŚNs	116
1.1.1 Verification of Cell Type-specific GluN2B Deletions	120
1.1.2 Assessment of Cocaine Reward Learning in GluN2B ^{-/-} Mice	122
1.2 A2A MSNs	126
2. Future Examinations of mThal Function	129
2.1 mThal-NAc Presynaptic Function	129
2.1.1 CB1R	131
2.1.2 mGlu _{2/3}	133
2.1.3 Opioid Receptors	134
2.2 mThal Neuron Function	136
2.2.1 Synaptic Physiology	137
2.2.2 Neuron Differentiation	138
3. Conclusion	139

REFERENCES14	42
--------------	----

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	. Common Drugs of Abuse	4
Table 2.	. Isolated Coefficient of Variation Analysis1	12

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Annual prevalence of illicit drug use and substance use disorder 2
Figure 2. All drugs of abuse facilitate DA release in the NAc5
Figure 3. Simplified schematic of the reward circuitry in the rodent brain7
Figure 4. Simplified schematic of NAc circuity10
Figure 5. Glutamatergic brain regions projecting to the NAc
Figure 6. Assessment of reward learning with place conditioning
Figure 7. Simplified schematic of excitatory synapse
Figure 8. Representative mThal-NAc AAV-ChR2-EYFP expression56
Figure 9. Apparatus used for GluN1 ^{-/-} CPP experiments
Figure 10. Representative D1-tdTomato expression
Figure 11. Selectivity of cell type-specific GluN1 deletions71
Figure 12. Locomotor response to cocaine in GluN1 ^{-/-} models
Figure 13. Expression of cocaine CPP in GluN1 ^{-/-} models72
Figure 14. Extinction of cocaine CPP in GluN1 ^{-/-} models73
Figure 15. Reinstatement of cocaine CPP in GluN1 ^{-/-} models
Figure 16. Open field assay in GluN1 ^{-/-} models75
Figure 17. Anxiety-like behavior assays in GluN1 ^{-/-} models
Figure 18. Behavioral despair assays in GluN1 ^{-/-} models
Figure 19. Basal AMPAR and NMDAR properties of NAc core synapses91
Figure 20. Electrically-evoked iGluR function following cocaine exposure93
Figure 21. Cocaine enhances mThal-D1(+) AMPAR and NMDAR function95
Figure 22. Cocaine experience enhances PFC-D1(+) NMDAR function

Figure 23. Cocaine likely generates silent synapses at mThal-D1(-) synapses.99
Figure 24. Cocaine experience does not alter PFC-D1(-) synapses
Figure 25. CIQ reveals GluN2C/D function following cocaine experience 102
Figure 26. DCS abrogates cocaine effects on mThal-D1(+) NMDARs 103
Figure 27. Cocaine exposure unmasks mThal-D1(+) LFS-LTD
Figure 28. mThal-NAc LFS generates LTD via activation of NMDARs 106
Figure 29. Isolated CV-NMDAR and CV-AMPAR for Figures 14-19113
Figure 30. In vivo mThal-NAc optogenetics115
Figure 31. GluN2B genetic deletions reduce NMDAR decay kinetics
Figure 32. GluN2B genetic deletions alters NMDAR I-V relationships 122
Figure 33. Expression and maintenance of cocaine CPP in GluN2B ^{-/-} mice 123
Figure 34. Cocaine exposure enhances mThal-D1(+) DSE

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

1. Background

Addiction is a devastating disease that imposes a substantial toll on afflicted individuals, close friends and relatives, and society as a whole. According to the American Society of Addiction Medicine, addiction is a primary, chronic disease of brain reward, motivation, memory, and related circuitry. An important characteristic of addiction is the inability of a patient to consistently abstain from addiction-related behavior despite negative consequences to himself and those around him. Each year in the United States, abuse of illicit drugs alone has been estimated to exact over \$11 billion in direct health care costs and over \$193 billion related to social and occupational factors (National Drug Intelligence Center, 2011). Moreover the disease is pervasive and affects all regions, socioeconomic classes and ethnicities. In the Nashville Metro Area the average annual prevalence of a substance use disorder diagnosis has been estimated to be 9.3% (Figure 1, Page 2) (SAMHSA, 2012).

Substance use disorders involve the persistent abuse of psychoactive drugs, small molecules that affect neuronal function by altering the biochemical balance of the brain. Exposure to these agents results in alterations of behavior, consciousness and mood; such agents include alcohol, tobacco, cannabinoids, opioids, stimulants, hallucinogens, club drugs and some prescription drugs. Non-

drug addictions have also been described including sex, gambling, and other behaviors. Likewise the concept of overindulging in consumption of highly palatable foods has been recently debated as constituting an addiction. This should not be surprising, since drugs of abuse hijack the natural reward circuitry which has been evolutionarily optimized for survival (DiLeone et al., 2012).



Past Year Use or Occurence

Figure 1. Annual prevalence of illicit drug use and substance use disorder. Data adapted from 2012 National Survey on Drug Use and Health Report. Nashville Metro refers to the Nashville, Davidson County, Murfreesboro, and Franklin. Rx-type refers to painkillers. SUD, substance use disorder. USA, United States of America. (*: p < 0.05 vs Tennessee, #: p < 0.05 vs. USA)

More specifically, addiction is a chronic disease characterized by a cyclical, relapse-laden progression through several phases of maladaptive behavior (Koob and Volkow, 2010). The cyclical nature of the disease is particularly evident with substance abuse patients, who repeatedly progress through periods of binging (high levels of consumption), withdrawal (abstinence, in the presence of anxiety

and/or negative affect), and preoccupation (intense craving and anticipation of next use). Consummatory behavior at disease onset is generally impulsive, and thought to be motivated mainly by positive reinforcement (i.e. euphoria obtained from substance ingestion). However as the disease progresses, the motivation underlying drug-seeking shifts towards negative reinforcement (i.e. relief of withdrawal symptoms). Eventually, the drug-taking is maintained by compulsive habitual behaviors. While all drugs of abuse act on a final common pathway, the sensitization and intensification of these symptoms and phases is thought to recruit distinct neural circuits and local networks. Thus, to an extent, it is possible to map the phases of addiction-related behaviors onto the function of specific neural circuits.

1.1 Neuropharmacology of Abused Substances

To understand how abused substances cause durable changes in the brain, it is first necessary to introduce how they acutely alter brain function (reviewed by Sulzer, 2011). Drugs of abuse elicit their effects through a variety of mechanisms. Yet all abused substances recruit the major natural reward pathway of the central nervous system, the mesocorticolimbic dopamine system. All drugs of abuse directly or indirectly facilitate the release of the neurotransmitter dopamine, produced in the ventral tegmental area (VTA) of the midbrain, in the nucleus accumbens (NAc) (Di Chiara et al., 2004) (Figure 2, page 5). The receptor targets for drugs of abuse have been well defined and most are cell surface receptors, however understanding their complex downstream effects remains a challenge

and these are described in a subsequent section. Here we will briefly describe the targets for well-studied drugs of abuse (Table 1).

Drug(s) of Abuse	Primary Action	Physiological Effects
cocaine, methylphenidate, MDPV derivatives	DAT inhibition	Increased blood pressure and heart rate, increased energy and
amphetamine and cathinone derivatives	VMAT inhibition	alertness, reduced appetite, anxiety, paranoia, psychosis
nicotine	nAchR agonism	Increased blood pressure, heart rate, and alertness
heroin, morphine, and synthetic analogs	MOR agonism	Euphoria, drowsiness/sedation, nausea, respiratory depression
Salvia divinorum l salvinorin A	KOR agonism	Dissociation, hallucinations, impaired motor function
PCP, ketamine	NMDAR antagonism	Dissociation, delirium, analgesia, impaired motor function
Barbiturates, benzodiazepines, Z- drugs	GABA _A R positive modulation	Sedation, anxiolysis, amnesia, impaired coordination, muscle relaxation
<i>Cannabis</i> , THC, and analogs	CB ₁ R agonism	Altered perception, impaired memory, increased heart rate and appetite
Tryptamines/phenethylamines (e.g. psilocin, mescaline, LSD, DOM, DMT)	5-HT _{2A} R agonism	Altered perception, hallucinations, emotional changes, insomnia
Alcohol (ethanol)	pleiotropic effects	Relaxation, loss of inhibition, drowsiness, impaired coordination, amnesia
Solvents and inhalants	pleiotropic effects	Stimulation, slurred speech, impaired coordination

Table '	1
---------	---

Table 1. Common Drugs of Abuse. Drugs of abuse, their primary mechanism of action, and commonly observed physiological effects. Despite the diversity of primary mechanism of action, all drugs of abuse facilitate dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens. 5HT_{2A}R, serotonin receptor subtype 2A; CB₁R, cannabinoid receptor subtype 1; DAT, dopamine transporter; DMT, *N*,*N*-dimethyltryptamine; DOM, 2,5-dimethoxy-4-methylamphetamine; GABA_AR, γ-aminobutyric acid receptor; nAchR, nicotinic acetylcholine receptor; NMDAR, N-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptor; PCP, phencyclidine; THC, tetrahydrocannabinol; VMAT, vesicular membrane monoamine transporter.

Psychostimulants, including cocaine and amphetamines, act directly on the presynaptic dopamine-releasing axon terminals of VTA afferents. Cocaine impedes the clearance of dopamine from the synaptic cleft by inhibiting plasma membrane monoamine transporters, whereas amphetamines alter the function of both the vesicular monoamine transporters and plasma membrane transporters (Robertson et al., 2009; Sulzer et al., 2005). Nicotine binds to the orthosteric binding site of the nicotinic acetylcholine-gated cation channel (nAChR). Nicotine is thought to act primarily through activation of $\alpha 4\beta 2$ -containing nAChRs on dopamine cell bodies and axon terminals, thereby directly leading to dopamine release in the NAc (Xi et al., 2009). However, nicotine-mediated activation of $\alpha 7$ homomers on dopamine axon terminals and presynaptic glutamatergic afferents may too be involved.



Figure 2. All drugs of abuse facilitate DA release in the NAc. Despite heterogeneous molecular and cellular targets, all drugs of abuse increase extracellular DA concentrations in the NAc. DA, dopamine; GABA, γ-aminobutyric acid; NAc, nucleus accumbens; THC, tetrahydrocannabinol; VTA, ventral tegmental area. Image adapted from Lüscher and Malenka, 2011.

Opiates like heroin and morphine activate G_{i/o}-coupled µ-opioid receptors (MOR), which, within the VTA, are expressed mainly on GABAergic interneurons. Activation of MORs hyperpolarizes VTA interneurons, leading to disinhibition of the dopamine projection neurons and enhanced dopamine release in the NAc (Ting-A-Kee and van der Kooy, 2012). Similarly, several other classes of abused drugs – barbiturates/benzodiazepines, PCP/ketamine, and cannabinoids – are thought to facilitate dopamine release in the NAc via similar mechanisms (Lüscher and Ungless, 2006). Like other non-stimulant drugs of abuse, ethanol causes a net disinhibition of VTA dopaminergic neurons (Marty and Spigelman, 2012), however ethanol has a rich pharmacology involving direct interactions with glutamatergic and GABAergic ion channels.

1.2 Neurocircuitry of Reward

Seminal work from Olds and colleagues demonstrated that rodents will work to electrically stimulate relatively discrete areas of the brain (Olds and Milner, 1954). Considering the observation that humans find stimulation of these same areas pleasurable, these regions were described as comprising the brain-reward circuitry (Wise, 1996). Subsequently, others have shown that animals will work to self-administer drugs of abuse (but not other drugs) and that this selfadministration behavior is disrupted by lesioning brain-reward regions (Koob et al., 1998) (Figure 3, page 7).



Figure 3. Simplified schematic of the reward circuitry in the rodent brain emphasizing signaling to and from the nucleus accumbens (NAc) and ventral tegmental area (VTA). Glutamatergic transmission drives information through the reward and reward-related circuitry (blue arrows). GABAergic transmission from NAc and other regions dampens target neuronal activity (red arrows). Dopamine release from the VTA and substantia nigra (SN) modulates synaptic transmission in target regions (green arrows). These regions are recruited and undergo synaptic, circuit, and genetic adaptations in response to drug experience. AMY, amygdala; BNST, bed nucleus of the stria terminalis; CeA, central nucleus of the amygdala; DS, dorsal striatum; LDTg, laterodorsal tegmentum; LHb, lateral habenula; LH, lateral hypothalamus; PFC, prefrontal cortex; SN, substantia nigra; VP, ventral pallidum.

The critical regions in the reward circuitry are now widely accepted to include the mesolimbic dopamine system, more specifically the VTA-NAc pathways (Kalivas et al., 2005). Yet, the VTA-NAc pathways comprise only part of a series of parallel, integrated circuits, which involve several other key brain regions. These other regions include but are not limited to the prefrontal cortex (PFC), midline nuclei of the thalamus (mThal), ventral hippocampus (vHipp), and basolateral amygdala (BLA) which all provide excitatory drive within the reward circuit. Auxiliary regions, including the dorsal striatum and extended amygdala, sustain habitual behaviors and stress responses in addiction.

1.2.1 Dopamine Centers

Dopamine plays a central role in motivation and reward processing. However, dopamine-deficient mice still demonstrate a degree of reward learning, suggesting the monoamine is not necessary for this process (Wise, 2009). These findings illustrate that although dopamine is key to reward, the holistic reward system is substantially more complex. Dopamine production occurs in midbrain dopamine neurons including the VTA, the retrorubral field and the substantia nigra (SN). In addition to dopamine neurons, the VTA contains GABAergic neurons, which can regulate VTA dopamine neuron function (Tan et al., 2010), and/or project to and modulate NAc cholinergic interneurons (Brown et al., 2012). In addition to having widespread projections throughout the brain, retrograde tracing techniques have shown that the VTA receives diverse afferent inputs, which likely influence behavioral output differentially (reviewed in Lammel et al., 2013).

The SN is a midbrain dopaminergic region closely related to the VTA. Like the VTA, electrical stimulation of the SN is rewarding. Additional evidence suggests that blockade of glutamatergic or cholinergic signaling into either the SN or VTA alters addiction-related habit formation (Wise, 2009). Also, blockade of dopamine receptor signaling in the terminal beds of either the VTA (NAc) or the SN (dorsal striatum) alters addiction-related behaviors, although to a much greater degree in the NAc. Utilization of optogenetics and genetic engineering in rats and mice has allowed for more detailed analysis of addiction-related behaviors as the light sensitive channels that activate (channelrhodopsins) or inhibit (halorhodopsins) cellular excitability can be expressed in a region- and cell type-

specific manner. For instance, selective photostimulation and subsequent excitation of VTA dopamine neurons supports reward related behaviors such as conditioned place preference (Tsai et al., 2009; Witten et al., 2011).

Like the SN, the VTA also degenerates during the progression of Parkinson's disease (PD) and may explain some of the similarities between the PD non-motor symptoms and post-acute-withdrawal syndrome (e.g. depression/irritability, cognitive disruptions). Overall, it is well accepted that the activity of midbrain dopamine neurons conveys information involved in integration of the rewarding vs. aversive properties of environmental stimuli (Lammel et al., 2013).

1.2.2 Dorsal Striatum and Nucleus Accumbens

The striatum is the gate to the basal ganglia, integrating inputs from the PFC, as well as thalamic and limbic structures (vHipp and BLA). Consisting of multiple nuclei differentiated by their anatomical connections and behavioral functions, the striatum is broadly divided into a dorsal region, also known as the caudate-putamen, and a ventral region, which mainly consists of the NAc. The NAc is further divided into two subregions, the core and the shell with the core being more similar to the dorsal striatum and the shell having strong similarities with the extended amygdala (described below). Serial connectivity between the NAc, midbrain, and dorsal striatum may account for the transition from motivated to habitual behaviors observed in the progression of addiction (Belin and Everitt, 2008; Haber et al., 2000). Thus, drug-evoked changes in synaptic strength and

connectivity within the dorsal striatum and the NAc are thought to underlie many behavioral components of addiction (Grueter et al., 2012).

The known neuronal cell types in the dorsal striatum and NAc include GABAergic projection medium spiny neurons (MSNs), multiple types of GABAergic interneurons, and cholinergic interneurons. The MSNs can be further subdivided into two categories (historically referred to as "direct pathway" (striatonigral) and "indirect pathway" (striatopallidal) MSNs) based on projection targets, electrophysiology, and expression of neuropeptides and cell surface receptors (Figure 4). For instance, dopamine receptor subtype 1 (D1R), muscarinic acetylcholine receptor subtype 4 and prodynorphin are expressed by one MSN type whereas the other type expresses dopamine receptor subtype 2 (D2R), adenosine receptor subtype 2A (A2AR) and proenkephalin.



Figure 4. Simplified schematic of NAc circuity. NAc MSNs are readily divided into two groups. One group expresses D1 and projects to the midbrain (and VP) whereas the other expresses A2A and D2 and projects to the VP. While some overlap exists with regards to protein expression and anatomy, the balance of MSN pathway function is hypothesized to regulate several complex behaviors related to motivational state. Because MSNs are quiet and generally rest at hyperpolarized potentials, excitatory drive is crucial in driving MSN activity *in vivo* and modulating NAc-related behavioral outcomes. A2A, adenosine receptor subtype 2A; D1, dopamine receptor subtype 1; D2, dopamine receptor subtype 2; MSN, medium spiny neuron; mThal, midline nuclei of the thalamus; NAc, nucleus accumbens; PFC, prefrontal cortex; SN, substantia nigra; VP, ventral pallidum; VTA, ventral tegmental area.

D1 MSNs mainly project to dopaminergic midbrain regions, whereas D2 MSNs primarily target the pallidum (Smith et al., 2013), although these distinctions are far from clear, especially in the NAc shell (Kupchik et al., 2015). Several studies have demonstrated that these parallel circuits can exert opposing or dichotomous functional effects on behavior (Francis et al., 2014; Grueter et al., 2013; Kravitz et al., 2012; Lobo et al., 2010), whereas others suggest that the pathways may work in tandem towards the same functional response (Beutler et al., 2011; Cui et al., 2013).

Excitatory (glutamatergic) drive is critical for MSN output as these neurons are relatively quiescent with a resting membrane potential around -80 mV. The dorsal striatum receives excitatory inputs primarily from the associative and sensorimotor cortex and thalamic nuclei, as well as reciprocal dopaminergic innervation from the SN. In contrast, the NAc receives excitatory inputs from the prefrontal cortex and limbic regions. Although both the NAc shell and core receive inputs from the VTA, the NAc shell sends reciprocal projections to the VTA while the NAc core projects back to the SN. An essential role for the NAc in drug-related behaviors is evidenced by the demonstration that psychostimulant selfadministration is disrupted by NAc-specific lesions, or local blockade of glutamate or dopamine receptors.

In addition to its well-characterized role in the rewarding and reinforcing properties of drugs of abuse and natural stimuli, the NAc has also been implicated in the placebo effect (Scott et al., 2007) and the processing of pleasant emotions induced by imagery (Costa et al., 2010) and music (Menon and Levitin, 2005). By

contrast overactive or otherwise dysfunctional activity in the mesolimbic system is thought to be involved in the manifestation of positive psychotic symptoms (e.g. delusions, hallucinations, grandiosity) shared by acute stimulant-induced psychosis and psychiatric illnesses like schizophrenia and bipolar disorder.

1.2.3 Glutamatergic Regions of the Reward Circuit

The PFC, often divided in rodents into the prelimbic and infralimbic portions, comprises the anterior portion of the frontal lobes. Among other functions, the PFC is typically and most consistently associated with executive function, an umbrella term for higher-order processes such as planning and forethought, problem solving, and cognitive flexibility. With respect to addiction, the PFC regulates the overall motivational significance and determines the intensity of behavioral responding (Goldstein and Volkow, 2011). The output of the PFC is glutamatergic, and is modulated by dopamine and other neuromodulators (Van Eden and Buijs, 2000). Consistent with involvement of dopaminergic afferents, the activation of the PFC by rewarding stimuli is strongly influenced by the predictability of the reward. A hypoactive PFC has been associated with loss of impulse control (Chen et al., 2013), and deficits in PFC function have been observed in patients with a variety of psychiatric illnesses including substance abuse (Goldstein and Volkow, 2011)

and obesity (Cornier et al., 2013), ADHD (Arnsten, 2009), schizophrenia (Yoon et al., 2013), and depression (Koenigs et al., 2008).

The hippocampus is a limbic structure that plays a major role in learning and memory. The hippocampus sends glutamatergic projections to multiple regions within the reward circuitry. In fact, the NAc is innervated by the vHipp subiculum, which is thought to convey contextual and memory-related information. Consistently, direct stimulation of vHipp axons in the NAc reinforces addiction-



Figure 5. Glutamatergic brain regions projecting to the NAc. Several glutamatergic cortical and limbic regions project to the NAc, which serves to integrate potentially distinct components of motivational information towards the execution of complex tasks. Over the past 4 years, the PFC, vHipp, and BLA inputs to the NAc have been demonstrated to undergo pathological adaptations following cocaine exposure. Italics indicate experiments performed in the rat while the other citations denote mouse experiments with a D1/D2 transgenic reporter as used in this dissertation. Until this body of work, no published account has examined the mThal-NAc circuit in the context of cocaine exposure. The background image was taken from the gensat gene atlas and indicates expression of the A2A subtype adenosine receptor. BLA, basolateral amygdala; mThal, midline nuclei of the thalamus; Nat Neuro, *Nature Neuroscience*; NAc, nucleus accumbens; Npp, *Neuropsychopharmacology*; PFC, prefrontal cortex; PNAS, *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*; vHipp, ventral subiculum of the hippocampus.

related behaviors (Britt et al., 2012) and potentiation of the circuit has been shown to be necessary for reinstatement to cocaine-seeking (Pascoli et al., 2014).

The BLA is a limbic region thought to be necessary for attributing emotional value to cues, thus having an integral role in processing affective (emotional) states (Phelps and LeDoux, 2005). In terms of addiction, the amygdala is thought to be important for cue- and stress-induced reinstatement of drug-seeking behavior. However, lesion studies suggest the BLA is not critical for cocaine self-administration. Similar modulations of amygdala output occur during extinction of fear response and drug-seeking (Peters et al., 2009) and the BLA, along with the extended amygdala, is a likely neurobiological substrate underlying the comorbidity of addiction and anxiety disorders. The BLA therefore acts to integrate the positive or negative value of an environmental stimulus (natural reward, drug of abuse, stress).

The thalamus has been historically conceptualized as a sensorimotorcortical relay, and has received relatively little attention with regards to its capacity to modulate complex affective and cognitive behaviors (Vertes et al., 2015). Several groups of thalamic nuclei all send and receive information to and from other components of the limbic system, but the mThal are most well known for their ability to regulate reward-related behaviors. Of the mThal nuclei, the paraventricular nucleus (PV) and paratenial nucleus (PT) project most densely to the NAc (Berendse and Groenewegen, 1990). The PVT and PT receive information from a diverse host of reward-related structures (Li and Kirouac, 2012; Phillipson, 1988) including the PFC, vHipp, hypothalamus, bed nucleus of the stria

terminalis (BNST), and the VTA and other midbrain regions. Thus the mThal nuclei are anatomically positioned to provide essential coordination of learned druginduced behaviors. Indeed, lesion or inhibition of the PVT has been demonstrated to disrupt behaviors conditioned by drugs of abuse (Browning et al., 2014; Hamlin et al., 2008; James et al., 2010; Young and Deutch, 1998), including reinstatement of cocaine-seeking and expression of cocaine CPP.

Although excitatory drive on the NAc-VTA axis is the key final common pathway to addiction, other regions, such as the extended amygdala play a key role in distinct addiction-related behaviors (Koob et al., 1998). The extended amygdala is composed of several basal forebrain regions including the NAc shell, the BNST, and the central nucleus of the amygdala (CeA), all of which have similar morphology, immunoreactivity and connectivity. The extended amygdala is the aforementioned area implicated as a key mediator of stress-induced relapse (S Erb et al., 2001).

Other structures tertiary to the reward circuitry play a role in mediating addiction. For instance, the mesolimbic and nigrostriatal pathways are innervated by a wide variety of brain regions, whose inputs supply information concerning the environment and the animal's motivational and emotional states. One particular region, the hypothalamus, is a highly diverse brain region perhaps best known for its close association with the pituitary gland and the endocrine system. The lateral hypothalamus (LH) which is reciprocally connected to the NAc shell is a target for self-stimulation (Margules and Olds, 1962). Consistent with the critical role of the

LH in metabolic homeostasis and reward, drug valence can be modified by metabolic states (for review see Stice et al., 2012).

2. Rodent Models of Addiction-like Behaviors

Much of our knowledge of addiction and substance abuse comes from preclinical experiments, the vast majority of which are performed in mice or rats. The utility of rodent addiction models are exemplified as follows: there are many variations of rats and mice with strain-specific traits that are particularly useful for modeling aspects of addiction-related behaviors (e.g. high anxiety, alcoholpreferring) and rodents also engage in complex spontaneous and conditioned behaviors that are implicated in substance abuse. Furthermore, mice are highly amenable to genetic manipulation allowing for cell type and region specific manipulation of protein expression. The use of mice or rats also confers pragmatic advantages in that they are small and inexpensive, easy to house and maintain, and reproduce readily and rapidly.

2.1 Neurochemistry

Several quantitative neurochemical techniques are commonly employed to study the neurophysiological effects of abused substances. Microdialysis, in conjunction with liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry, allows for quantification of dopamine, other biogenic amines, and/or glutamate/GABA induced by a substance of abuse. Neurotransmitter collection often occurs while the animal is simultaneously performing passive or contingent addiction-related

behaviors. Additionally, biosensor technology is very similar to microdialysis, except the detection method is enzymatic and allows for more precise measurements over shorter intervals. Finally imaging techniques, including positron emission tomography and magnetic resonance imaging, are used in rodents, primates, and humans to examine how abused substances occupy receptors, induce neurotransmitter release, or alter brain region activation or connectivity.

2.2 Behavioral Models

Unlike most illnesses and some other psychiatric disorders, drug addiction is largely defined by its behavioral components. Effectively reproducing these behaviors in animals is essential to making clinically relevant scientific discoveries. For a complex psychiatric disorder, a comprehensive animal model is likely unattainable. Instead, animal models are designed as a means to examine one or more particular components of a human disorder. When discussing or creating an animal model, there are several types of validity to consider. The first concept, and arguably the most relevant one, is construct validity, which refers to how meaningfully, interpretably, and powerfully the conclusions drawn from the model can apply to the psychiatric condition (Edwards and Koob, 2012). Construct validity commonly refers to the similarity between the underlying biology of the animals and the patients. Alternatively, construct validity relates to the concept of functional equivalence, that a change in one variable (e.g. stress) should similarly affect the outcome (e.g. drug-seeking) in the model and the clinical population (Katz and

Higgins, 2003). For instance, reinstatement to cocaine-seeking in the rat is considered to have a high degree of construct validity relative to relapse since stimuli (e.g. stress, cocaine cues, and cocaine itself) that induce reinstatement are also known to trigger relapse. Additionally, similar biological underpinnings have been identified in humans and rodent models (e.g. deficits in PFC function).

The concept of functional equivalence is closely related to predictive validity, which more specifically refers to the ability to predict the clinical response to an intervention based on the response in the animal model. One should also consider face validity, which refers to how well the animal model resembles components of the psychiatric disorder. Lastly some have proposed considering population validity, an extension of face validity, which dictates that the rate of occurrence of a disease-related behavior should reflect epidemiological data (Schmidt, 2011). For example, only approximately 20% of cocaine users transition to clinical cocaine dependence (Lopez-Quintero et al., 2011), so a model where only 20% of animals engaged in addiction-like behavior (see (Deroche-Gamonet et al., 2004)) would be said to have a high degree of population validity. Arguably, this concept is important to ensure that pathological disease-related behavior is being modeled, as opposed to behavior within the normal adaptive range (Steimer, 2011).

Abused substances can be delivered in two ways, contingently (by the subject) or passively (by the experimenter). The distinction is important for two reasons: (1) pathological substance-seeking is a key component of addiction, whereas the prescribed use of medication does not constitute addiction and (2)

studies have demonstrated that experimenter-delivered and self-administered abused substances can induce profoundly different neurobiological and behavioral effects (for examples, see Markou et al., 1999; Wolf and Ferrario, 2010). However, not all effects of substances of abuse are dependent upon contingent administration thus both contingent and passive treatment regimens have been utilized to study each phase of addiction pathology.

2.3 Etiology of Addiction-like Behavior

Clinical substance dependence is diagnosed when at least 3-of-7 criteria from the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM) criteria have been met within one year. These criteria include tolerance, withdrawal, escalation, persistence, excessive motivation to obtain the substance, giving up other activities, and perseverance despite self-harm. Considering these criteria is important when discussing an animal model of addiction since, as mentioned, behavioral animal models are designed to mimic only a particular facet of the disorder. Animal models of addiction typically replicate aspects of fewer than three of the DSM criteria, and typically measure only one property of drug action.

2.3.1 Stages of Addiction

The binge/intoxication phase of addiction is studied by examining the initial effects of substance administration to naïve animals. Acute and short subchronic (< 7 days) treatments with abused substances have been shown to transiently or semi-permanently perturb normal physiology and behavior. Additionally, in

contingent administration paradigms, animals tend to escalate their substance intake similarly to humans at the onset of the disorder. Negative affect/withdrawal is modeled by continuing the administration of vehicle in lieu of the abused substance (i.e. extinction) or, in some cases, by completely removing access. Like in patients, drug-seeking behavior in animals often intensifies during the first drugfree session – this phenomenon is referred to as the "extinction burst". The dwindling of drug-seeking during the extinction phase is not due to a loss, or forgetting, of previous drug-related memories, but instead is an active learning process (McNally, 2013). Acceleration or enhancement of this extinction learning is considered to be a potential avenue for improving clinical outcomes. Reinstatement is a phase of administration in animal models that occurs after an extinction phase. In animals that have undergone extinction (i.e. those that no longer engage in drug-seeking), drug-seeking behavior can be elicited by several manipulations relevant to the preoccupation/relapse phase of addiction. These reinstatement treatments include: a stressor, a small "priming" drug dose, and a cue or context previously paired with substance delivery. All three methods are commonly used in efforts to better understand the etiology of relapse.

2.3.2 Reinforcement

Reinforcement is the ability of a stimulus to modify a measureable dimension of instrumental behavior, typically rate, duration, magnitude, or latency. Positive reinforcement occurs when a behavior results in the presentation of an absent stimulus (e.g. receiving a foot massage), whereas negative reinforcement

occurs when a behavior results in the removal of a present stimulus (e.g. scratching an itch). Positive and negative reinforcement are not mutually exclusive properties; this is perhaps best evidenced by the development of addiction where behavior is initially driven by intoxication and is eventually driven by alleviation of withdrawal. The most flexible and robust model of a substance's reinforcing properties is self-administration.

In the self-administration paradigm, animals are trained in a specific environment such that an instrumental response (e.g. lever-press or hole-poke) results in substance delivery. Food, drink, or alcohol are typically delivered by a hopper or retractable lever, whereas for drugs of abuse, animals are implanted with an intravenous catheter used for systemic drug infusion. A variety of manipulations of the required behavior can be made to gain insight into specific aspects of addiction. For example a progressive ratio schedule has been used to examine motivation, addition of coincidental punishment can be used to study persistence, responding in the absence of drug is used to measure compulsive drug-seeking, and the reinstatement of extinguished responding is a model of relapse (Katz and Higgins, 2003). Additionally some researchers have correlated specific behavioral traits (e.g. persistent or compulsive responding) with changes in receptor expression (Kasanetz et al., 2012), neuron excitability (Chen et al., 2013), and synaptic plasticity (Kasanetz et al., 2010). Patterns of intake during acquisition of cocaine self-administration are also strong predictors of developed behaviors (Belin et al., 2009). The versatility of the paradigm, in tandem with its

validity, perpetuates the view that self-administration is the "gold standard" of behavioral addiction research.

2.3.3 Reward

Models of reward specifically capture information related to the hedonic valence of the drug or stimulus, whether positive or negative. That is, these models can readily detect aversive properties of a stimulus since reward and aversion exist on one spectrum. The most substantial distinction between models of reward and reinforcement is that models of reward typically involve the passive, experimenterdelivered administration of a stimulus and therefore do not address motivation. Intracranial self-stimulation (ICSS) can be used to study reward by pretreating an animal with a drug prior to a training session: drugs of abuse act synergistically with deep-brain electrical stimulation to facilitate instrumental behavior in the ICSS paradigm (Wise, 1996). It is worth noting that, through the advent of optogenetics, stimulation of distinct, specific neuronal pathways has been demonstrated to be sufficient to reinforce (Britt et al., 2012; Kravitz et al., 2012; Lammel et al., 2012; Lobo et al., 2010; Stuber et al., 2011) or punish (Kravitz et al., 2012; Lammel et al., 2012; Stamatakis and Stuber, 2012a) instrumental behavior and such preparations are an ongoing area of research.



Figure 6. Assessment of reward learning with place conditioning. Mice, other rodents, and primates, can learn to associate the rewarding (or aversive) properties of a stimuli with a particular environment. The assay takes advantage of classical Pavlovian conditioning whereby the unconditioned stimulus (US) whose properties are to be tested (e.g. cocaine) is paired with an otherwise innocuous conditioned stimulus (CS) (e.g. green room). For a place conditioning association to be formed, the stimuli must have inherent emotional valence and not disrupt learning and memory.

Perhaps the most commonly used paradigm to study reward is place conditioning, often referred to as conditioned place preference (CPP) (for reviews, see Tzschentke, 2007, 1998). CPP takes advantage of Pavlovian conditioning in an apparatus with at least two contextually distinct compartments (Figure 6). Animals are conditioned during several training sessions such that a paired association is formed between the stimulus of interest (unconditioned stimulus, US) and a particular chamber in the apparatus (conditioned stimulus, CS). After the completion of the training sessions, the animal is given unrestricted access to all chambers of the apparatus and the preference or avoidance of the conditioned side is taken as a measure of reward or aversion. CPP has been used to study not just drugs of abuse, but also the rewarding properties of palatable food and drink, novel objects, voluntary exercise, social interaction, copulation, and direct neuronal stimulation. On the other hand, place conditioning can been used to study the aversive properties of acute drug treatment, drug withdrawal, and painful stimuli. Like the self-administration paradigm, CPP can be used to study abstinence and relapse by observing extinction learning and reinstatement induced by cues, stress, or drug priming. One important caveat to CPP is that the expression of a place preference necessitates the learned formation of a paired US-CS association, and the effects of amnestic drugs must be interpreted carefully (Bardo and Bevins, 2000).

Certain anticipatory behaviors have also been used as a measure of the rewarding properties of drugs and natural rewards. Measuring these behaviors requires conditioning an animal such that the conditions of drug delivery or food presentation are held constant and occur at the same manner each time. Like Pavlov's iconic salivating dogs, rodents will engage in specific behaviors in the time period immediately before and after reward delivery. These behaviors, including such quantifiable events as digging and rearing (Labouèbe et al., 2013) and bouts of high-frequency ultrasonic vocalizations (USVs) (Browning et al., 2011; Wright et al., 2012), are often measured during performance of another task, especially self-administration or CPP. Analogous behaviors can also be used to study the aversive properties of drugs (Burgdorf et al., 2001) or drug withdrawal (Covington and Miczek, 2003).

Novelty-seeking and sensation-seeking are personality traits that have been associated with a propensity to use drugs of abuse. There are a few reports of modeling these traits in rodents. For example, rats that strongly prefer environmental novelty are more likely to develop addiction-like cocaine selfadministration (Belin et al., 2011). A newly developed rodent model is Operant Sensation Seeking (OSS), in which an animal actively responds for the presentation of dynamic sensory stimuli. OSS performance appears to be dependent on similar molecular substrates as psychostimulant self-administration (Olsen and Winder, 2009; Olsen et al., 2010).

2.3.4 Interoceptive State and Drug Action

The drug discrimination assay is used to model the subjective effects of a drug, also referred to as the interoceptive state. In a human drug user or test subject, the interoceptive state does not necessarily carry emotional valence (as in feeling 'good', 'bad', or 'high'), as drugs that are neither rewarding nor aversive can still be detected. There are many different ways to implement a drug discrimination experiment, but two-choice operant paradigms are most commonly used. An animal is trained in a two-choice box where one choice (e.g. left lever press) results in food delivery on days when the animal has been administered drug, while the other choice (e.g. right lever press) is reinforced when the animal has been treated with vehicle. This paradigm is very sensitive and relatively specific for particular pharmacological mechanisms. Substitution studies and antagonism studies have been used to gain insight into the abuse liability and

mechanism of action of psychoactive drugs. Additionally it should be noted that a drug need not have rewarding or locomotive properties to be used as a training or probe drug in drug discrimination; animals have been successfully trained on rewarding (cocaine, morphine), aversive (atropine, naloxone), and neutral (buspirone, clozapine, desipramine) agents (Young, 2009).

Changes in locomotor activity (i.e. either hyperactivity or sedation) are a commonly used measure of drug action as the NAc plays a role in regulating locomotor output. These data must be interpreted carefully since high doses of particular drugs, especially psychostimulants, produce repetitive stereotypical behaviors that interfere with locomotion. In some cases these stereotypies can be very informative, as some have been linked to a specific molecular mechanism of action (e.g. yawning/D3 receptor, head-bobbing/5-HT_{2A} receptor). One important applied paradigm of locomotor activity is sensitization. Like in human addicts (Sax and Strakowski, 2001), rodents will become more sensitive to particular properties of certain drugs during the initial exposure period. For example locomotion and grooming behavior will continue to increase over the first several injects in a chronic stimulant period. This is believed to be related to the dose escalation that is observed in the initial stages of addiction.

2.3.5 Cognition

A wide range of deficits in cognition have been observed in addicted patients. Although there are several potential explanations, current evidence suggests that drug abuse may cause certain cognitive deficits, and conversely
certain cognitive deficits may cause a predisposition to abuse drugs and/or become addicted to them. The brain structure most commonly associated with these particular cognitive deficits is the PFC, and altered cortical function has been observed in both human drug abusers as well as chronically-treated animals. The major cognitive deficits generally associated with addiction are related to attention and problem solving. Although most clinical studies have been correlational, it is generally thought that various cognitive traits confer vulnerability to addiction and that substance abuse itself can alter certain aspects of cognition.

One such aspect is impulsivity, a personality trait that is characterized by the tendency to make quick, rash decisions as well as an inability to cease inappropriate behavior. Impulsivity can be broadly split into two major components: quick and/or rash decision-making (impulsive choice) and disinhibition of motor responses (impulsive action) (Jupp et al., 2013). Impulsive choice is modeled in animals primarily via delay discounting, a paradigm that measures the preference for small, immediate rewards vs. large, delayed rewards. On the other hand, impulsive action is modeled in several paradigms, one of which is the Go/No-Go task, where the animal must cease responding when a tone is presented during interspersed "no-go" trials (Rodriguez and Wetsel, 2006).

Another cognitive domain believed to be involved in addiction is executive function. Executive function refers to a group of "higher order" tasks including problem solving and cognitive flexibility, and is thought to be mediated in large part by the PFC. One commonly-used clinical assay to detect deficits in executive function is the Wisconsin Cord Sort Task, while such deficits are assessed in

animals in reversal learning paradigms and in the attentional set-shift task (Dias et al., 1996). PFC-mediated "top-down" control of subcortical structures is thought to suppress drug-seeking behavior following extinction training (Peters et al., 2009).

2.3.6 Anxiety and Anhedonia

Like cognition, a complex bidirectional relationship exists between addiction and stress/anxiety. At disease onset, drugs can be sought as a means of relieving stress. Eventually drug withdrawal becomes a stressful experience, and, in rehabilitated individuals, stress can trigger relapse to drug seeking behavior. While many anxiety models exist, the canonical model of anxiety in rodents is the elevated plus maze, an arena that consists of one open, vulnerable arm and one closed, sheltered arm. When placed in an elevated maze, rodents exhibit an approach-avoidance conflict between attraction to novel environments and aversion to heightened and/or open spaces. The proportion of time spent in the closed arms, taken as a measure of anxiety, is reliably increased and decreased by anxiogenic and anxiolytic manipulations, respectively (Rodriguez and Wetsel, 2006).

Major Depressive Disorder, and its anhedonic symptoms in particular, is often comorbid with substance use disorders. Anhedonia is an inability to enjoy pleasurable activities, and often occurs during acute or protracted withdrawal from drugs of abuse. Some of the addiction-related animal models, like ICSS and CPP, have even been used to model anhedonia (Lim et al., 2012). Additionally, sucrose preference is often used to study anhedonia in rodents. Animals are given equal

access to standard drinking water and an otherwise identical solution sweetened with sucrose or saccharin. Stressful conditions and drug withdrawal can decrease the preference for sucrose, and chronic antidepressant treatment can reverse that effect (Der-Avakian and Markou, 2010; Strekalova et al., 2011).

3. Molecular Mediators of Addiction Pathology

Addiction is conceptualized as a learning disorder, whereby drugs of abuse hijack the same glutamate-dependent cellular mechanisms that enable learning and memory. Synaptic plasticity is a collective term for when patterns of neural activity alter the strength of the connection between two neurons. Synaptic plasticity occurs at both excitatory and inhibitory synapses and may be mediated by altering the number of synapses, quantal size, probability of neurotransmitter release, or the functional/expression of neurotransmitter receptors. Long term changes in synaptic strength and connectivity are also mediated by structural changes in form and function, including changes in the expression of receptors and channels, the localization of cytoskeletal and scaffolding proteins, and the activation state of kinases, phosphatases, and transcription factors (Russo et al., 2010).

3.1 Structural and Regulatory Proteins

Structural proteins are critical for the development, maintenance and plasticity of excitatory synapses. As exposure to drugs of abuse leads to remodeling of excitatory synapses, it is not surprising that synaptic scaffolding

proteins are important proteins implicated in drug-related behaviors. To date, postsynaptic structural proteins including (but not limited to) postsynaptic density 95 (Yao et al., 2004), Kalirin (Wang et al., 2013), activity-regulated cytoskeletonassociated protein (A. L. Brown et al., 2011), A-kinase anchor protein (Reissner et al., 2011), integrins (Wiggins et al., 2011), spinophilin and neurabin (Allen et al., 2006), and Homers (Szumlinski et al., 2006) have been implicated in drug related behaviors. For the most part, with the exception of Homers discussed below, these structural proteins act to form and maintain synapses and also stabilize the expression and function of glutamate receptors.

One of the most thoroughly studied scaffolding proteins in regards to addiction-related phenomena are the Homer proteins. Homers are scaffolding proteins that regulate cell signaling by regulating Group 1 metabotropic glutamate receptor (mGluR) trafficking and extracellular glutamate concentrations (Szumlinski et al., 2008). Homers are also involved in dendritic spine enlargement and postsynaptic density maturation. Evidence has pointed towards Homer proteins as being crucial for the long-lasting synaptic and behavioral plasticity following drug administration. For example, genetic deletion and viral-mediated rescue demonstrated that Homer2 is essential for the neuroplastic effects and rewarding properties of alcohol (Szumlinski et al., 2005). By contrast, deletion of either Homer1 or Homer2, has been shown to sensitize mice to neurochemical and behavioral changes induced by cocaine (Szumlinski et al., 2004).

Many drugs of abuse directly bind or functionally interact with the ERassociated intracellular chaperone known as the σ 1 receptor (Maurice and Su,

2009). The σ 1 receptor is thought to co-localize with inositol triphosphate receptors and modulate intracellular calcium release. σ 1 activity also regulates transporters and ligand- and voltage-gated ion channels and has been implicated in the reinforcing and addictive properties of psychostimulants (Katz et al., 2011).

3.2 Kinases

One of the most pronounced signaling pathways in addiction includes elements of the adenylate cyclase, cAMP, and protein kinase A (PKA) signaling pathway. PKA is thought to be activated by D1R signaling in response to drug exposure. Among other events, this leads to phosphorylation of AMPARs and convergence with the protein kinase C pathway onto the extracellular-related kinase (ERK) pathway. Activation of this pathway has been reported following acute and repeated treatment with cocaine, amphetamine, THC, nicotine, and morphine in the VTA, NAc, extended amygdala, and PFC (Zhai et al., 2008). Additionally, the ERK pathway is suggested to be dependent on the phosphatase inhibitor dopamine- and cAMP-regulated phosphoprotein-32 (Gerfen et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2006). Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (Cdk5), another key component in the pathway, is also implicated in addiction-related behaviors since chronic cocaine exposure has been shown to increase Cdk5 levels in the striatum (Bibb et al., 2001). This pathway plays a variety of diverse roles in different brain regions and disease stages. In the NAc for example, the ERK pathway mediates some of the initial effects of cocaine (Pascoli et al., 2012), while in the central amygdala it plays a role in the incubation of cocaine craving (Lu et al., 2005). ERK activation

has been shown to interact with the epigenetic machinery, including the expression of immediate early genes and transcription factors.

3.3 Transcription Factors

A variety of epigenetic mechanisms are thought to contribute to the persistent plastic changes related to addiction. Histone modification, DNA methylation, and the production of non-coding RNA and transcription factors have all been implicated in the pathophysiology of substance abuse (Robison and Nestler, 2011). The two transcription factors most extensively studied with respect to addiction are Δ FosB (Chen et al., 1995; Grueter et al., 2013; Hiroi et al., 1998, 1997; Lobo et al., 2013) and cAMP response element binding protein (CREB) (T. E. Brown et al., 2011; Dong et al., 2006; Huang et al., 2008; Konradi et al., 1996, 1994). These transcription factors are upregulated following exposure to drugs of abuse and likely lead to upregulation of mRNA of Cdk5 (Bibb et al., 2001). Overexpression of either Δ FosB (Kelz et al., 1999) or CREB (Larson et al., 2011) within the striatum has been shown to potentiate the behavioral effects of cocaine, likely through similar mechanisms of gene expression regulation (McClung and Nestler, 2003). Interestingly, a recent study has demonstrated that selective overexpression of Δ FosB within D1R-, but not D2R-, expressing neurons in the NAc potentiates behavioral responses to cocaine (Grueter et al., 2013). Others have shown that Δ FosB is necessary and sufficient for the cocaine-mediated synaptic remodeling and CaMKII induction in D1-expressing neurons (Robison et

al., 2013). Taken together these data highlight the need for the continued need for cell-type specific experimental designs in future research efforts.

3.4 Cell Surface Receptors and Transporters

In addition to signaling through ligand-gated ion channels, glutamate also sends modulatory signals through mGluRs. While activation of Group II mGluRs has been shown to attenuate reinstatement of seeking of cocaine (Baptista et al., 2004) and heroin (Bossert et al., 2005), the G_q -coupled Group 1 mGluRs have been the most thoroughly studied with respect to drug abuse, particularly mGlu5 (Grueter BA et al., 2008). Experiments utilizing selective negative allosteric modulators or knockout mice have implicated mGlu₅ in the rewarding, reinforcing, and motivational properties of several classes of abused substances (Amato et al., 2013; Bird and Lawrence, 2009; Grueter et al., 2007) and also dynamic sensory stimuli (Olsen et al., 2010). Furthermore, acute cocaine exposure has been shown to lead to intracellular sequestration of mGlu5 via a Homer-dependent manner (Szumlinski et al., 2006), while chronic cocaine administration has been shown to upregulate mGlu₅ in both the NAc (Ghasemzadeh et al., 1999) and hippocampus (Freeman et al., 2001). In some brain regions, activation of Group 1 mGluRs has also been linked to the production of endocannabinoids (eCBs).

In addition to playing a well-known role in stress and anxiety (Ramikie and Patel, 2012), the eCB system has been implicated in addiction-related processes and behaviors (Tanda, 2007). In fact, drugs of abuse and natural rewards are known to alter brain eCB content (Solinas et al., 2007). Endocannabinoids

attenuate neurotransmitter release through at least two targets, the G_{ilo}-coupled cannabinoid 1 receptor (CB1R) and the transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 (TRPV1). In addition to being activated by tetrahydrocannabinol (THC), the psychoactive ingredient in marijuana, antagonism or genetic deletion of CB1R has been shown to suppress reinstatement of several class of drugs (Serrano and Parsons, 2011). Additionally, CB1R activity is required for reinstatement of sucrose (Vries et al., 2005) and corn oil (Ward et al., 2007) self-administration, suggesting that CB1R mediates a non-selective motivational component of conditioned reinforcement. Much less is known about TRPV1 and reward processes, but studies utilizing TRPV1 knockout mice suggest that the channel plays a role in the behavioral effects of ethanol (Blednov and Harris, 2009) and cocaine (Grueter et al., 2010).

In clinical populations few targets have been studied as much as the plasma membrane dopamine transporter (DAT) and dopamine receptors. PET studies have revealed decreased availability of DAT and D2-like receptors in patients who abuse several classes of drugs (Volkow et al., 2009) as well as in patients with obesity (Wang et al., 2001). It should be noted that the majority of these studies were performed using a radiotracer ([¹¹C]-raclopride) with high affinity for both D2 and D3 subtype receptors. D3R is structurally and functionally homologous to D2R, but is more strictly localized to the mesolimbic circuit, specifically the NAc shell and the islands of Calleja (Gangarossa et al., 2013). In contrast to the reports using labeled raclopride, one recent PET study that used a D3R-preferring ligand observed upregulation of D3Rs in methamphetamine abusers (Boileau et al.,

2012). Additionally, evidence from several preclinical models implicate D3R activation in the behavioral effects of psychostimulants (Newman et al., 2012). In rodent models, dopamine receptor antagonists decrease the reinforcing effects of cocaine when administered peripherally (Caine and Koob, 1994; Everitt and Wolf, 2002). Restricted drug infusions have elaborated that the NAc is at least one essential region for D1-like and D2-like antagonists to attenuate cocaine reinforcement (Bari and Pierce, 2005; Caine et al., 1995). Finally, in addition to dopamine receptors and plasma membrane affecting its transporter. psychostimulant abuse may perturb the packaging of dopamine into synaptic vesicles. Studies have linked both cocaine (Narendran et al., 2012) and methamphetamine (Johanson et al., 2006) abuse with decreased vesicular monoamine transporter availability in the striatum.

CHAPTER II

SYNAPTIC PLASTICITY AND ADDICTION

1. Ionotropic Glutamate Receptors

The common thread that links the neuromodulatory systems discussed in Chapter I is that their signaling pathways converge on the function of ionotropic glutamate receptors (iGluRs). iGluRs provide the vast majority of fast excitatory neurotransmission in the CNS, and are therefore the predominant targets of processes that govern learning and memory. iGluRs were originally dichotomized based on whether they are activated by the glutamate analog N-methyl-Daspartate (NMDA). Over the past several decades, major structural and functional differences between NMDA-subtype glutamate receptors (NMDARs) and non-NMDARs have been demonstrated to confer a host of profound differences in their biology (Paoletti and Neyton, 2007). One defining feature is that the channel pore of most NMDARs is blocked by Mg²⁺ ions at resting membrane potentials, so the receptor remains closed even in the presence of endogenous ligands. Depolarization of the cell membrane causes a conformational shift that relieves the magnesium block and confers responsiveness to glutamate. For this reason, NMDARs have been referred to as molecular coincidence detectors that only open in the presence of two agonists as well as coincidental strong neuronal activity.

NMDARs are composed of two obligatory d-serine/glycine-binding GluN1 subunits and two glutamate-binding GluN2A-D subunits (Paoletti et al., 2013). The milieu of synaptic NMDAR subtypes can strongly influence the induction of

synaptic plasticity. While d-serine/glycine presence is required for NMDAR activation and several Grin1 splicing variants are common, variation in expression of the GluN2 subunit is thought to convey most of the functional diversity observed in native NMDARs. GluN2A and GluN2B are the most abundantly expressed GluN2 subunits in the CNS (Paoletti and Neyton, 2007), and assemble as both homodimers (i.e. GluN1-GluN1-GluN2A-GluN2A and GluN1-GluN1-GluN2B-GluN2B) and heterotrimers (GluN1-GluN1-GluN2A-GluN2B). GluN2B-expressing NMDARs are also enriched at silent synapses (Lee and Dong, 2011), which are essential components of CNS development and have an increasingly-appreciated role in learning and memory in adults. In addition to subunit-specific protein-protein interactions (Robison et al., 2005; Sanz-Clemente et al., 2013), GluN2B-containing NMDARs exhibit prolonged decay kinetics and therefore flux more calcium per channel opening event (Paoletti et al., 2013; Traynelis et al., 2010). Although less abundantly expressed, NMDARs containing GluN2C and GluN2D display even longer decay kinetics than those expressing GluN2B or GluN2A (Vicini et al., 1998). Additionally, GluN2C- and GluN2D-containing NMDARs pass relatively more current at hyperpolarized potentials, and may even open at resting membrane potentials (Schwartz et al., 2012; Seif et al., 2013).

Aside from NMDARs, the major iGluR class involved in excitatory postsynaptic signaling complexes is the AMPA-subtype receptor (AMPAR), glutamate-gated ion channels that flux sodium and other potassium resulting in depolarization of the synaptic membrane. AMPARs are considered to be the "workhorse" of the excitatory synapse responsible for basal transmission. AMPAR-

dependent depolarization of the neuron can lead to action potential firing and thus propagation of the electrochemical signal through the circuit. Sufficient AMPARmediated depolarization can relieve the magnesium block of NMDARs; therefore NMDARs open following strong and/or coincidental synaptic activation. Unlike most AMPARs, NMDARs play a key role in synaptic plasticity due to the fact that they are permeable to calcium. Calcium flux through NMDARs results in the activation of calcium-dependent signaling cascades that can lead to transient or long-lasting changes in synaptic strength (Shonesy et al., 2014) (Figure 7). Metabotropic interactions between NMDARs and plasticity-related signaling partners (e.g. Src) have also been identified.



Figure 7. Simplified schematic of excitatory synapse in NAc. Glutamate is released from terminals after which it binds N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDARs) and *a-amino-3-hydroxy-5*methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors (AMPARs). At resting membrane potentials, NMDARs are gated by Mg²⁺. However, following strong and/or coincidental synaptic activity, depolarization relieves the Mg²⁺ block, permitting NMDAR activation and subsequent Ca2+ influx. Elevations of synaptic Ca²⁺ can then precipitate a variety of signaling cascades, some of which alter the function of AMPARs. NMDAR-mediated strengthening and weakening of AMPAR surface dendritic expression (i.e, long-term potentiation, LTP, and long-term depression, LTD) are two major molecular mechanisms underlying learning and memory.

Persistent increases or decreases in synaptic strength can be classified as either long-term potentiation (LTP) or long-term depression (LTD), respectively (Malenka and Bear, 2004). A wide variety of studies have demonstrated that substances of abuse dynamically modulate synaptic transmission within several brain regions, including the VTA and NAc (Lüscher and Malenka, 2011), supporting the concept that synaptic plasticity is a key molecular constituent of experience-dependent behavioral plasticity.

2. Plasticity in the VTA

VTA neurons integrate reward and aversion related information from distinct excitatory inputs (Lammel et al., 2012). Since the first account of drug-induced synaptic plasticity (Ungless et al., 2001), which demonstrated that a single dose of cocaine could precipitate LTP-like changes at VTA dopaminergic neurons, many iterations of the phenomena have been uncovered (Lüscher and Malenka, 2011). Similar results have since been obtained following administration of other drugs of abuse including amphetamine, morphine, nicotine, and ethanol (Saal et al., 2003). Importantly, such changes in VTA synaptic transmission were not observed following similar treatment with non-addictive, psychoactive drugs such as the antidepressant fluoxetine (Saal et al., 2003). Additionally, LTP of GABAergic synapses (i-LTP) has been observed at NAc-VTA synapses following cocaine exposure (Bocklisch et al., 2013).

3. Plasticity in the NAc

3.1 First Accounts

In the NAc changes in excitatory synaptic strength have proven to be more complex. Increasing evidence advocates that dynamic changes in synaptic

function occur in a synapse-specific and experience-dependent manner (Grueter et al., 2012). The foundation for current research lies in seminal studies that suggest synaptic strength at excitatory synapses onto NAc shell MSNs decreases following re-exposure to cocaine (Thomas et al., 2001). This first report did not detect any changes in excitatory synaptic strength in the NAc core. Two primary findings suggested that cocaine sensitization decreased synaptic strength in the NAc shell. For one, the authors reported diminished induction of NMDARdependent LTD (3 bouts of 3 min, 5 Hz stimulation). The authors also determined that the amplitude of asynchronous EPSCs (asEPSCs) elicited in strontiumreplaced artificial cerebrospinal fluid (aCSF) was decreased following cocaine sensitization. Interestingly, the amplitude of miniature EPSCs (mEPSCs) was unaffected, and the authors concluded that - given the placement of the stimulating electrode – asEPSCs primarily reflected PFC-NAc shell quantal size. Taken together these data suggest that a sensitized cocaine challenge decreases the function of AMPARs at PFC-NAc shell synapses.

Of note, these early experiments were all performed in the context of a cocaine challenge injection (5 x sal + coc challenge vs. 5 x coc + coc challenge). Later research would reveal that the state of cocaine exposure dynamically modulates synaptic strength in the NAc. Kourrich et al. elaborated on the initial findings and revealed that excitatory signaling in the NAc shell is potentiated following extended withdrawal, and then subsequently depressed following drug re-exposure. A single injection of cocaine (while exerting a pronounced effect on mGlu₅ function (Fourgeaud et al., 2004; Grueter et al., 2010), was demonstrated

to minimally affect iGluR function in the NAc shell. Other groups have since corroborated these findings via biochemistry (Boudreau and Wolf, 2005; Boudreau et al., 2007; Ghasemzadeh et al., 2003; Robison et al., 2013). A variety of salient stimuli, including stressors, novelty, amphetamine, and other experiences linked to relapse, have also been demonstrated to generate changes in NAc synaptic physiology similar to those induced by cocaine (Jedynak et al., 2015; Rothwell et al., 2011a, 2011b)

Demonstrating a causal relationship between abnormal behavior and altered synaptic plasticity has been a persistent challenge in the field of behavioral neuroscience. In 2005, Brebner et al. became the first to publish a test a causal relationship between AMPAR surface expression and locomotor sensitization. The authors first characterized a putative NMDAR-dependent LTD protocol (8 min, 1Hz, paired with depolarization). By using dominant negative dynamin and GluA2 peptides, the authors characterized this LTD as proceeding through clathrindependent AMPAR endocytosis. Then, when delivered systemically or locally into the NAc, the (Tat-fused) GluA2 peptide inhibited the expression of locomotor sensitization to amphetamine. Peptide infusion into the VTA exerted no effect, emphasizing that excitatory synaptic plasticity in the NAc is paramount for longlasting behavioral effects of psychostimulants. Despite concerns over the GluA2 peptide specificity, these experiments were the first to suggest that NAc LTD is not only correlated with behavioral sensitization, but is in fact a necessary mechanistic component.

Although locomotor sensitization has been proposed to model certain facets of substance use disorders, it is inarguable that drug self-administration more closely recapitulates the human condition. One phenomenon that has been particularly well-studied is the incubation of cocaine craving (Caprioli et al., 2015; Conrad et al., 2008; Lee et al., 2013; Loweth et al., 2014; Lu et al., 2005; Ma et al., 2014). After rodents have been trained to self-administer cocaine, incubation refers to the enhancement of cue-induced drug-seeking observed following extended abstinence. The first link between incubation of cocaine craving and NAc AMPAR function was published by Conrad et al., 2008. Extended withdrawal from cocaine self-administration was associated with an increase in GluA1 and GluA3 expression in the NAc as assessed by Western Blot.

Assembly of AMPARs containing only GluA1 and GluA3 (sometimes called GluA2-lacking AMPARs) is of special interest due to their low basal expression in the MSNs, high channel conductance, and permeability to calcium. For the last reason, they are referred to as calcium-permeable AMPARs (CP-AMPARs). Conrad et al. functionally corroborated that abstinence from cocaine self-administration enhanced function of NAc CP-AMPARs by an increase in AMPAR inward rectification and sensitivity to 1-napthylacetylspermine (Naspm), a selective CP-AMPAR blocker. Furthermore, local infusion of Naspm into the NAc inhibited incubation of cocaine craving. Since this report, others have demonstrated that mGlu₁ activation in the NAc shell can internalize CP-AMPARs and similarly blunt cue-induced cocaine-seeking (Loweth et al., 2014). Also, individual differences in addiction-like self-administration have been linked to impairments in PFC-NAc

LTD (Kasanetz et al., 2010) and Layer V pyramidal neuron excitability (Chen et al., 2013).

3.2 Cell Type Specificity

Since the development of BAC transgenic reporter mouse lines, several groups have reported that cocaine-induced changes to NAc excitatory signaling are localized to D1 MSNs (Bock et al., 2013; Dobi et al., 2011; Pascoli et al., 2014, 2012), although changes to D2 MSNs have also been reported (Bock et al., 2013; MacAskill et al., 2014). Dobi et al. found that non-contingent cocaine administration potentiated glutamate synapses specifically on D1-expressing MSNs, and that withdrawal was not required for some of these observed synaptic effects. Of note, measured spine density in parallel to the authors corroborate the electrophysiological findings. Since then, two independent reports have used glutamate uncaging to demonstrated that cocaine exposure modulates AMPAR surface function specifically on D1-MSNs (Bock et al., 2013; Khibnik et al., 2015).

Maintenance of synaptic potentiation following cocaine exposure has been hypothesized to require long-lasting increases in the expression of transcription factors (Russo et al., 2010). The upregulation of many such factors has been reported to occur mainly on D1-MSNs following drug exposure (Lobo and Nestler, 2011). For example, cocaine administration has been demonstrated to increase the phosphorylation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase (p-ERK), mitogen- and stress-activated kinase-1 (p-MSK1), and histone H3 (p-H3) specifically in D1-MSNs (Bertran-Gonzalez et al., 2008). Induction of c-fos and zif268 was also

localized to D1-MSNs. Another transcription factor heavily implicated in NAcdependent synaptic and behavioral plasticities is Δ FosB (Hiroi et al., 1997; McClung and Nestler, 2003). Cocaine and other salient stimuli are well-known to induce Δ FosB expression in the NAc, and recent work has localized this induction specifically to D1-MSNs (Lobo et al., 2013). Consistently, overexpression of Δ FosB in NAc D1-MSNs recapitulates alterations in synaptic physiology induced by cocaine and enhances the acquisition of cocaine conditioned place preference (Grueter et al., 2013). Despite these advancements in isolating how distinct NAc neuron populations are affected by drug exposure, understanding the contributions of the various NAc glutamate afferents has only just begun.

3.3 Input Specificity

In addition to examining the cell type-specificity of these phenomena, several recent studies have demonstrated that cocaine-induced dysregulation of glutamatergic signaling occurs at specific afferents to the NAc and is necessary for relapse-related behaviors (Britt et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2013; Ma et al., 2014; Pascoli et al., 2014). While not targeting specific MSN types, Britt et al. analyzed the synaptic and behavioral profile of the PFC, BLA, and vHipp afferents to the NAc shell. The authors found that vHipp afferents were the densest of the three and accordingly elicited the largest EPSCs in the region. While exhibiting similar AMPAR function at baseline (AMPAR/NMDAR and asEPSC amplitude), vHipp synapses were uniquely potentiated following experimenter-delivered cocaine administration. Furthermore, activation and inhibition of vHipp-NAc terminals using

in vivo optogenetics was demonstrated to enhance and suppress the cocaineinduced hyperlocomotion. Finally, stimulation of each of any glutamate terminal in the NAc was found to be both rewarding and reinforcing by performance on a realtime place preference task and operant self-administration (in contrast to Stuber et al., who did not find the PFC-NAc pathway to be reinforcing).

Since Britt et al. published the first *ex vivo* physiology study to tease apart distinct NAc input functions, a flurry of reports has surfaced. In 2012, Pascoli et al. published that a single injection of cocaine potentiates NAc shell D1-MSN AMPAR function one week later, as assessed by mEPSC amplitude. The authors also reported occlusion of NMDAR- and ERK-dependent LTP – a notoriously difficult process to elicit in the NAc reported to occur only in young mice (Schramm et al., 2002). Nonetheless, the authors set out to depotentiate these synapses through the use of optogenetics. Indeed, they found that PFC-NAc shell synapses exhibited enhanced LFS-LTD (10 min, 1 Hz) following cocaine exposure. Finally, to test the causative relationship between the potentiated state of NAc shell synapses and cocaine-conditioned behaviors, they applied the PFC-NAc LFS *in vivo* and were able to block the expression of locomotor sensitization.

Further work from the Luscher lab aimed to examine excitatory signaling at the specific NAc shell inputs in the context of reinstatement to drug seeking. The authors found that D1-MSNs were selectively altered following cocaine selfadministration at inputs from the PFC and vHipp, but not BLA. PFC-D1(+) NAc shell synapses were characterized by enhanced expression of CP-AMPARs, while vHipp-D1(+) by increased EPSC size and AMPAR/NMDAR. The authors then

characterized 1 Hz and 13 Hz plasticity at each input, and found the protocols induced 4 qualitatively different of homosynaptic and heterosynaptic plasticities When applied *in vivo*, each stimulation differentially affected aspects of cueinduced cocaine-seeking behavior, with 13 Hz PFC stimulation abolishing all drug seeking. Of note, PFC-NAc shell LFS (10 min, 1 Hz) – as featured in the 2012 report – induced less LTD following cocaine exposure and did not affect drug-seeking, supposedly emphasizing differences between non-contingent and contingent drug-administration paradigms.

Despite these potential differences, a recent report out of Pascoli's lab (Terrier et al., 2015) confirmed that PFC-D1(+) NAc shell synapses display CP-AMPARs following self-administered cocaine, and extended those findings to a single experimenter-delivered injection of cocaine. While these findings corroborate one report from the Luscher lab (Mameli et al., 2009), they remain at odds with those from other groups (Kourrich et al., 2007; McCutcheon et al., 2011). Like the labs of Mark Thomas and Marina Wolf, I did not observe altered AMPAR rectification on NAc shell D1-MSNs following non-contingent cocaine exposure, after searching with PFC-specific, mThal-specific, and electrical stimulation (unpublished results, data not shown). Nonetheless, in addition to changes in CP-AMPAR assembly on D1-MSNs following any form of cocaine exposure, the authors noted that self-administration of an extremely high dose of cocaine (1.5 mg/kg/infusion) enhanced CP-AMPAR function on D2-MSNs. They continued by identifying the relevant source of glutamate as the BLA. The authors attributed this phenomenon as resultant from the aversive properties of such a high dose.

Consistently, AMPAR potentiation at PVT-D2(+) NAc shell synapses following morphine withdrawal has recently been reported (Zhu et al., 2016).

Adam Carter and his lab have taken a unique biophysical approach to understanding neurocircuit functions. In an initial account (MacAskill et al., 2012), his group discovered that while all NAc MSNs receive afferents from each region examined (PFC, mThal, vHipp), vHipp connections onto D2-MSNs were uniquely weak, as evidenced by minimal spike probability and diminished EPSC amplitudes relative to paired D1-MSNs. The weak connection of the vHipp-D2(+) circuit was then attributed to unique subcellular connections, in that vHipp inputs were connected to smaller spines located further away from the soma. While these experiments provide intriguing physical context for basal differences in excitatory NAc circuit function, the relevance for drug-related memory formation and behavior was not addressed.

In a follow-up study (MacAskill et al., 2014), the group examined how vHippand BLA-NAc shell circuit function is altered during short-term abstinence (3 days) from 5 days of cocaine exposure. The paradigm increased mEPSC frequency and spine density on D1 MSNs, suggesting a reorganization of excitatory connectivity during this transformative period. The authors then demonstrated that the cocaineinduced increase in spine density occurred specifically at BLA-D1(+) synapses, whereas vHipp-D1(+) synapses displayed decreases in spine volume. Finally, chemogenetic inhibition of the BLA during cocaine administration inhibited the BLA-NAc reorganization and the expression of behavioral sensitization, but did not affect changes to vHipp-NAc synaptic architecture. In contrast, inhibition of the

vHipp during cocaine administration maintained vHipp-NAc connectivity, but did not prevent BLA-NAc restructuring or the expression of locomotor sensitization. Taken together these experiments revealed several fascinating physical processes that ultimately underlie drug-induced learning and memory.

As a whole the body of work illustrates that long-term physiological and behavioral changes induced by cocaine exposure require LTP-like changes in the NAc, consistently including the functional upregulation of AMPARs. In fact, rapid LTD-like internalization of AMPARs may be required the for the retrieval of drugconditioned memory (Brebner et al., 2005). Many groups, but not all, have reported that cocaine experiences increase the expression of calcium-permeable, GluA2-lacking AMPARs in the NAc, especially (and specifically) following selfadministered cocaine (Boudreau and Wolf, 2005; Conrad et al., 2008; Lee et al., 2013; Ma et al., 2014; McCutcheon et al., 2011; Pascoli et al., 2014).

4. NMDAR Function

Most of the changes to excitatory synaptic strength or plasticity that occur have been proposed to require NMDAR activity during the cocaine experience (Cahill et al., 2014; MacAskill et al., 2014; Pascoli et al., 2012). However the data describing how cocaine may alter NMDAR function is less clear. Many studies of NAc iGluRs following cocaine exposure have failed to detect long-term changes in NMDAR function (Bock et al., 2013; Kourrich et al., 2007; Thomas et al., 2001), while other more recent efforts have not addressed the question (Britt et al., 2012; Dobi et al., 2011; Mameli et al., 2009; Pascoli et al., 2014, 2012). To the best of

our knowledge, long-term functional changes in NAc NMDAR activity following cocaine exposure have never been published, and reports employing biochemical techniques have yielded mixed results (Mao et al., 2009; Schumann and Yaka, 2009). However, recent work from the lab of Woody Hopf has shown that the GluN2C-containing NMDARs pass current at hyperpolarized potentials following compulsive-like alcohol consumption (Seif et al., 2013). Genetic deletion of *Grin2C* was shown to eliminate compulsive alcohol intake, and further work has shown that pharmacological inhibition of these receptors recapitulates those behavioral effects (Seif et al., 2015).

Prior to (and perhaps facilitating) the long-term synaptic changes that occur following extended withdrawal is the generation of GluN2B-containing silent synapses (T. E. Brown et al., 2011; Huang et al., 2009a; Koya et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2013; Ma et al., 2014). Silent synapses, defined by the absence of functional AMPARs, are thought to be a substrate for increasing neuronal connectivity and may be important for drug-induced behavioral changes. Silent synapses are abundant in the developing brain, but their expression wanes as the brain matures and is considered to be minimal in adulthood. The primary direct measurement of silent synapses is known as a minimal stimulation assay. For this assay, a threshold intensity is selected such that approximately half of the stimuli evoke measureable AMPAR-EPSCs (~50% failure rate). The cell is then depolarized so NMDAR components can be observed, and the fraction of stimuli resulting in an EPSC is also measured. Populations containing many silent synapses will

generate relatively few NMDAR component failures, and the proportion of silent synapses in a neuron population can be subsequently calculated.

In a landmark paper, Huang et al. discovered that non-contingent cocaine administration generated an increase in NAc shell silent synapse function during subsequent short-term abstinence. The phenomenon peaked (~30% silent synapses) 3 days following the last cocaine exposure and returned to normal levels (~10%) 5-7 days later. Results from the minimal stimulation assay were confirmed by a ratiometric assessment of the coefficient of variation of the NMDAR component (Malenka and Nicoll, 1997). Furthermore, the increase in silent synapses was associated with enhanced GluN2B expression and function as assessed by Western Blot and sensitivity to the antagonist Ro 25-6981. Furthermore Brown et al. found that infusion of Ro 25-6981 into the NAc prevented the development of locomotor sensitization to cocaine. While not addressing D1/A2A cell type-specificity, others have demonstrated that these silent synapses are generated only in "neuronal ensembles" that express Fos following cocaine administration (Koya et al., 2012).

More recent experiments from the lab of Yan Dong have examined synaptogenesis in the context of self-administered cocaine. Lee et al., 2013, found that immediately following cocaine self-administration, BLA-NAc shell synapses display an enhanced proportion of silent synapses. As these synapses waned over time, and incubation of cocaine craving developed over time, a coincident upregulation of CP-AMPARs was observed. The authors then characterized BLAspecific NMDAR-dependent LFS LTD (3 min, 5 Hz), that selectively internalized

CP-AMPARs. When applied *in vivo*, the LTD eliminated incubation of cocaine craving, consistent with a direct role for CP-AMPARs in promoting that behavior.

Another study from the lab examined inputs from the PFC. Infralimbic (IL) projections to the NAc shell and prelimbic (PL) projections to the NAc core have been hypothesized to exert opposing effects on reinstatement and other drug-related behaviors (Peters et al., 2009). Therefore Ma et al. examined these two circuits in parallel in the context of cocaine self-administration. The authors observed increases in silent synapses at both IL-NAc shell and PL-NAc core synapses during short term abstinence, however at extended withdrawal CP-AMPARs were only observed at IL-NAc shell. LFS (10 min, 1 Hz) induced NMDAR-and mGlu₁-dependent LTD of CP-AMPARs at IL-NAc shell synapses, and enhanced the expression of incubation of cocaine craving when applied *in vivo*. In contrast, LFS induced NMDAR-dependent, mGlu₁-indepenent LTD of AMPARs at PL-NAc core synapses and inhibited cue-induced lever pressing.

Because MSNs *in vivo* reach stably depolarized plateaus following coincidental activity of inputs (O'Donnell and Grace, 1995), NAc synaptic NMDARs have been suggested to be activated without localized co-expression of AMPARs (Lee and Dong, 2011). Increases in GluN2B expression are also notable due to their increased conductance (Gielen et al., 2009; Paoletti et al., 2013) as well as enhanced coupling with downstream effectors such as calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase II (Strack and Colbran, 1998; Strack et al., 2000). For these reasons, the transient upregulation of GluN2B-containng silent synapses has been proposed as a necessary mediator of long-term changes in NAc synaptic strength

following cocaine exposure (Lee and Dong, 2011). However, while the data provide more compelling evidence for the role of NAc AMPAR upregulation in the long-term behavioral effects of cocaine, the transient increase in silent synapses and GluN2B function remains largely coincidental. Aside from the NAc infusion of Ro 25-6981, none of these experiments have demonstrated the causal relationship between silent synapse function and the development of cocaine-conditioned behaviors. An alternative hypothesis, whereby GluN2B-containing NMDAR serve a feedback role to attenuating excessive drug-induced plasticity, remains equally plausible.

5. Summary

Addiction is clearly a complicated disease that recruits many neural circuits and intracellular signaling pathways. While this overview of addiction and current research strategies to study addiction-related phenomena has been broad, the complexities of the addicted brain are likely to depend on intricate temporal interactions between brain regions and signaling cascades. Nonetheless, it can be argued that addiction research has provided one of the most advanced understandings of experience-dependent plasticity, since models of addiction can be simplified as the effects of a substance (drugs of abuse) on a biological substrate (the brain). As such, addiction is one of the most powerful tools neuroscientists have to study learning and memory under controlled circumstances. As opposed to developmental or aging related diseases, exposure

to drugs of abuse is an inducible model under the temporal control of the experimenter.

The incorporation of cell type- and circuit-specific approaches to study neuroscience allow for rapid advancements in our understanding of addiction. Powerful tools including transgenic mice and optogenetics have revolutionized basic neuroscience research over the past decade (reviewed by Stamatakis and Stuber, 2012b). Optogenetic techniques have made it possible to dissect the function of different inputs to the VTA (Lammel et al., 2013, 2012) and NAc (Britt et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2013; Ma et al., 2014; Pascoli et al., 2014, 2012; Stuber et al., 2011) and in intact animals. These and similar approaches will continue to illuminate how synapses formed by these various inputs may be differentially modulated by drugs of abuse.

Prior to beginning my dissertation, few input-specific studies of excitatory synaptic physiology in the NAc had been reported in peer-reviewed journals. In three years, more than a dozen high-profile series of experiments have been published regarding NAc glutamatergic synaptic physiology (Britt et al., 2012; MacAskill et al., 2012) and pathophysiology in the context of alcohol (Seif et al., 2015, 2013) and cocaine (Creed et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2013; Ma et al., 2014; MacAskill et al., 2014; Pascoli et al., 2014, 2012; Stefanik et al., 2013; Suska et al., 2013; Terrier et al., 2015) abuse. Despite the rich interest in NAc synaptic physiology, these recent reports have by and large neglected to report on afferents from the mThal and how they may be modulated following drug exposure. Therefore we addressed this gap in knowledge with the aim of studying how

NMDAR function underlies cocaine-dependent alterations in NAc plasticity. We also generated and evaluated cell type-specific NMDAR genetic deletions to assess how striatal iGluR signaling contributes to reward-related behaviors. Our data support the leading hypotheses in the field, that NMDAR-dependent changes in D1 MSN function are requisite for long-term changes in physiology and behavior induced by cocaine exposure. However the work also provides the first characterization of mThal projections to the NAc and identifies GluN2C-containing NMDARs as novel mediators of cocaine-induced neuroplastic changes. By contrast A2A MSN NMDAR function may play a subtle role in reward-related behaviors, but was demonstrated to modulate behavioral despair. Together these data emphasize the divergent behavioral contributions of MSN cell types and identify the mThal-NAc pathway as potential target for ameliorating the persistent synaptic and behavioral changes brought about by cocaine.

CHAPTER III

METHODS AND MATERIALS

1. Mice

Bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC) adult (6-12 week) mice were used in all experiments and were housed together in groups of two-to-five per cage on a 12/12-hr light/dark cycle (lights on at 06:00), with food and water available ad *libitum*. Transgenic floxed GluN1 (*Grin1^{lox/lox}*) mice possess *loxP* sites flanking the transmembrane domain and C-terminal region (Tsien et al., 1996). Transgenic floxed Grin2B (Grin2B^{lox/lox}) mice were prepared as described (Brigman et al., 2010). Grin1^{lox/lox} and Grin2B^{lox/lox} mice were crossed with bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC) transgenic mice expressing Cre recombinase under the regulation of Drd1a (Gong et al., 2007; Nelson AB et al., 2012) and/or adenosine receptor subtype Adora2a (A2AR) promoters, and backcrossed to homozygosity of Grin1^{lox/lox} or Grin2B^{lox/lox}. We elected to use A2AR as a marker for "indirect pathway" MSNs because A2AR is more selective than D2R, which is expressed by some striatal interneurons and as an autoreceptor on midbrain dopaminergic neurons. Mice used for electrophysiology also expressed tdTomato under the control of the Drd1a promoter (Gong et al., 2003; Shuen et al., 2008). Mice have been backcrossed onto a C57BL/6J background for >10 generations.

The open field test and cocaine conditioned place preference were performed in the Vanderbilt Mouse Neurobehavioral Core, where only male mice

were utilized. All other procedures were performed in the Grueter laboratory space. For the EPM, NIH, TST, and FST, both male and female mice were used. Sexes were housed, tested, and analyzed separately. Results generated from males and females were not statistically different, therefore the data was pooled and subsequently analyzed together. All experiments were done in accordance with the policies set out by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees (IACUC) at Vanderbilt University and in accordance with the National Institutes of Health guide for the care and use of laboratory animals.

2. Stereotaxic Injections

At 4-5 weeks of age, some mice underwent stereotaxic surgery for viralmediated gene transfer of channelrhodopson-2-EYFP (ChR2). Mice were

anesthetized with a dexmetometidineketamine mixture (0.5-80 mg/kg, *i.p.*). Bilateral 250-400 nL injections of AAV5-CaMKII-ChR2-EYFP (UNC Viral Vector Core) were delivered into the target region through a pulled glass pipette at 100 nL/min. Injection site coordinates were as follows (relative to bregma): mThal [ML: \pm 0.3, AP: -1.2, DV: -3.0], PFC [ML: \pm 0.3, AP: -1.75, DV: -2.75], BLA [ML: \pm 3.1, AP: -1.25,



Figure 8. Representative AAV-ChR2-EYFP expression. (A) Coronal slice containing thalamus (thal) and hippocampus. (B) Robust EYFP expression is observed at the injection site. (C) Slice containing nucleus accumbens (NAc), dorsal striatum, and prefrontal cortex. (D) Expression of EYFP-labeled axon terminals is observed 4 weeks following viral-mediated gene transfer. AAV, adeno-associated virus; ChR2, channel-rhodopsin-2; EYFP, enhanced yellow fluorescent protein

DV: -4.75]. Atipamazole (1.0 mg/kg, *s.c.*) and ketoprofen (10 mg/kg, *s.c.*) were administered as a reversal agent and an analgesic. Mice were sacrificed for *ex vivo* electrophysiology 4-6 weeks following surgery to allow sufficient time for ChR2-EYFP expression in axon terminals within the NAc core and other regions innervated by the mThal (Figure 8, page 56).

3. Behavioral Procedures

3.1 Cocaine Conditioned Place Preference

3.1.1 *Grin1* Experiments

The place conditioning procedure was conducted in activity chambers identical to those used for the open field (ENV-510, Med Associates). Prior to the place conditioning pretest, mice were habituated to behavioral testing with a one-hour exposure to similar activity chambers. For place conditioning studies, a two-chambered insert with contextually distinct metal floors (ENV-3013-2, Med Associates, Figure 9) was placed in the activity chambers. All place conditioning sessions were 20 minutes in duration, and the amount of time spent in each zone



Figure 9. Apparatus used for GluN1^{-/-} conditioned place preference experiments. To minimize variability, cocaine was always paired with the side with bar floors (left) while saline was paired with the side with grid floors (right).

was recorded. Conditioning sessions were conducted twice daily, separated by 4 hours, and treatment order was counterbalanced across groups. All mice received vehicle injections (0.9% saline, 10 μ L/g, *i.p.*) prior to confinement in one compartment (mesh grid floor) and cocaine (20 mg/kg) immediately prior to confinement in the other compartment (parallel bar floor). Following the test of place preference expression, mice underwent extinction training. Subjects that did not express a place preference (<10%) were removed from the study. On days 1 and 3 of extinction, mice underwent saline conditioning sessions on both sides of the apparatus. One days 2 and 4 of extinction, standard test sessions occurred. Mice that did not adequately extinguish their place preference (>10%) on the second extinction test were removed prior to reinstatement. No difference in the proportion of mice removed from the study was observed across genotypes. To reinstate the place preference, mice received a lower priming dose of cocaine (10 mg/kg) immediately prior to the test session. Locomotor activity (distance traveled, stereotypic counts, vertical counts, and time at rest) was measured during all sessions.

3.1.2 Grin2B Experiments

These experiments were performed in the Grueter laboratory space in open field activity chambers (ENV-510, Med Associates). Overhead video recordings of mouse activity were analyzed with automated software (EthoVision XT, Noldus). The chamber was divided into two contextually distinct environments based on floor and wall (rough floor and vertical bar wall vs. smooth floor and checkerboard wall). Unlike the *Grin1* experiments, no innate preference for either side was consistently observed, therefore a predetermined design was not employed (i.e. cocaine was paired with the less-preferred side for each mouse). We assessed

sub-maximal cocaine CPP following one cocaine pairing, maximal cocaine CPP following 3 additional pairings, and maintenance of the reward-related memory at extended time points.

3.2 Open Field Assay

Mice were placed in an open field activity chamber (ENV-520, Med Associates) equipped with infrared beams and detectors for one hour, Each chamber was housed within a sound attenuating cabinet (ENV-022MD, Med Associates). A software interface (Activity Monitor, Med Associates) monitored the two-dimensional horizontal position of the mouse as well as beam breaks of a bar raised 4cm from the floor.

3.3 Elevated Plus Maze

The EPM was based on the model described by Lister (Lister, 1987). The EPM was comprised of two open and two closed arms (5 cm wide x 30 cm long) that meet in the center to form a plus. The floors were opaque and the walls were made of tinted black plastic. The arms of the EPM were elevated 40 cm above a platform. Animals were placed on an open platform facing the center and remained in the maze for 5 min. Visual recordings of mouse movement were obtained with an overhead video camera. Mouse location and movement were assessed in real time with automated software (EthoVision XT, Noldus). Subsequent analyses determined the duration of time the center-point of each mouse was in the open arms, closed arms, or center.

3.4 Novelty-induced Hypophagia

The NIH assay was based on a previously published procedure (Louderback et al., 2013). Briefly, mice were conditioned for 4 days to have limited (30 minutes) access to a tasty beverage (Ensure, home-made vanilla shake flavor) in their home cages while group housed. On the testing day, each mouse was transferred to an individual open field activity chamber and given access to Ensure for 30 minutes. The latency to drink and amount consumed throughout the session were measured.

3.5 Tail Suspension and Forced Swim Tests

The TST and FST were based on a previously published procedure (Lim et al., 2012). For the TST each mouse was suspended 20 cm above a surface with tape placed 1-2 cm from the base of the tail. For the FST, mice were placed in 2-L beakers half-filled with room temperature water that was changed between sessions. All trials were videotaped and scored by one-of-two trained observers. The interrater correlation (Pearson Product-Moment Correlation Coefficient, *r*) was calculated to be 0.978 (TST) and 0.941 (FST) by linear regression. Approximately 75% of analyses were performed blinded to genotype. Mice were considered immobile when, for more than 0.5 seconds, they: (TST) exhibited no body movement and hung passively or (FST) engaged in minimal movements to stay afloat with no escape behavior. Total immobility was scored as the sum of all immobility over the 6 minute trial. Latency was scored as the time of completion of the first uninterrupted 10-second bout of immobility.

3.6 Cocaine Conditioning

conditioned Mice were with injections of cocaine prior to electrophysiological recordings. Conditioning sessions began 2-3 weeks following surgery during the day phase of the light cycle. Following 2 days of habituation, mice underwent 5 daily injections with cocaine (15 mg/kg) or vehicle (Grueter et al., 2010; Kourrich et al., 2007; Thomas et al., 2001). Cocaine injections were administered immediately prior to placing the mouse in an open field activity chamber (ENV-510, Med Associates). Overhead video recordings of mouse activity were analyzed with automated software (EthoVision XT, Noldus).

4. Electrophysiology

4.1 Slice Preparation

Parasagittal slices (250 μ m) containing the NAc core were prepared from naïve mice or from mice 10-14 days following the last cocaine/saline injection. Mice were anaesthetized with isoflurane and decapitated. Brains were quickly removed and placed in an ice-cold low-Na⁺, sucrose-based cutting solution (in mM): 183 sucrose, 20 NaCl, 0.5 KCl, 2.0 CaCl₂, 1.0 MgCl₂, 1.2 NaH₂PO₄, 10 glucose, and 26 NaHCO₃. Slices were prepared using a Leica VT 1200S vibratome and immediately transferred for 10-15 minutes to a heated (37 ± 1 °C) bath containing an N-methyl-D-glucamine (NMDG)-based recovery solution (in mM): 93 NMDG, 20 HEPES, 2.5 KCl, 0.5 CaCl₂, 10 MgCl₂, 1.2 NaH₂PO₄, 25 glucose, 30 NaHCO₃, 5 Na-ascorbate, and 3 Na-pyruvate. Slices were then allowed to recover for at least 60 minutes at room temperature (23 ± 1 °C) in a holding chamber aCSF (in mM): 119 NaCl, 2.5 KCl, 2.5 CaCl₂, 1.3 MgCl₂, 1 NaH₂PO₄, 11 glucose, and 26 NaHCO₃. Slices were removed from the holding chamber and placed in the recording chamber where they were continuously perfused with oxygenated (95% $O_2/5\%$ CO₂) aCSF at a rate of 2 ml/min at 30 ± 2°C. Picrotoxin (50 µM) was added to the recording aCSF to block GABA_AR–mediated inhibitory synaptic currents.

4.2 MSN Identification and Glutamate Release

Whole-cell voltage-clamp recordings were obtained as described (Grueter et al., 2013). Briefly, D1(+) MSNs were identified visually by the presence of tdTomato following excitation with 535 nm light (pE-2, CoolLED) (Figure 10). Neurons lacking any detectable tdTomato signal were defined as D1(-) MSNs rather than D2(+) because the absence of detectable fluorescence in this mouse line does not demonstrate that a cell is a MSN expressing D2Rs. Recordings were made with 3.0–6.0 M Ω glass electrodes pulled on a P-1000 Flaming/Brown puller (Sutter Instruments) filled with (in mM): 120 CsMeSO₄, 15 CsCl, 8 NaCl, 10



Figure 10. Representative D1-tdTomato expression. (A) Low magnification sagittal section displaying tdTomato expression in the dorsal striatum and nucleus accumbens (NAc). (B) High magnification image of the NAc core showing expression of tdTomato in cell bodies. Not pictured are D1(-) MSNs which do not express dopamine receptor subtype 1.
HEPES, 0.2 EGTA, 10 TEA-CI, 4 MgATP, 0.3 NaGTP, 0.1 spermine, and 5 QX-314.

Where noted, excitatory afferents were locally stimulated (0.25-0.30 ms duration) with a bipolar nichrome wire electrode placed at the border between the NAc core and cortex. For optogenetic experiments, ChR2-dependent synaptic activity was driven using whole 470 nm field illumination for 1-3 ms. Recordings were performed using a Multiclamp 700B (Molecular Devices), filtered at 2 kHz and digitized at 10 kHz. Peak EPSC amplitudes of 100–600 pA were evoked at a frequency of 0.1-0.2 Hz while cells were voltage-clamped at -70 mV unless otherwise stated.

4.3 Experimental Protocols

For NMDAR/AMPAR ratios and coefficient of variation (CV) analyses, 25-30 stable consecutive responses at -70 mV and +40 mV were obtained. The NMDAR-component was defined as the magnitude of the +40 mV dual component EPSC at 50 ms following EPSC onset. The AMPAR-EPSC was defined as the peak amplitude of the EPSC at -70 mV. NMDAR/AMPAR was obtained by a ratio of the two components, and CV was calculated by dividing the standard deviation of the responses by the mean. To determine the current-voltage relationship and decay kinetics, NMDAR-EPSCs were isolated in the presence of 10 µM NBQX and corrections were made for the calculated liquid junction potential (-9.4 mV). For CIQ wash-on, NMDAR-EPSCs were elicited in CSF with no added Mg²⁺ (Weitlauf et al., 2004). Peak NMDAR-EPSC amplitudes ranged from 50-400 pA. For

asynchronous EPSC experiments, longer light durations were used (3-5 ms) and equimolar Sr²⁺ (2.5 mM SrCl₂) replaced Ca²⁺ in the aCSF. Asynchronous events were identified using a predefined template search in the 200 ms window following the initial evoked release event. NMDAR-dependent long-term depression was elicited by 600 pulses of 470 nm light at 1 Hz. Depolarization-induced suppression of excitation (DSE) was elicited by depolarizing to +30 mV for 10 seconds while patching with a modified potassium-based internal solution lacking BAPTA and QX-314 (Shonesy et al., 2013). Approximately 70% of experiments were performed blinded to treatment, however blinding to injection site was not possible. Data acquisition and analysis were performed using pClamp 10.4 software (Axon Instruments). Membrane properties were monitored continuously throughout the duration of experiments, and experiments in which changes in series resistance were greater than 20% were not included in the analysis.

5. Data Analysis

Data are expressed as mean ± SEM (N = number of animals and n = number of cells), or as [minimum, lower quartile, median, upper quartile, maximum] for box and whiskers plots. For electrophysiology each data point represents the average value from one cell. One- or two-way ANOVA or two-tailed Student's t-test were used when indicated. Repeated measures or paired tests were performed when appropriate. The Mantel-Cox log-rank test was used to assess differences between cumulative distributions. All post-tests employed Bonferroni

corrections for multiple comparisons and p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

6. Drugs

Cocaine HCI, picrotoxin, and d-cycloserine were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. NBQX and D-AP5 were purchased from Tocris. (+)-CIQ was purchased from Brandt Labs.

CHAPTER IV

GLUN1 DELETIONS IN D1- AND A2A-EXPRESSING CELL TYPES REVEAL DISTINCT MODES OF BEHAVIORAL REGULATION

1. Abstract

NMDARs are profound regulators of glutamate neurotransmission and behavior. To coordinate components of the limbic system, the dorsal and ventral striatum integrate cognitive and emotional information towards the execution of complex behaviors. Striatal outflow is conveyed by MSNs, which can be dichotomized by expression of D1 or A2A. To examine how striatal NMDAR function modulates reward-related behaviors, we generated D1- and A2A-specific genetic deletions of the obligatory GluN1 subunit. Interestingly, we observed no differences in any GluN1^{-/-} genotype in reward learning as assessed by acquisition or extinction of cocaine place conditioning. Control and A2A-GluN1-/- mice exhibited robust cocaine-primed reinstatement, however this behavior was markedly absent in D1-GluN1^{-/-} mice. Interestingly, dual D1-/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice displayed an intermediate reinstatement phenotype. Next, we examined models of exploration, anxiety, and despair, states often associated with relapse to addictionrelated behavior, to determine NMDAR contribution in D1 and A2A cell types to these behaviors. D1-GluN1^{-/-} mice displayed aberrant exploratory locomotion in a novel environment, but the phenotype was absent in dual D1/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice. In contrast A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice displayed a despair-resistant phenotype, and this phenotype persisted in dual D1/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice. These data support the

hypothesis that cell type-specific NMDAR signaling regulates separable behavioral outcomes related to locomotion, despair, and relapse.

2. Introduction

Adaptations involved in the development of addiction-like behaviors share common mechanisms with learning and memory processes (Grueter et al., 2012; Joffe et al., 2014; Koob and Volkow, 2010; Lüscher and Malenka, 2011). In particular, NMDARs have been extensively studied as mediators of drug experience-dependent memory formation (T. E. Brown et al., 2011; Kalivas and Alesdatter, 1993; Karler et al., 1989; Wolf and Khansa, 1991). NMDARs are glutamate-gated, calcium-permeable channels that provide major regulation of synaptic plasticity throughout much of the central nervous system (Traynelis et al., 2010), transforming transient patterns of neurotransmission into persistent changes in synaptic strength that underlie cognitive functions (Paoletti et al., 2013). Because constitutive genetic deletion of GluN1 is lethal (Tsien et al., 1996), probing NMDAR function in vivo necessitates cell type- and/or region-specific approaches.

One key brain complex that subserves reward-related behaviors is the striatum, which is conceptualized as a gatekeeper of descending neurotransmission relating to motor control, reward, and reinforcement (Grueter et al., 2012; Joffe et al., 2014; Kreitzer and Malenka, 2008). Throughout the dorsal and ventral striatum, GABAergic medium spiny neurons (MSNs) comprise 90-95% of neurons and provide the output from the structures. Striatal MSNs are often

dichotomized into two groups by biochemistry, anatomy, and function (Lobo and Nestler, 2011), commonly depicted by expression of D1 or A2A, which overlaps with D2-expressing MSNs. When selectively activated in vivo, D1 and A2A/D2 MSNs in the dorsal striatum and NAc have been shown to exert opposing or divergent effects on locomotor (Kravitz et al., 2010), stress-induced (Francis et al., 2014), and reward-related (Kravitz et al., 2012; Lobo et al., 2010) behaviors. For example, driving NAc D1 MSNs conferred CPP to a subthreshold cocaine regimen, whereas activation of NAc A2A/D2 MSNs blocked the preference induced by a rewarding dose.

Although much remains to be learned, NMDAR signaling in NAc D1 MSNs has been demonstrated to be necessary for the development of psychostimulant-conditioned behaviors (Beutler et al., 2011; Cahill et al., 2014; Heusner and Palmiter, 2005). However, these experiments did not assess whether D1-NMDAR signaling underlies reinstatement, a model of relapse to drug seeking. Additionally, how A2A MSN NMDARs modulate psychostimulant-conditioned behaviors has not been addressed. In fact, without limit to drug-related behaviors, the behavioral relevance of NMDAR signaling in A2A-expressing neurons remains unknown. Given that NMDAR signaling is important for experience-driven changes in D1 MSN function, a hypothesis is that A2A MSN NMDAR function regulates stress-related behaviors. Moreover, with recent efforts towards developing NMDAR antagonists and related pharmacotherapies as treatments for Major Depressive Disorder (Krystal et al., 2013; Maeng et al., 2008), the literature requires a better

understanding of how cell type-specific NMDAR function modulates despair- and anxiety-like behaviors.

The GluN1 subunit is essential to the formation of functioning NMDARs (Paoletti et al., 2013). Although splicing variants are common, all GluN1 protein is produced from a single gene, Grin1. Therefore we ablated functional NMDARs in D1- and/or A2A-expressing neurons by generating mice homozygous for floxed Grin1 (Grin^{lox/lox}) that co-expressed Cre recombinase under control of the D1 and/or A2A promotors. MSN expression of D1 and A2A is by and large mutually exclusive (Gangarossa et al., 2013; Lu et al., 1998). Although D1 is expressed in other components of the limbic system, like the prefrontal cortex and amygdala (Boyson et al., 1986; Zhou et al., 1990), the neuronal expression of A2A is highly localized to the striatum (Fink et al., 1992; Schiffmann et al., 1991), where coexpression with D1 or interneuron markers is minimal (Schiffmann and Vanderhaeghen, 1993). Therefore, relative to the D1-specific deletion, the double knockout from D1- and A2A-expressing cell types induces identical impairments in NMDAR signaling across MSN types while exerting minimal additional extrastriatal off-target effects. After generating D1-, A2A-, and dual D1/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice, we used targeted whole-cell electrophysiology to validate cell type specificity in the NAc core. We then assessed reward-related associative learning through cocaine CPP. All genotypes acquired, expressed, and extinguished cocaine CPP, however cocaine-primed reinstatement was markedly absent in D1-GluN1^{-/-} mice. Dual D1-/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice displayed a partial rescue, suggesting that both D1 MSNs and extrastriatal D1-expressing neurons may be involved in cocaine-primed

reinstatement. We then examined models of exploration, anxiety, and behavioral despair. D1-GluN1^{-/-} mice displayed aberrant exploratory locomotion in a novel environment, but the phenotype was absent in dual D1/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice. In contrast, A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice displayed an antidepressant-like phenotype that persisted in dual D1/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice. These data suggest that balanced NMDAR signaling across striatal MSNs underlies aspects of locomotion, but that A2A MSN NMDAR function regulates despair in a more complex manner.

3. Results

3.1. Functional Verification of GluN1 Genetic Deletions

To confirm selectivity of the genetic deletions, we measured EPSCs in targeted NAc core MSNs from control animals which expressed either Cre or *Grin1*^{lox/lox}, but not both and D1-GluN1^{-/-} and A2A- GluN1^{-/-} mice. MSNs were identified as either D1-expressing (+) or D1-non-expressing (-) by presence or absence of td-Tomato fluorescence. In control MSNs held at -70 mV, the EPSC exhibits fast decay kinetics and is mediated by AMPARs (Figure 11A: left, page 71). When held at +40 mV, the dual component EPSC is much slower and at 50 ms post EPSC onset, reflects current passing solely through NMDARs. In control slices, measurable NMDAR currents (>20% of peak) were obtained in all NAc core MSNs (D1(+): n = 23/23, D1(-): n = 20/20). In contrast, in slices prepared from D1-GluN1^{-/-} mice, NMDAR currents were obtained from D1(-) MSNs (n = 6/6) but not from D1(+) MSNs (n = 0/6, 5A: top right). In A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice, the reverse was observed: NMDAR currents were not observed in D1(-) MSNs (n = 0/11, 1A:

bottom right), but remained intact in D1(+) MSNs (n = 5/5). Fisher's exact test revealed a significant deviation from observed outcome frequencies across groups (p < 0.001 Figure 11B).



Figure 11. Selectivity of cell type-specific GluN1 deletions. (A) Representative traces of dual component EPSCs obtained from control (left) and GluN1^{-/-} (right) NAc core MSNs. D1(+) MSNs are displayed on the top and D1(-) MSNs on the bottom. Scale bars denote 100 pA and 50 ms. The EPSC component at 50 ms or later is mediated by NMDARs. (B) Summary graph displaying percent D1(+) (red) and D1(-) (white) neurons with NMDAR currents (p < 0.001, Fisher's exact test). The number of cells examined is included under each bar.

3.2. Cocaine Place Conditioning in GluN1 Deletion Models

To determine the contribution of NMDAR signaling at D1- and A2A-cell types in the rewarding properties of cocaine, we performed cocaine place conditioning. During the conditioning sessions, locomotor activity was recorded. D1-GluN1^{-/-} mice display diminished cocaine-induced hyperactivity (D1: 2837 ± 666 cm vs. control: 5170 ± 592 cm, p <

0.05, Figure 12), however the phenotype was absent in D1/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice (5222 \pm 704 cm,). All mice exhibited robust place preferences on the expression test day (Figures 13A-D), and no difference across genotypes was observed (F(3,33) = 0.9733, n.s.,).



Figure 12. Locomotor response to cocaine. Distance traveled in the last cocaine conditioning session by control (black circles), D1-GluN1^{-/-} (red triangles), A2A-GluN1-/-(blue squares), or D1/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} (purple triangles) mice. D1-GluN1^{-/-} exhibited attenuated locomotor response to cocaine relative to controls (different from control, *: p<0.05, Bonferroni post-test).



Figure 13. Expression of cocaine conditioned place preference. (A-D) Absolute time spent by control, D1-GluN1^{-/-}, A2A-GluN1^{-/-}, or D1/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice on cocaine-paired side before (Pre) and after (Post) cocaine conditioning (**: p < 0.01, ***: p < 0.001, paired t-test). (E) Place preference following conditioning with 20 mg/kg *i.p.* cocaine in control (black), D1-GluN1^{-/-} (red), A2A-GluN1^{-/-} (blue), or D1/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} (purple) mice.



Figure 14. Extinction of cocaine conditioned place preference. The change in time spent on the cocaine-paired side was measured during a 4-day extinction protocol in control (black), D1-GluN1^{-/-} (red), A2A-GluN1^{-/-} (blue), or D1/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} (purple) mice. No differences in extinction learning were observed.

Mice then underwent extinction training. differences and no were observed (F(3,26) = 1.161, n.s., Figure 14). Finally, to examine a facet of CPP related to relapse, mice were administered 10 mg/kg cocaine immediately prior to a place preference session. Control mice exhibited robust cocaine-primed reinstatement of CPP $(432 \pm 75 \text{ s}, p < 0.001, Figure 15A, page)$ D1-GluN1^{-/-} 74). In contrast, mice

exhibited a pronounced lack of reinstatement (-5 ± 136 s, n.s, Figure 15B.). Like the controls, the A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice reinstated the place preference (463 ± 54 s, p < 0.001, Figure 10C), and the D1/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice also displayed intact cocaineinduced reinstatement (274 ± 62 s, p < 0.01, Figure 15D), rescuing the phenotype displayed by the D1-GluN1^{-/-} animals. Although the D1/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice displayed cocaine-primed reinstatement, the magnitude of the preference was less relative to the control group so we performed a between-groups analysis (Figure 15E). A one-way ANOVA revealed a main effect of genotype on reinstatement (F(3,22) = 10.17, p < 0.001). Subsequent Bonferonni post-tests against controls confirmed the significant impairment of reinstatement in D1-GluN1^{-/-} mice (t = 4.550, p < 0.001) and also revealed a blunted phenotype in the D1/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} group (t = 2.698, p < 0.05). This suggests that drug-primed reinstatement of cocaine CPP requires NMDARs in D1-expressing cells, and that balanced striatal signaling is, at most, influential over the behavior.



Figure 15. Reinstatement of cocaine conditioned place preference. (**A-D**) Absolute time spent by WT, D1-GluN1^{-/-}, A2A-GluN1^{-/-}, or D1/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice on cocaine-paired side after extinction (Ext) and priming with 10 mg/kg cocaine (Reinst) (**: p < 0.01, ***: p < 0.001, paired t-test). Data points without paired reinstatement values represent mice that did not meet extinction criterion and were subsequently excluded. (**E**) Place preference in control (black), D1-GluN1^{-/-} (red), A2A-GluN1^{-/-} (blue), or D1/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} (purple) mice following reinstatement primed by 10 mg/kg *i.p.* cocaine (different from control, *: p < 0.05, ***: p < 0.001, Bonferroni post-test).

3.3. Open Field Test in GluN1 Deletion Models

To examine a range of locomotor-based behaviors, we assessed spontaneous activity in an open field chamber. When placed in a novel environment, mice display a burst of horizontal locomotor activity during the first 5-10 minutes that declines substantially over time (F(11,374) = 34.06, p < 0.0001, Figure 16A, page 75). A two-way repeated measures ANOVA revealed a significant interaction between the locomotor time course and genotype (F(33,374) = 6.818, p < 0.0001). Post-tests determined that D1-GluN1^{-/-} mice exhibited attenuated novelty-induced hyperlocomotion (0-5 min, 553 ± 95 cm vs. control: 1139 ± 140 cm). On the other hand, this behavior remained intact in A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice. D1-GluN1^{-/-} mice also displayed atypical habituation to the novel

environment, as evidenced by elevated locomotor activity towards the end of the hour session (50-55 min, 532 ± 55 cm vs. control: 238 ± 77 cm). Both of these phenotypes were rescued in the D1/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice, suggesting that imbalanced striatal signaling underlies the D1-GluN1^{-/-} locomotor phenotypes. When summated over the entire hour-long test, no differences in total locomotion were observed (F(3,34) = 1.244, n.s., Figure 16B).



Figure 16. Open field assay. (A) Novelty-induced hyperactivity and habituation in control (black circles), D1-GluN1^{-/-} (red triangles), A2A-GluN1^{-/-} (blue squares), or D1/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} (purple triangles) mice (different from control, *: p<0.05, ***: p<0.001, Bonferroni post-test). (B) Total one-hour locomotor activity in control (black), D1-GluN1^{-/-} (light grey), A2A-GluN1^{-/-} (dark grey), or D1/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} (white) mice. (C) Vertical beam breaks binned over 5 minute periods (different from control, **: p<0.001, Bonferroni post-test). (D) Total vertical beam breaks obtained during the open field assay (different from control, **: p<0.001, Bonferroni post-test).

During the same open field session, vertical beam breaks were also measured, having been described previously in relation to exploratory behavior (Fonio et al., 2009). We found that vertical counts varied significantly by time (F (11,374) = 2.455, p < 0.01, genotype (F(3,34) = 6.681, p < 0.01), and an interaction (F(33,374) = 5.657, p < 0.0001). Subsequent analyses revealed that D1-GluN1^{-/-} mice displayed increased vertical counts during the second half of the hour session (Figure 16C). The increase in vertical counts is also evident when summated across the entire session (D1: 1588 ± 698 vs control: 673 ± 143, p < 0.001, Figure 16D). Similar to the aberrations in horizontal locomotion, the vertical count phenotype was rescued by the D1/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} manipulation, without significant contribution of the A2A-specific knockout alone. Together these data suggest that D1-NMDAR function can modulate locomotor activity by disrupting the balance of signaling across MSN cell types.

We assessed the time spent in the center of the chamber during the open field test and found significant differences across genotypes (F(3,34) = 4.050, p < 0.05, Figure 17A, page 77). Control and D1-GluN1^{-/-} mice both spent approximately 35% and 29% of the session in the center zone, respectively (control: 1260 ± 151 s, D1: 1034 ± 184 s). In contrast, A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice displayed increased thigmotactic behavior and spent only 18% of the session in the center zone (643 ± 46 s, p < 0.05). Like the altered locomotor behaviors in the D1-GluN1^{-/-} mice, the center time phenotype of the A2A-GluN1^{-/-} was absent in the D1/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice (37%, 1340 ± 149 s). Because decreases in center time often reflect increased anxiety, we hypothesized that A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice display a high-anxiety-

like phenotype and proceeded to assess anxiety- and depressive-like behaviors in more targeted assays.



Figure 17. Anxiety-like behavior assays. (A) Time spent in center of arena during first open field assay in control (black circles), D1-GluN1^{-/-} (red triangles), A2A-GluN1^{-/-} (blue squares), or D1/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} (purple triangles) mice (different from control, *: p<0.05, Bonferroni post-test). (B) Time spent in open arms during elevated plus maze (EPM). (C) Total distance traveled during elevated maze session. (D) Cumulative distribution of latency to consume palatable drink during novelty-induced hypophagia (NIH) test session. (E) Total amount of drink consumed (normalized to bodyweight) during test session.

3.4. Elevated Plus Maze and Novelty-induced Hypophagia in GluN1

Deletion Models

To examine anxiety-like behavior, we first utilized the elevated plus maze (EPM). The EPM takes advantage of the innate tendency of rodents to avoid open spaces. No significant differences in open arm time during the EPM session were observed across genotypes (F(3,45) = 0.8393, n.s.) (Figure 17B): control and all

GluN1^{-/-} mice also spent similar amounts of time in the closed arms (58%, control: 176 ± 7 s, D1: 192 ± 11 s, A2A: 164 ± 15 s, D1/A2A: 188 ± 6 s; F(3,45) = 1.386, n.s.; data not shown). No significant differences in locomotor activity during the EPM session were observed across genotypes (F(3,45) = 2.163, n.s., Figure 17C). As a complimentary assessment of anxiety-like behavior, we examined novelty-induced hypophagia (NIH). We employed a version of NIH in which non-food restricted mice must approach a highly palatable drink in a novel environment, and the latency to consume the liquid is taken as a measure of anxiety-like behavior. A Mantel-Cox log-rank test determined that control and all GluN1^{-/-} mice exhibited similar latency distributions ($\chi^2 = 5.281$, df = 3, n.s., Figure 17D). Furthermore no difference in mean latency (control: 164 ± 22 s, D1: 136 ± 31 s, A2A: 120 ± 13 s, D1/A2A: 196 ± 29 s; F(3,43) = 2.119, n.s.) or overall drink consumption was observed (F(3,43) = 1.617, n.s., Figure 17E).

3.5. Tail Suspension and Forced Swim Tests in GluN1 Deletion Models

We performed the tail suspension and forced swim tests, models of behavioral despair. In each of these tests, mice attempt to remove themselves from compromising, yet inescapable positions. The animals eventually assume an immobile posture, and the latency to hang/float is taken as a behavioral correlate of despair. No differences in immobility between controls and any GluN1^{-/-} mice were observed in the TST when measured in total (F(3,69) = 2.129, n.s., Figure 18A). However a significant effect of genotype on the latency to immobility was observed (F(3,67) = 5.415, p < 0.05, Figure 18B), and post-tests revealed an increased mean latency in the A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice (181 ± 20 s vs control: 100 ± 9 s, p < 0.01).



Figure 18. Behavioral despair assays. (A) Total time spent immobile during tail suspension test (TST) in control (black circles), D1-GluN1^{-/-} (red triangles), A2A-GluN1^{-/-} (blue squares), or D1/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} (purple triangles) mice. (B) Latency to hang immobile for 10 s (different from control, *: p<0.05, **: p<0.01, Bonferroni post-test). (C) Total time spent immobile during forced swim test (FST) (different from control, *:: p<0.01, ***: p<0.01, Bonferroni post-test). (D) Latency to float immobile for 10 s (different from control, **: p<0.01, ***: p<0.01, Bonferroni post-test). (D) Latency to float immobile for 10 s (different from control, **: p<0.01 Bonferroni post-test).

Under conditions of greater duress in the FST (Solich et al., 2008), significant genotypic differences in total immobility were observed (F(3,75) =

5.722, p < 0.01, Figure 18C). Specifically, A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice exhibited a decrease in total immobility (125 ± 10 s vs control: 183 ± 10 s, p < 0.001) consistent with an increased mean latency to float (214 ± 21 s vs control: 121 ± 12 s, p < 0.01, Figure 18D). In each of these tests and measures, D1-GluN1^{-/-} mice did not differ from controls (TST total: 161 ± 6 s, latency: 149 ± 21 s; FST total: 156 ± 14 s, latency: 170 ± 25 s). Interestingly, D1/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice behaved similarly to A2A-GluN1^{-/-} ^{/-} mice and different from controls on all measures. That is, restoring striatal NMDAR balance did not rescue the A2A-GluN1^{-/-} phenotype: D1/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice exhibited an increased latency to hang during the TST (165 ± 23 s), p < 0.05 and to float during the FST (218 ± 25 s, p < 0.01), as well as decreased total immobility during the FST (133 ± 13 s, p < 0.01).

4. Discussion

Striatal NMDAR signaling has been implicated in the pathophysiology of drug addiction and other psychiatric diseases with motivational or affective components (Beutler et al., 2011; Cahill et al., 2014; Lim et al., 2012; Pascoli et al., 2014; Schwartz et al., 2014). In this report, we demonstrate separable roles for cell type-specific NMDAR function in the regulation of complex behaviors. These data support the hypothesis that balanced signaling across MSN subtypes regulates some locomotor-dependent behaviors, while providing further evidence that a more complex model is required to describe reward-related and depressive-like outcomes.

We observed no effect of any genotype on the acquisition of cocaine CPP. These findings may appear to disagree with published literature, where similar impairments of NMDAR function resulted in blunted psychostimulant CPP (Beutler et al., 2011; Heusner and Palmiter, 2005), however specific methodological differences (i.e. background strain, apparatus, and drug) can readily explain minor discrepancies. To summarize, the published accounts and present data collectively demonstrate that a moderate dose of cocaine does not require D1-NMDAR function to generate reward learning. We did observe that D1-GluN1^{-/-} mice exhibited a stark impairment of drug-primed reinstatement of cocaine CPP. These data are in accordance with recent findings, where putative NMDARdependent modifications on NAc D1 MSNs were demonstrated to be essential for cue-induced reinstatement of cocaine seeking (Pascoli et al., 2014). Our data corroborate the mechanistic underpinnings of those findings and support the importance of D1 MSN NMDARs in drug-primed reinstatement. Moreover we observed that dual D1/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice retained cocaine-primed reinstatement, suggesting that balanced NMDAR signaling across striatal projection neurons may underlie this phenomenon. On the other hand, the dual knockout mice did exhibit blunted reinstatement relative to control mice, suggesting that NMDARs in extrastriatal D1-expressing neurons may contribute to drug-primed reinstatement. Consistently, Sanchez and Sorg (Sanchez et al., 2003) demonstrated that reinstatement of cocaine CPP was blocked by infusion of a D1 antagonist into the PFC. D1-expressing neurons in the orbitofrontal cortex (Capriles et al., 2003;

Lasseter et al., 2013) and amygdala (Alleweireldt et al., 2006; S. Erb et al., 2001; Mashhoon et al., 2009) represent other intriguing candidate substrates.

To assess movement-based adaptive learning, we examined locomotor activity in a novel environment. D1-GluN1^{-/-} mice displayed a substantial attenuation of hyperactivity during the first five minutes, and did not habituate normally as evidenced by increased activity after 50 minutes. During the same task, D1-GluN1^{-/-} mice displayed a robust increase in vertical counts, which have been described as a form of exploratory behavior (Fonio et al., 2009). Neither of these locomotor phenotypes were present in D1/A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice, supporting the conclusion that balanced MSN NMDAR signaling regulates exploration and habituation. We also observed that A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice spent less time in the center of the arena than controls. Since thigmotactic behavior can be indicative of an anxiety-like phenotype, we followed up with more targeted assays. Contrary to our working hypothesis, A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice performed similarly to controls on both the EPM and NIH. We therefore conclude that A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice display atypical patterns of horizontal locomotion, and hypothesize that more rigorous assessments of movement (for example, see Paulus and Geyer, 1991) would reveal subtle differences in unconditioned locomotion.

Since depressive symptoms are often comorbid with drug abuse and addiction (Joffe et al., 2014; Volkow, 2010), we assessed behavioral despair in two parallel assays, the TST and the FST. Due to previously observed genotype-sex interactions in these behaviors (Kokras and Dalla, 2014) we ran separate cohorts of male and female mice. We observed similar results in both sexes: A2A-GluN1⁻

¹⁻ mice displayed a prolonged latency to immobility in both assays and increased total immobility in the FST. These findings suggest that A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice exhibit a despair-resistant or "resilient" phenotype. Ionotropic glutamate receptor signaling in the NAc has been heavily implicated in depressive-like behaviors (Bagot et al., 2015; Francis et al., 2014; Lim et al., 2012; Robison et al., 2014; Schwartz et al., 2014; Vialou et al., 2010). Our data suggest that these characterized physiological processes may proceed largely through A2A MSNs, consistent with recent findings that the development of amotivation induced by chronic pain proceeds through NMDAR signaling on NAc A2A MSNs (Schwartz et al., 2014). Together these data support the hypothesis that A2A MSN NMDARs signaling promotes depressivelike behavior. Conversely, the antidepressant efficacy of fluoxetine requires downregulation of the NMDAR signaling partner, CaMKII (Robison et al., 2005; Shonesy et al., 2014). Whether changes to A2A MSN NMDAR signaling are required for the behavioral efficacy of SSRIs and other antidepressants remains untested and merits further study. Interestingly D1/A2A-GluN1-/- mice also displayed the anti-despair phenotype exhibited by A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice. Unlike the locomotor-based assays, these results suggest that A2A MSNs contribute to despair-like behavior in a manner that cannot be distilled to balanced MSN NMDAR signaling. One intriguing possibility is that A2A MSNs, or their targets, project to a region outside of the canonical basal ganglia that modulates negative affective behaviors.

If indeed striatal balance is required for the expression of some psychostimulant and novelty-related behaviors, it begs the question: why did A2A-

GluN1^{-/-} mice not display unusual drug-related behaviors? We propose two, nonexclusive explanations. For one, from a practical perspective, we may have encountered ceiling effects in the selected classical conditioning paradigms. Operant behavioral paradigms would be expected to provide a greater signal window for detecting increases in drug reinforcement and susceptibility to relapse. Accordingly, following chemogenetic inhibition of NAc A2A MSNs, Bock et al. observed enhanced motivation to obtain cocaine as assessed by lever-pressing behavior. Alternatively, following a sub-threshold training protocol or priming dose, A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice might display or reinstate CPP under conditions where control mice would not.

CHAPTER V

COCAINE EXPERIENCE ENHANCES THALAMO-ACCUMBENS N-METHYL-D-ASPARTATE RECEPTOR FUNCTION

1. Abstract

Excitatory synaptic transmission in the NAc is a key biological substrate underlying behavioral responses to psychostimulants and susceptibility to relapse. Recent studies have demonstrated that cocaine induces changes in glutamatergic signaling at distinct inputs to the NAc. However, consequences of cocaine experience on synaptic transmission from the mThal to the NAc have yet to be reported. To examine synapses from specific NAc core inputs, we recorded lightevoked EPSCs following viral-mediated expression of ChR2 in the mThal, PFC, or BLA from acute brain slices. To identify NAc MSN subtypes we utilized mice expressing tdTomato driven by the promoter for the D1. We recorded NMDAR and AMPAR properties to evaluate synaptic adaptations induced by cocaine experience, a 5-day cocaine exposure followed by 2-weeks of abstinence. We determine that excitatory inputs to the NAc core display differential NMDAR properties. Furthermore, cocaine experience uniquely alters AMPAR and NMDAR properties at mThal-D1(+), mThal-D1(-), and PFC-D1(+) synapses, while sparing PFC-D1(-) synapses. Finally, at mThal-D1(+) synapses, we demonstrate that cocaine enhances GluN2C/D function and NMDAR-dependent synaptic plasticity.

Our results identify contrasting cocaine-induced AMPAR and NMDAR modifications at mThal- and PFC-NAc core synapses. These changes include an enhancement of NMDAR function and plasticity at mThal-D1(+) synapses. Incorporation of GluN2C-containing NMDARs most likely underlies these phenomena and represents a potential therapeutic target for psychostimulant use disorders.

2. Introduction

Addressing the persistent vulnerability of relapse to drug-seeking behavior remains an essential obstacle impeding the treatment of substance abuse disorders (Joffe et al., 2014). The long-lasting urges and maladaptive behaviors conditioned by cocaine use are associated with changes in excitatory transmission throughout the mesolimbic dopamine system, including within the NAc (Grueter et al., 2012; Robison and Nestler, 2011). Recent studies have supported the hypothesis that alterations in NAc AMPAR signaling are essential towards promoting maladaptive drug-associated behaviors (Lee et al., 2013; Ma et al., 2014; Pascoli et al., 2014, 2012).

Seminal findings by Thomas et al (Thomas et al., 2001) demonstrated that AMPAR function in the NAc shell is altered by cocaine history. Since then, we and others have demonstrated circuit-specific, experience-dependent changes in NAc synaptic function by utilizing reporter mouse lines that label neuron populations and optogenetic approaches to drive specific excitatory afferents. The output neurons of the NAc, MSNs, are largely distinguished by expression of D1 or D2.

While both D1 (Bock et al., 2013; Dobi et al., 2011; Jedynak et al., 2015; Khibnik et al., 2015; MacAskill et al., 2014; Pascoli et al., 2014, 2012) and D2 (Bock et al., 2013; Grueter et al., 2010; MacAskill et al., 2014) NAc MSN subtypes have been shown to undergo drug-induced changes in AMPAR function, these changes occur in an experience, subregion, and input-specific manner. In contrast to AMPARs, drug-induced changes in NAc NMDAR function have been less well documented. Following a short-term abstinence from cocaine exposure Huang et al, and others, have reported a transient increase in the expression of silent synapses (T. E. Brown et al., 2011; Huang et al., 2009b; Koya et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2013; Ma et al., 2014), synapses that exhibit robust NMDAR-mediated EPSCs but undetectable AMPAR-EPSCs (Kerchner and Nicoll, 2008; Malenka and Nicoll, 1997). These silent synapses are thought to be due in large part to the insertion of NMDARs containing the GluN2B subunit. Conversely, at 14 days following chronic amphetamine, decreased expression of GluN2B-containing NMDARs has been 2009). Also, longer-lasting increases reported (Mao et al., in NAc hyperpolarization-active GluN2C-containing NMDARs are implicated in alcohol seeking (Seif et al., 2015, 2013), but their role in cocaine-related experience is unclear. Since NMDAR subunit composition can have a profound effect on synaptic function, the molecular stoichiometry of NMDARs in drug- and synapsespecific models warrants further investigation.

The NAc core and shell receive excitatory input from the PFC, BLA, and the vHipp (Britt et al., 2012; Brog et al., 1993; O'Donnell and Grace, 1995). Dysregulated plasticity of AMPARs has been identified as a substrate that

promotes reward-driven and addiction-like behaviors at NAc synapses from each of these inputs (Britt et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2013; Ma et al., 2014; Pascoli et al., 2014, 2012). Projections from the mThal also innervate the NAc (Berendse and Groenewegen, 1990; Vertes et al., 2015), yet whether drug experience alters these synapses remains to be shown.

The thalamus is described as a sensorimotor-cortical relay, and has received relatively little attention with regards to its capacity to modulate complex affective and cognitive behaviors (Vertes et al., 2015). The thalamic PVT and paratenial nucleus receive inputs from multiple brain regions implicated in addiction-related behavior and project to the NAc (Berendse and Groenewegen, 1990; Li and Kirouac, 2012; Phillipson, 1988). Thus the mThal nuclei are anatomically positioned to provide essential coordination of learned drug-induced behaviors. Indeed, lesion or pharmacological inhibition of the PVT has been demonstrated to disrupt NAc-dependent behaviors including reinstatement of cocaine-seeking and expression of cocaine conditioned place preference (Browning et al., 2014; Hamlin et al., 2008; James et al., 2010; Young and Deutch, 1998). Therefore, to begin to address the role of mThal-NAc pathways in drug-related behaviors, we sought to test the hypothesis that cocaine exposure alters mThal-NAc AMPAR and NMDAR function.

To better understand mThal inputs to NAc core we compared AMPAR and NMDAR properties at mThal, PFC, and BLA synapses. We expressed ChR2 in BAC transgenic D1-tdTomato mice and performed targeted, input-specific, wholecell voltage-clamp recordings in acute slices of the NAc core. Synaptic

NMDAR/AMPAR ratios differed based on glutamatergic input. At mThal-D1(+) synapses, cocaine experience, defined as abstinence from 5 days of cocaine exposure, enhanced AMPAR function and altered NMDAR properties, while at mThal-D1(-) synapses the cocaine-induced changes were consistent with generation of silent synapses. In contrast to mThal-NAc synapses, inputs from the PFC to NAc core D1(+) MSNs, but not D1(-) MSNs, exhibited larger NMDAR/AMPAR ratios following cocaine experience. Finally, we found that cocaine experience enhanced GluN2C/D function and unmasked NMDAR-dependent long-term depression (LTD) at mThal-D1(+) synapses. These results suggest that cocaine experience generates changes in NMDAR function at mThal-NAc core synapses and identifies these adaptations as targets with therapeutic potential for the treatment of psychiatric disorders associated with dysfunction of the reward system.

3. Results

3.1 Circuit-specific AMPAR and NMDAR Properties of NAc Core MSNs

To characterize synaptic AMPAR and NMDAR properties in the NAc core in a circuit-specific manner, we virally expressed ChR2 in the mThal, PFC, or BLA of D1-tdTomato marker mice. After 3 weeks robust expression of ChR2 was observed at the injection site and in the NAc (Figure 19A, page 91). Utilizing visualized whole-cell voltage-clamp techniques, we recorded light-evoked EPSCs at D1(+) and D1(-) MSNs. To compare AMPAR function across NAc core inputs, we elicited asEPSCs in low-Ca²⁺ aCSF supplemented with Sr²⁺. asEPSCs are

quantal-like events that reflect synaptic expression of AMPARs. The asEPSC amplitudes were similar across inputs onto D1(+) (Figure 19B1) and D1(-) (Figure 19B2) MSNs.

To better understand mThal-NAc core synaptic composition, we compared NMDAR/AMPAR ratios to those recorded following PFC and BLA stimulation. The NMDAR-mediated component was recorded at 50 ms post onset (when the AMPAR component is minimal) and normalized to the AMPAR EPSC peak amplitude for each cell (Grueter et al., 2010; Kreitzer and Malenka, 2007). mThal synapses on D1(+) and D1(-) cell types exhibited smaller NMDAR/AMPAR ratios relative to the PFC (mThal-D1(+): 0.325 \pm 0.029 vs. PFC-D1(+): 0.564 \pm 0.066, p < 0.01, Figure 19C1; mThal-D1(-): 0.322 \pm 0.029 vs. PFC-D1(-): 0.576 \pm 0.042, p < 0.001, Figure 19C2). D1(-) synapses from the BLA also exhibited smaller NMDAR/AMPAR ratios relative to the PFC (BLA-D1(-): 0.372 \pm 0.043, p < 0.01).



Figure 19. Basal AMPAR and NMDAR properties of NAc core synapses. (A) ChR2-EYFP expression in D1-tdTomato brain slice following viral-mediated gene transfer directed at the mThal. Wide field sagittal section (top) and high magnification merged confocal image (bottom) are displayed. (B-D) Input-specific AMPAR and NMDAR properties onto D1(+/-) neurons: (B) Amplitude of asEPSCs at D1(+) (B1) and D1(-) (B2) synapses following stimulation of terminals from the mThal (light red/grey), PFC (medium red/grey) or BLA (dark red/grey) in the presence of Sr²⁺. (n = 7-9 / N = 4 per group). (C) Ratio of NMDAR component relative to AMPAR EPSC while recording from D1(+) (C1) and D1(-) (C2) neurons. Representative input-specific EPSCs at -70 mV and +40 mV are displayed on the left. Inputs from mThal exhibited lower NMDAR/AMPAR than from the PFC (**: p < 0.01; ***: p < 0.001, post-tests). (n = 10-13 / N = 5-10 per group). (D) Silent synapse CV analysis. CV-NMDAR normalized to CV-AMPAR at D1(+) (D1) and D1(-) (D2) synapses.

As mentioned above, silent synapses are putative substrates for long-term potentiation that are characterized by the functional presence of NMDARs but not AMPARs (Kerchner and Nicoll, 2008; Malenka and Nicoll, 1997). Silent synapses are abundant in the developing brain, and recent work has demonstrated that cocaine exposure transiently increases silent synapses in the NAc (T. E. Brown et al., 2011; Huang et al., 2009b; Koya et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2013; Ma et al., 2014). Therefore, we analyzed CV-N/CV-A, a measure inversely related to the proportion of silent synapses (Huang et al., 2009b; Kullmann, 1994). We found no difference in CV-N/CV-A across inputs onto D1(+) (Figure 19D1) or D1(-) MSNs (Figure 19D2). Analysis of CV measurements in isolation can be found at the end of this chapter. Taken together, these data are consistent with the interpretation that glutamatergic inputs to the NAc core display basal differences in NMDAR function. This led us to assess whether cocaine experience would alter NMDAR function at these specific NAc core synapses.

3.2 Cocaine Experience Does Not Alter Electrically-evoked NAc core

AMPAR or NMDAR Properties

In order to investigate consequences of cocaine experience on NAc synaptic properties we conditioned mice with 5-days of cocaine injections outside of the home cage. Repeated injections of cocaine induced robust increases in locomotor activity (F = 27.46, df = 6, p < 0.001, Figure 20A, page 93). Following a 10-14 day drug-free period, we performed targeted whole-cell recordings of electrically-evoked EPSCs in the NAc core. We observed no effects of this cocaine

conditioning paradigm on NMDAR/AMPAR ratios or properties within the NAc core on either D1(+) (Figure 20B1-E1) or D1(-) MSNs (Figure 20B2-E2).



Figure 20. Cocaine exposure and abstinence does not affect electrically-evoked NAc core NMDAR or AMPAR function. (A) Top, schematic of behavioral conditioning and targeted approach. Slices were prepared 10-14 days after mice were conditioned with saline (filled circles) or cocaine (open circles) and EPSCs were elicited with a local electrode. Bottom, mice exhibited a sensitized locomotor response to cocaine (*: p < 0.05; ***: p < 0.001, post-test vs. day 1). (N = 20 saline; 16 cocaine). (B) Amplitude of asEPSCs from both D1(+) (B1) and D1(-) (B2) neurons. (n = 7-9 / N = 4-6 per group). (C) Ratio of NMDAR component to AMPAR EPSC following while recording from D1(+) (C1) or D1(-) (C2) neurons. (n = 9-14 / N = 7-9 per group). (D) CV-NMDAR normalized to CV-AMPAR in D1(+) (D1) and D1(-) (D2) cell types. (E) Isolated NMDAR current-voltage relationship from both D1(+) (E1) and D1(-) (E2) neurons. (n = 8-16 / N = 5-8 per group).

3.3 Cocaine Experience Alters AMPAR and NMDAR Function at mThal-D1(+) NAc Core Synapses

To investigate potential changes in excitatory drive specific to thalamic inputs following cocaine experience, we examined AMPAR and NMDAR function at mThal-D1(+) NAc core synapses (Figure 21A, page 95). We observed that cocaine experience increased the amplitude of AMPAR-mediated asEPSCs at these synapses relative to saline controls (sal: 23.9 ± 1.6 pA vs coc: 31.2 ± 2.6 pA, p < 0.05, Figure 21B). We expected that cocaine experience would result in a corresponding decrease in NMDAR/AMPAR. However mThal-D1(+) NMDAR/AMPAR at mThal-D1(+) from cocaine-treated mice was indistinguishable from saline controls (Figure 21C). Also, no change in CV-N/CV-A between the cocaine- and saline-treated groups was observed (Figure 21D). Given that we observed a cocaine-induced increase in AMPAR function, we hypothesized that cocaine treatment would be associated with a concomitant increase in NMDAR function at these synapses, and proceeded to analyze pharmacologically-isolated NMDAR EPSCs (Figure 21E). The current-voltage relationship of NMDAR EPSCs is generally determined by the biophysical properties of GluN2 subunits expressed at the synapse (Paoletti et al., 2013). After normalizing to the peak NMDAR-EPSC at +30 mV, we observed that cocaine exposure increased the relative mThal-D1(+) NMDAR current passed at -30 mV (sal: -0.334 ± 0.057 vs coc: -0.465 ± 0.041 , p < 0.05). This change in the current-voltage relationship is consistent with the interpretation that cocaine experience altered the functional subunit stoichiometry of mThal-D1(+) NMDARs, potentially by increasing the expression of GluN2C

isoforms (Kuner and Schoepfer, 1996). Overall, mice with a cocaine history exhibited a potentiation of synaptic strength/connectivity at mThal-D1(+) synapses, despite no observed change in the NMDAR/AMPAR ratio.



Figure 21. Cocaine enhances mThal-D1(+) AMPAR and NMDAR function. (A) D1(+) neurons were targeted in slices prepared 10-14 days after mice were conditioned with saline (filled squares) or cocaine (open squares), and glutamate was released from the mThal. (B) Cocaine conditioning increased the amplitude of asEPSCs at mThal-D1(+) NAc core synapses (p < 0.05). (n/N = 6/4 saline; 7/4 cocaine). (C) Left, dual component EPSCs obtained at -70 mV and +40 mV in slices from mice conditioned with saline (black) or cocaine (grey) mice. The NMDAR component is normalized to the AMPAR EPSC. Scale bars denote 100 pA and 50 ms. Right, summary data of NMDAR/AMPAR ratios. (n/N = 8/8 saline; 10/10 cocaine). (D) CV-NMDAR normalized to CV-AMPAR. (E) Left, isolated NMDAR current-voltage relationship. Scale bars denote 50 pA and 50 ms. Right, mThal-D1(+) NAc core synapses exhibited an altered NMDAR current-voltage relationship following in vivo cocaine conditioning (**: p < 0.01). (n/N = 6/6 saline; 9/7 cocaine).

3.4 NMDAR Function at PFC-D1(+) NAc Core Synapses Is Increased Following Cocaine Experience

To probe how cocaine experience affects cortical inputs to the NAc core, we examined AMPAR and NMDAR properties utilizing ChR2 expressed in axon terminals from the PFC (Figure 22A, page 97). In contrast to mThal inputs, we found no difference in asEPSC amplitude between cocaine- and saline-treated mice (Figure 16B). However, PFC-D1(+) NMDAR/AMPAR ratio was greater following cocaine experience relative to the saline-treated group (sal: 0.388 ± 0.040 vs coc 0.550 \pm 0.067, p < 0.05, Figure 22C). To determine whether silent synapses may contribute to the increase in NMDAR/AMPAR ratio we analyzed CV-N/CV-A, but found no difference between cocaine and vehicle groups (Figure 22D). Finally, we examined NMDAR biophysical properties to address potential differences in subunit stoichiometry across groups. We also found no differences in current-voltage relationship (Figure 22E) suggesting that NMDAR subunit stoichiometry at PFC-D1(+) inputs is not modified by cocaine experience. Together these data indicate that at PFC-D1(+) NAc core synapses, cocaine experience yields an upregulation of NMDAR function without increasing silent synapses or altering subunit stoichiometry.



Figure 22. Cocaine experience enhances PFC-D1(+) NMDAR function. (A) D1(+) neurons were targeted in slices prepared 10-14 days after mice were conditioned with saline (filled triangles) or cocaine (open triangles), and glutamate was released from the PFC. (B) asEPSC amplitude of PFC-D1(+) synapses. (n/N = 9/4 saline; 8/4 cocaine). (C) Left, dual component EPSCs obtained at -70 mV and +40 mV. Scale bars denote 100 pA and 50 ms. Right, cocaine exposure and abstinence increased NMDAR/AMPAR relative to saline controls (p < 0.05). (n/N = 12/6 saline; 9/5 cocaine). (D) CV-NMDAR normalized to CV-AMPAR. (E) Left, isolated NMDAR current-voltage

3.5 mThal-D1(-) NAc Core Synapses Exhibit Functional Properties Consistent with More Silent Synapses Following Cocaine Experience

In parallel to recordings from D1(+) MSNs, we assessed consequences of cocaine experience on AMPAR and NMDAR properties at mThal-D1(-) synapses (Figure 23A, page 99). The asEPSC amplitude did not differ between cocaine and saline treatment groups (Figure 23B). However unlike mThal-D1(+), NMDAR/AMPAR at mThal-D1(-) synapses was larger in the cocaine-treated group (sal: 0.309 ± 0.045 vs coc: 0.422 ± 0.024 , p < 0.05, Figure 23C). Furthermore, we observed a much smaller CV-N/CV-A ratio following cocaine experience (sal: 1.224 ± 0.167 vs coc: 0.609 ± 0.050, p < 0.01, Figure 23D). Cocaine experience did not alter mThal-D1(-) NMDAR stoichiometry as measured by current-voltage relationship (Figure 23E), however silent synapses are not known to be enriched in NMDARs with abnormal current-voltage relationships.

3.6 Cocaine Experience Does Not Alter PFC-D1(-) NAc Core AMPAR or NMDAR Properties

We also examined whether cocaine treatment induced changes in AMPAR or NMDAR function at PFC-D1(-) NAc core synapses. No differences in asEPSC amplitude, NMDAR/AMPAR ratiometric measures, or NMDAR current-voltage relationship at PFC-D1(-) synapses (Figure 24A-E, page 100) were observed following cocaine experience.


Figure 23. Cocaine history induces changes consistent with more silent synapses at mThal-D1(-) synapses in NAc core. (A) D1(-) neurons were targeted in slices prepared 10-14 days after mice were conditioned with saline (filled squares) or cocaine (open squares), and glutamate was released from the mThal. (B) Amplitude of asEPSCs elicited in Sr²⁺-replaced aCSF. (n/N = 7/4 saline; 7/4 cocaine). (C) Left, the NMDAR component is normalized to the AMPAR-EPSC. Scale bars denote 100 pA and 50 ms. Right, cocaine exposure increased NMDAR/AMPAR at mThal-D1(-) synapses (p < 0.05). (n/N = 8/8 saline; 8/8 cocaine). (D) CV-NMDAR (CV-N) normalized to CV-AMPAR (CV-A). Cocaine conditioning decreased CV-N/CV-A at mThal-D1(-) NAc core synapses (p < 0.01). (E) Left, isolated NMDAR current-voltage relationship. Scale bars denote 50 pA and 50 ms. Right, summary data of NMDAR current-voltage relationships. (n/N = 7/5 saline; 7/4 cocaine).



Figure 24. Cocaine experience does not alter PFC-D1(-) synapses. (A) D1(-) neurons were targeted in slices prepared 10-14 days after mice were conditioned with saline (filled triangles) or cocaine (open triangles), and glutamate was released from PFC. (B) asEPSC amplitude of PFC-D1(-) synapses. (n/N = 9/4 saline; 7/4 cocaine). (C) Left, dual component EPSCs obtained at -70 mV and +40 mV. Scale bars denote 100 pA and 50 ms. Right, summary data of NMDAR/AMPAR ratios. (n/N = 8/5 saline; 14/8 cocaine). (D) CV-NMDAR normalized to CV-AMPAR. (E) Left, isolated NMDAR current-voltage relationship. Scale bars denote 50 pA and 50 ms. Right, summary data of NMDAR of NMDAR current-voltage relationships. (n/N = 6/3 saline; 5/3 cocaine).

3.7 Functional Upregulation of GluN2C/D at mThal-D1(+) Synapses

Following Cocaine Experience

In order to investigate the cocaine-induced changes in NMDAR currentvoltage relationship, we utilized the positive allosteric modulator CIQ (Mullasseril et al., 2010; Ogden et al., 2014) to probe GluN2C/2D function. Washing on CIQ exerted no effect on the size of the mThal AMPAR EPSCs on D1 MSNs from either cocaine-treated mice or controls (Figure 25B, page 102), so we proceeded to assess isolated NMDAR currents in low-Mg²⁺ aCSF containing NBQX (Figure 20C). Application of CIQ did not affect mThal-D1(+) NMDAR-EPSCs from control animals (96.0 ± 9.2%, Figure 25D), but potentiated NMDAR currents at mThal-D1(+) synapses from cocaine-conditioned mice (130.3 ± 12.0%, p < 0.05 vs. sal).

To confirm that the effect of CIQ occurs in standard, Mg^{2+} -containing aCSF, we examined NMDAR/AMPAR ratios in a separate set of slices (Figure 25E). In control D1 MSNs, mThal NMDAR/AMPAR was not affected by the presence of CIQ (Figure 25F). However CIQ generated an increase in mThal NMDAR/AMPAR in D1 MSNs from cocaine-conditioned animals, (aCSF: 0.394 ± 0.030 vs CIQ: 0.531 ± 0.044, p < 0.05). To further investigate the contribution of GluN2C-containing NMDARs, we isolated NMDAR-EPSCs in the presence of d-cycloserine, a GluN2C-preferring agonist (Dravid et al., 2010; Seif et al., 2015; Sheinin et al., 2001). Bath application of d-cycloserine abrogated the cocaine-induced alteration in NMDAR current-voltage relationship at mThal-D1(+) synapses (Figure 26, page 103). The findings from these convergent

pharmacological experiments are consistent with the interpretation that cocaine exposure enhanced the function of GluN2C-containing NMDARs.



Figure 25. CIQ application reveals GluN2C/D function following cocaine experience. (A) Acute NAc core slices were prepared 2 weeks after mice were conditioned for 5 days with saline or cocaine. D1(+) neurons were targeted and glutamate was released at terminals from the mThal. (B) CIQ, a GluN2C/D positive allosteric modulator, did not alter EPSC amplitude after mice were treated with either saline (filled squares) or cocaine (open squares). (n/N = 4/3 saline; 3/3 cocaine). (C) Representative traces. Isolated NMDAR-EPSCs were elicited in low-Mg2+ aCSF and NBQX. Scale bars denote 100 pA and 50 ms. (D) Bath application of CIQ potentiated mThal-D1(+) NMDAR-EPSCs following cocaine experience. (n/N = 5/3 saline; 6/3 cocaine). (E) Representative traces. The NMDAR component was normalized to the AMPAR-EPSC in the presence of CIQ or aCSF. Scale bars denote 100 pA and 50 ms. (F) Left, CIQ did not affect mThal-D1(+) NMDAR/AMPAR in control slices. (n/N = 5/3 CSF; 7/3 CIQ). Right, CIQ enhanced NMDAR/AMPAR at mThal-D1(+) NAc core synapses following in vivo cocaine experience (p < 0.05). (n/N = 6/3 CSF; 6/3 CIQ).



Figure 26. Inclusion of d-cycloserine in aCSF abrogates cocaine-induced difference in mThal-D1(+) NMDAR function. The NMDAR current-voltage relationship was assessed by eliciting isolated NMDAR-EPSCs at 20 mV steps and normalizing to the maximum outward current for each cell. D-cycloserine (10 μ M) was added to the aSCF. Left, optically-evoked mThal-D1(+) NMDAR current-voltage plot. Right, electrically-evoked non-specific D1(+) NMDAR current-voltage plot. (n = 5-7 / N = 3 per group).

3.8 Cocaine Experience Unmasks NMDAR-dependent LTD at mThal-

D1(+) NAc Core Synapses

Synaptic plasticity is commonly accepted as a substrate for learning and memory. Metaplasticity is an adaptation that promotes greater dynamic change in synaptic strength and connectivity. After determining that cocaine alters the stoichiometry of mThal-D1(+) NMDARs, we sought to test their function by analyzing synaptically-evoked NMDAR-dependent long-term plasticity (Brebner et al., 2005; Ma et al., 2014; Pascoli et al., 2012). In slices from mThal-ChR2 mice, 1

Hz 470 nm light stimulation for 10 minutes (low frequency stimulation; LFS) did not decrease the EPSC amplitude in D1(+) NAc core MSNs (sal: 94.0 \pm 7.6%, Figures 27A-27D, page 105). However, LFS induced LTD of mThal-D1(+) EPSCs in slices from cocaine-conditioned mice (coc: 68.1 \pm 6.2%, p < 0.05 vs. sal). Bath application of D-AP5 during LFS blocked LTD in D1(+) MSNs from cocaine-treated animals (92.6 \pm 10.7%, Figure 28, page 106), corroborating an NMDAR-dependent mechanism of LTD. Since we observed that cocaine exposure induced changes in NMDAR function at a moderately depolarized holding potential, we paired the LFS with depolarization and expected to observe enhanced NMDAR function. Indeed paired LFS induced greater LTD at mThal-D1(+) synapses from cocaine-conditioned animals (sal: 83.9 \pm 9.1% vs coc: 54.2 \pm 7.5%, p < 0.05, Figures 27E-G). These data provide further evidence that cocaine experience alters NMDAR function at mThal-D1(+) NAc core synapses and identify a circuit-based substrate underlying pathophysiological learning and memory processes.



Figure 27. Cocaine exposure unmasks NMDAR-dependent synaptic plasticity in NAc core at mThal synapses on D1(+) neurons. (A) Top, schematic of behavioral conditioning and circuit-specific approach. Bottom, representative traces displaying low frequency stimulation (LFS: 1 Hz) of mThal-specific EPSCs at resting and depolarized holding potentials. (B) Representative LTD experiments following 10 minutes mThal-specific LFS. LFS exerted no effect on mThal-D1(+) EPSC amplitude in control cells (black) but induced LTD in D1(+) MSNs from cocaine-conditioned mice (grey). (C) Summary time course of NMDAR-LTD. (n/N = 7/7 saline; 8/7 cocaine). (D) Left, representative traces from the baseline (pre) and final 10 minutes of recording (post). Right, average EPSC amplitude during last 10 minutes. Cocaine exposure permits NMDAR-LTD (p < 0.05). (E) Representative LTD experiments. mThal-specific LFS was paired with depolarization. Paired LFS generated modest LTD in control D1(+) MSNs but greater LTD in cells from cocaine-conditioned animals. (n/N = 8/6 saline; 6/5 cocaine). (F) Time course of paired NMDAR-LTD. (G) Left, representative traces from the baseline and end of LTD recording. Right, average EPSC amplitude during last 10 minutes. Cocaine LTD recording. Right, average EPSC amplitude traces from the baseline and end of LTD recording. Right, average EPSC amplitude during last 10 minutes.



Figure 28. mThal-NAc LFS generates LTD via activation of NMDARs. Recordings were made from D1(+) NAc core MSNs in slices prepared from cocaine-conditioned animals. An NMDAR antagonist (D-AP5, 50 μ M) was applied during the LTD induction period and prevented the protocol from decreasing the amplitude of the evoked mThal-D1(+) response. (n/N = 6/4).

4. Discussion

In this report we investigated AMPAR and NMDAR function across several NAc synapses, and further demonstrated that cocaine experience exerts disparate outcomes on these circuits. We highlighted changes in excitatory synaptic transmission from the mThal to the NAc core, as this overlooked projection could yield important insight into the integration of sensorimotor information towards the execution of motivated behaviors. As reported by MacAskill et al. (MacAskill et al., 2012), AMPAR function at mThal-D1(+) and mThal-D1(-) is similar to the synapses from other inputs under basal conditions. However, our results suggest differences in NMDAR function across inputs to the NAc core. We proceeded to assess how cocaine exposure and abstinence altered NAc core NMDAR function in a circuit-specific manner.

Consistent with previous reports (Dobi et al., 2011; Thomas et al., 2001), we found that cocaine exposure and withdrawal did not induce discernable

changes in electrically-evoked AMPAR or NMDAR function within the NAc core. Notably, these results differ from Jedynak et al. who noted that the same cocaine conditioning paradigm enhanced AMPAR function in the NAc core as assessed by electrically-evoked AMPAR/NMDAR and mEPSC amplitude. These discrepancies may be explained by technical differences, biology, or both. For one, Jedynak et al recorded peak isolated NMDAR currents at room temperature, whereas the values used in the present study reflect the late-phase dual component EPSC in a heated bath. As temperature is known to alter NMDAR decay kinetics (Losi et al., 2002), our methods were geared towards detecting differences in GluN2 subunit stoichiometry. Secondly, although asEPSCs and mEPSCs each reflect synaptic AMPAR function, nuanced differences between the measurements (exemplified by Thomas et al.) may explain the discrepancy in interpretations. From a biological standpoint, recordings made by Jedynak et al were performed in the medial NAc core (ML: 0.72-0.96 mm), whereas those from the present study were more lateral (ML: 1.0-1.25), and entirely dorsal to the anterior commissure. Relatively little attention has been paid to subregion-specific differences in NAc function (Al-Hasani et al., 2015; Britt et al., 2012), but these subtle anatomical/physiological gradations merit further study. Notwithstanding these minor differences, the present data emphasize the importance of considering input specificity when interrogating NAc physiology. When isolating mThal-D1(+) NAc core synapses, we observed that cocaine exposure and abstinence enhanced AMPAR function without affecting ratiometric measurements. By augmenting AMPAR function at mThal-D1(+) synapses, a previous cocaine history is expected to promote future

D1-MSN activation and associated reward-related behaviors (Lobo and Nestler, 2011), similar to inputs from the PFC, BLA, and vSub to the NAc shell (Lee et al., 2013; Ma et al., 2014; Pascoli et al., 2014, 2012).

In addition to increasing mThal-D1(+) AMPAR function, cocaine experience drove changes in NMDAR properties that enhanced their function. Specifically we found that following cocaine exposure, mThal-D1(+) NMDARs pass relatively more current at moderately hyperpolarized potentials and induce greater changes in downstream signaling. As the observed changes in NMDAR current-voltage relationship are consistent with the incorporation of GluN2C/D-containing NMDARs, we employed the GluN2C-preferring ligands, CIQ (Mullasseril et al., 2010; Ogden et al., 2014) and d-cycloserine (Dravid et al., 2010; Sheinin et al., 2001) to assess NMDAR subunit stoichiometry. CIQ selectively potentiated mThal-D1(+) isolated NMDAR EPSCs and NMDAR/AMPAR from cocaine-conditioned mice. Moreover, inclusion of d-cycloserine in the aCSF eliminated the cocaineinduced difference in NMDAR current-voltage relationship. In the context of alcohol abuse, PFC-NAc core GluN2C function has been demonstrated to promote compulsive drug-seeking (Seif et al., 2015, 2013). The present data provide the first evidence for the involvement of these NAc NMDAR receptors in psychostimulant exposure, and we speculate that the incorporation of GluN2C subunits at mThal-D1(+) synapses may be a permissive step towards the development of pathological drug-seeking behaviors. One interesting caveat is that d-cycloserine acts as an NMDAR partial antagonist when extracellular glycine concentrations are elevated (Hood et al., 1989; Krystal et al., 2011; Watson et al.,

1990), raising the possibility that NAc glycinergic transmission may be involved in the actions of cocaine (Achat-Mendes et al., 2012). Nonetheless, the convergent biophysical and pharmacological data presented here support a role for the GluN2C subunit in the pathophysiological effects of cocaine experience. However in cell lines (Paoletti et al., 2013; Siegler Retchless et al., 2012) and in NAc MSNs following alcohol intake (Seif et al., 2015, 2013), GluN2C subunits contribute to the EPSC at resting membrane potentials – a phenomenon we did not observe at mThal-D1(+) synapses. Instead our data resemble differences observed at thalamic inputs onto cortical principal neurons, which contributed greatly to the postsynaptic membrane potential and subsequent spiking (Hull et al., 2009). The unusual (but not unprecedented) difference in the current-voltage relationship suggests that cocaine experience enriches non-canonical GluN2C-containing receptors (i.e. heterotrimeric receptors) at mThal-D1(+) synapses. Testing this hypothesis requires tools not yet readily available (Paoletti and Neyton, 2007; Paoletti et al., 2013), but GluN2C-containing NMDARs represent an intriguing potential mediator of behaviors related to relapse.

At PFC-D1(+) synapses, we observed increased NMDAR/AMPAR in cocaine treated groups without a consistent change in the AMPAR-mediated component as measured by asEPSC amplitude. Further unlike the mThal-D1(+) synapses, PFC-D1(+) synapses did not exhibit any changes in NMDAR current-voltage relationship following cocaine experience. These findings suggest that cocaine experience increases NMDAR expression without altering subunit stoichiometry. Alternatively, enhancement of the NMDAR-EPSC may have been

generated by changes in the phosphorylation (Pascoli et al., 2011) and/or localization (Ghasemzadeh et al., 2009; Ortinski et al., 2013) of the receptors. A recent report demonstrated that abstinence from cocaine self-administration enhanced relapse-preventing NMDAR-dependent LTD at prelimbic PFC-NAc core synapses (Ma et al., 2014). Our data provide an explanation whereby an increase in NMDAR function provided the cell type-specific molecular mechanism required for the light-induced reversal of cocaine craving. We also found that cocaine experience had no detectable effect on AMPAR or NMDAR function at PFC-D1(-) synapses. These data support continuing translational efforts towards restoring pathophysiological changes induced on D1-expressing MSNs, and emphasize that interactions between NMDARs and D1-MSN-specific proteins provide a target for developing pharmacological therapies for addiction-related disorders.

The current body of literature supports the view that the majority of druginduced adaptive changes in synaptic function occur in D1(+) and not D1(-) MSNs in the NAc (Lobo and Nestler, 2011). To the best of our knowledge, only one report has illustrated that psychostimulant exposure induced a change in AMPAR or NMDAR function at D1(-)/D2(+) NAc core MSNs (Bock et al., 2013). However, experiments following ablation (Durieux et al., 2009), transient inhibition (Bock et al., 2013), or activation (Bock et al., 2013; Lobo et al., 2010) of D2(+) NAc MSNs provide compelling evidence that these neurons do modulate the behavioral responses to psychostimulants. Our data indicate that excitatory synaptic transmission onto D1(-) MSNs is affected by cocaine experience, as we observed enhanced NMDAR/AMPAR at mThal-D1(-) synapses. This finding is

fundamentally different from our other observations of enhanced NMDAR function: the change in mThal-D1(-) NMDAR/AMPAR was accompanied by a decrease in CV-N/CV-A, suggestive of an increased proportion of silent synapses. Previous findings demonstrated that cocaine-generated silent synapses are important for persistent adaptations but exist themselves only temporarily (T. E. Brown et al., 2011; Huang et al., 2009b; Lee et al., 2013; Ma et al., 2014). Our data are the first to suggest that some populations of NAc silent synapses may persist beyond short-term abstinence. One intriguing hypothesis is that mThal-D1(-) silent synapses provide a substrate for subsequent strengthening of mThal-to-NAc core D1(-) MSN connectivity that might promote resilience to drug-seeking (Bock et al., 2013). In sum, the changes we described not only uncovered novel molecular processes and circuitry affected by cocaine experience, but provide mechanistic explanations for several impactful recent findings.

5. **Coefficient of Variation Analysis**

C	ia	1	2
Г	IQ		J

Table 2

		mThal	PFC	BLA	Two-way ANOVA
		0.227 ±	0.141 ±	0.170 ±	Input: F (2, 59) = 10.46,
	0.025	0.017	0.019	p < 0.0001	
		0.243 ±	0.140 ±	0.174 ±	Cell type: $F = 0.14$,
D1 (-)		0.026	0.016	0.019	Interaction: $F = 0.09$

CV-A D1 (+)	0.206 ±	0.144 ±	0.168 ±	Input: F (2, 59) = 4.55,	
	0.023	0.010	0.017	p < 0.02	
		0.226 ±	0.183 ±	0.150 ±	Cell type: F = 0.71,
DT (-)	0.025	0.025	0.019	Interaction: $F = 1.03$	

Fig 14

		electric		
		saline	cocaine	
	CV-N	0.204 ±	0.182 ±	
DT (+)		0.033	0.013	
		0.169 ±	0.170 ±	
	CV-A	0.020	0.020	
		0.050	0.400	

	CV-A	0.236 ± 0.030*	0.166 ± 0.016*
UT (-)		0.067	0.036
	CV N	0.258 ±	0.180 ±

CV-A

0.023*

Figs 15-18		mT	hal	PFC		
		saline	cocaine	saline	cocaine	
D1 (+)	CV-N	0.216 ± 0.017	0.186 ± 0.034	0.149 ± 0.015	0.133 ± 0.016	
	CV-A	0.213 ± 0.016	0.197 ± 0.039	0.159 ± 0.022	0.133 ± 0.014	
D1 (-)	CV-N	0.224 ±	0.172 ±	0.167 ±	0.178 ±	
		0.029	0.022	0.025	0.031	
		0.198 ±	0.279 ±	0.133 ±	0.141 ±	

0.028*

Table 2. Isolated CV analysis. CV of optically-evoked EPSCs in NAc core vary based upon input but not MSN type. Cocaine experience alters CV-A at D1(-) MSNs. BLA, basolateral amygdala; CV, coefficient of variation; CV-A, CV of AMPAR-EPSC; CV-N, CV of NMDAR component; mThal, midline nuclei of the thalamus; PFC, prefrontal cortex.

0.017

0.017



Figure 29. CV-NMDAR (CV-N) and AMPAR (CV-A) components of the circuit-specific EPSCs in NAc core. For both CV-N and CV-A, a two-way ANOVA revealed a main effect of input but the targeted cell type or an interaction. Inputs from the mThal displayed a greater CV-N and CV-A than inputs from the PFC and BLA (*: p < 0.05, ***: p < 0.001, post-tests). As depicted in Figure 1, the ratio of CV-N/CV-A was not different than 1 for any circuit under basal conditions. (n = 10-13 / N = 5-10 per group).

Across isolated inputs to the NAc core, we observed significant differences in AMPAR-CV and in NMDAR-CV, irrespective of MSN type or an interaction (Figure 29). According to quantal theory of neurotransmission (Kerchner and Nicoll, 2008), CV is inversely proportional to *n* (the number of synapses recruited) and *p* (presynaptic release probability), or collectively as n^*p (quantal content). These data may suggest that mThal inputs display low quantal content relative to the PFC and BLA, however several caveats and confounds impair a clean interpretation. For one, these data cannot resolve whether differences may be due to *n*, *p*, or both. We did not measure the percentage of neurons expressing ChR2 in the mThal/PFC/BLA or the density of fibers reaching the NAc, so differences in expression fidelity could underlie variability in CV. Although we did not make rigorous evaluations, we consistently observed that mThal-NAc ChR2-EYFP

expression appeared brighter than that of NAc terminals from the PFC or BLA. Lower light intensities were also required to titer mThal-specific stimulation to yield EPSCs with small amplitudes (100 - 600 pA). Controlling stimulation parameters in this way is important for the interpretation of synaptic AMPAR and NMDAR properties. However we may have artificially decreased measurable quantal content relative to the other inputs, consistent with the greater CV we obtained from mThal inputs. With the exception of cocaine-conditioned mThal-D1(-) synapses, no population displayed a CV-NMDAR/CV-AMPAR different from 1. These data are consistent with the prevailing hypothesis that the adult NAc harbors minimal silent synapses under basal conditions (Lee and Dong, 2011). Examining CV-AMPAR and CV-NMDAR separately affirmed those findings. The isolated analyses also determined that electrically-evoked quantal content of AMPARcontaining synapses may actually increase on D1(-) MSNs following cocaine experience, however caution must be exercised when interpreting these data (*: p < 0.05, t-test).

6. In vivo optogenetics

We aimed to test a causal link between mThal-specific potentiation and locomotor sensitization (see Pascoli et al., 2012), by applying mThal-NAc NMDARdependent LTD (as characterized in Figures 27-28, pages 105-10) in vivo. Mice were injected with AAV-ChR2 or AAV-GFP in the mThal and conditioned with 5 days of cocaine or saline identically as those for electrophysiology. Midway through the abstinence period, a second surgery was performed to implant





Figure 30. Top left, Locomotor response to cocaine. Prior to the challenge dose of cocaine, mice were administered 5 injections of cocaine and sham light treatment (coc + sham, black circles), 5 injections of cocaine and mThal-NAc 1 Hz stimulation (coc + LFS, blue circles), or 5 injections of saline and mThal-NAc 1 Hz stimulation (sal + LFS, filled black circles). Top right, Sensitization index (Locomotor activity of challenge injection normalized to Day 1) computed for groups that received prior cocaine exposure. Lower left, representative images of brain slices from two experimental mThal-NAc ChR2-EYFP mice with overlaid placement of fiberoptic cannulae.

chronically indwelling fiberoptic cannulae in the NAc core (relative to bregma, ML: \pm 1.0, AP: 1.3, DV -4.0). On day 14, we applied 600 4-ms pulses at 1 Hz through the fiberoptic cannulae in the home cage. After the procedure and 30 minutes rest, mice were re-exposed to a challenge dose of cocaine and their locomotor activity was monitored, but no effect of the light treatment was observed (Figure 30). An unfortunate caveat to this and many in vivo optogenetic approaches is that a negative result is difficult to interpret. ChR2-EYFP expression in NAc axon terminals as well as cannulae placement were confirmed after all included experiments.

CHAPTER VI

DISCUSSION

1. Summary

The rewarding and reinforcing properties of cocaine and other drugs of abuse are largely mediated by activity within the NAc, a key component of the mesolimbic dopamine system. Excitation of neurons in the NAc has been described as the final common pathway for natural rewards and drugs of abuse (Joffe et al., 2014; Kalivas et al., 2005). Additionally, persistent drug- and withdrawal-induced synaptic changes in the NAc are thought to underlie the generation of maladaptive behaviors observed in addiction (Grueter et al., 2012). Synaptic plasticity involving NMDARs is being recognized as an important process in the development of addiction-like behaviors, but much remains to be learned about the specific circuitry involved. The work described in this dissertation adds to the literature by providing the first thorough account of drug-related changes to the mThal-NAc pathway as well as evidence for the contribution of D1(+) GluN2C-containing NMDARs to relapse-related behaviors.

1.1 D1 MSNs

To examine synapses from specific NAc core inputs, we recorded lightevoked EPSCs from acute brain slices following viral-mediated expression of ChR2 in the mThal, PFC, or BLA. To identify NAc MSN subtypes we utilized mice

expressing tdTomato driven by the D1R promoter, and we recorded AMPAR and NMDAR properties to evaluate synaptic adaptations induced by cocaine experience, a 5-day cocaine exposure followed by 2-weeks of abstinence. Cocaine experience induced contrasting changes in AMPAR and NMDAR properties at mThal-D1(+), mThal-D1(-), and PFC-D1(+) synapses, while PFC-D1(-) iGluR properties were unaffected. At mThal-D1(+) synapses, we demonstrated that cocaine alters the NMDAR current-voltage relationship and enhances NMDAR-dependent synaptic plasticity, consistent with an upregulation of GluN2C-containing NMDARs.

We uncovered that cocaine exposure induced long-term changes in NMDAR function on D1(+) NAc core MSNs at two distinct inputs. Interestingly these changes were qualitatively different. For one, enhanced NMDAR function at mThal-D1 synapses was accompanied by an increase in quantal size, whereas AMPAR function in the PFC-D1 circuit appeared unaffected. Secondly cocaine exposure altered the NMDAR current-voltage relationship at mThal-D1 synapses but not at PFC-D1, and further pharmacological experiments implicated GluN2C-containing NMDARs in this phenomenon. To assess whether NMDARs on D1R-expressing MSNs contribute to reward-related behaviors, we generated cell type-specific deletions by targeting the obligatory GluN1 subunit. Despite expressing typical cocaine reward learning, D1-GluN1^{-/-} mice displayed a pronounced impairment of reinstatement, which suggests that these specific NMDARs may underlie susceptibility to relapse following cocaine exposure and abstinence.

Certainly, further experiments are required to ascertain causative relationships. For one, based on these experiments alone it is unclear that D1-NMDARs in the NAc core underlie reinstatement to cocaine seeking. Several complimentary approaches could be taken to evaluate this concern. For one site-directed viral-mediated manipulations of NMDAR function would provide enhanced spatial and temporal resolution. Rescuing reinstatement of cocaine CPP in D1-GluN1^{-/-} mice by viral delivery of Cre-dependent *Grin1* to the NAc would address two concerns inherent to the genetic deletion: poor regional specificity and potential gross developmental abnormalities. On the other hand, a Cre-dependent viral-mediated knock-down would circumvent both of these concerns, but may not provide the sufficient efficiency required to observe behavioral effects. RNA interference directed at the GluN2C subunit (Seif et al., 2013) could yield valuable mechanistic insight potentially corroborating the observed electrophysiological changes.

A second approach would utilize in vivo optogenetics. We characterized that cocaine exposure unmasks NMDAR-dependent LTD at mThal-D1(+) synapses. Ma et al., 2014 described a similar phenomenon at inputs from the PFC and went on to demonstrate that its application in vivo altered incubation for cocaine-seeking. Applying such protocols in the NAc core prior to reinstatement for CPP would test that these specific NMDAR-dependent modifications are required for pathophysiological behavior, and we could control for cell type-specificity by also performing the experiment in GluN1^{-/-} mice. We could combine this approach with

subunit-specific pharmacology (Acker et al., 2011; Costa et al., 2009; Lozovaya et al., 2014) to pinpoint the involvement of GluN2C-containing NMDARs

Despite these potential follow up experiments, an unresolved question would remain. Do NMDAR-dependent modifications in the NAc ultimately promote relapse or is NMDAR function itself required for the expression of maladaptive relapse-like behavior? Put another way, what is the final common pathway of the final common pathway: AMPAR function or NMDAR function? In reality, this is likely a false dichotomy. Several recent experiments have used in vivo LTD protocols to demonstrate that depotentiation of NAc excitatory synapses prevents relapse-like behaviors (Lee et al., 2013; Ma et al., 2014; Pascoli et al., 2014, 2012). The conclusions drawn from these experiments have been that abnormal NAc AMPAR function subserves reinstatement, but the impact of these LFS protocols on NMDAR function (and mGluR function) has been ignored. Conventional wisdom dictates that AMPAR function is more fluid, but the surface expression and localization of NMDARs is dynamically regulated nonetheless (Papouin et al., 2012). With the present research and other recent accounts (Seif et al., 2015, 2013), we hope the hypothesis that NAc NMDAR function promotes addiction-like behavior is more thoroughly tested.

Some of the most meaningful data from this work may be that cocaine exposure increases the function of mThal-D1-NMDARs at resting potentials. Even when the MSN was clamped near a typical MSN resting membrane potential, we could generate NMDAR-dependent LTD at mThal-D1(+) synapses following cocaine conditioning. Pharmacological experiments confirmed upregulation of

GluN2C-containing NMDARs, however the change in the current-voltage relationship was admittedly unusual. In cell lines, GluN1/GluN2C homodimers typically pass more current at all hyperpolarized potentials, including those near the resting membrane potential (Paoletti et al., 2013). In contrast to canonical data, the change in the current-voltage relationship we observed occurred specifically at moderately hyperpolarized potentials (e.g. -30 mV). There are several possible hypotheses that could explain the unique change we observed. For one, proteinprotein interactions and/or modifications that affect NMDAR current-voltage relationship (Chen and Huang, 1992; Lu et al., 1999) could be affected by a prior cocaine experience. Second, local concentrations of Mg²⁺ could be altered following cocaine. And finally, although the tools to best test this hypothesis are lacking (Paoletti and Neyton, 2007), triheteromeric NMDARs with uncharacterized biophysical properties could be assembling in the NAc core. In fact, we have obtained preliminary evidence that points towards the GluN2B subunit as a key regulator of voltage dependence in the NAc core.

1.1.1 Verification of Cell Type-specific GluN2B Deletions

We generated cell type-specific deletions of the GluN2B subunit by crossing mice expressing Grin2B^{lox/lox} with D1- and A2A-BAC-Cre mice, in an analogous strategy as to the GluN1^{-/-} lines. However for the electrophysiological verification of this line, we also crossed these mice to Ai9 mice, which contain a Cre-inducible tdTomato construct under control of the ubiquitously expressed Rosa26 promotor. Therefore for the verification of Glun2B^{-/-}, MSNs in the NAc core were A2A(+) and

A2A(-) MSNs were assumed equivalent to D1(-) and D1(+) MSNs respectively. GluN2B-containing NMDARs exhibit longer decay kinetics than GluN2A counterparts, therefore we isolated NMDAR-EPSCs from targeted MSNs to evaluate the specificity of the genetic deletions. Indeed NMDAR-EPSCs from both D1-Glun2B^{-/-} and A2A-Glun2B^{-/-} MSNs exhibited faster decay times than WT control cells (Figure 31).



Figure 31. GluN2B deletions reduce NMDAR decay kinetics. Isolated NMDAR currents were evoked at +40 mV. Genetic deletion of GluN2B increased the time to decay 50% in both D1 (A) and A2A (B) NAc core MSNs. (*: p < 0.05, **: p < 0.01, t-tests).

We also analyzed the I-V relationship of NMDAR EPSCs. In cell lines GluN1/GluN2B homodimers display similar I-V relationships to GluN1/GluN2A receptors. Surprisingly we observed that genetic deletion of GluN2B from NAc core MSNs altered the current-voltage relationship of NMDAR EPSCs at both D1 and A2A cell types (Figure 32, page 122). Subsequent post tests revealed differences in moderately hyperpolarized resting potentials, similar to the change we described following cocaine exposure at mThal-D1 synapses. Although rigorous examination of heterotrimeric receptors in native systems has proven elusive, the collective findings in this dissertation suggest that GluN1/GluN2B/GluN2C NMDARs may

assemble in NAc core MSNs. Further biochemical and functional experiments are needed to test this hypothesis.



Figure 32. GluN2B genetic deletions modulate NMDAR current-voltage relationships. Current-voltage relationship of NMDAR currents in D1 (a) or A2A (b) NAc core MSNs. All currents are normalized to the peak current elicited at +40 mv. Control MSNs display characteristic inward rectification at hyperpolarized potentials. Knockout of GluN2B from either D1 or A2A MSNs further decreases the current passed at hyperpolarized potentials (**: p < 0.01, ***: p < 0.001, Bonferonni post tests). n = 6-7/group.

1.1.2 Assessment of Cocaine Reward Learning in GluN2B^{-/-} Mice

To examine how MSN GluN2B signaling modulates the rewarding properties of cocaine, we performed cocaine CPP. We used a modified one-pairing procedure to assess submaximal reward learning. Following the pretest on day 1, mice were conditioned on day 2 with one pairing of cocaine (20 mg/kg, i.p.) in the less-preferred context. On day 3 mice were given free access to both sides of the chamber, and the increase in time spent was taken as an index of cocaine reward. We observed a modest degree of cocaine CPP in WT mice (127 ± 50 s, p < 0.05,

Figure 33A) and no differences were observed across genotypes (F(2, 31) = 0.1282, n.s.). We then followed up with 3 additional pairings of cocaine and vehicle, which generates maximal CPP in our laboratory. Again, and consistent with the data we obtained with GluN1^{-/-} mice, all groups of mice exhibited CPP to a similar degree (F(2, 34) = 0.4594, n.s., Figure 33B), indicating that cell type-specific GluN2B function is not required for the acquisition of cocaine CPP.



Figure 33. Expression and maintenance of cocaine CPP in GluN2B^{-/-}. (A) Submaximal cocaine CPP following one pairing of 20 mg/kg cocaine. (B) Saturated CPP following 4 total cocaine pairings. (C) Maintenance of cocaine CPP after 4 weeks. D1-GluN2B^{-/-} mice exhibit enhanced retention of cocaine CPP relative to WT and A2A-GluN2B^{-/-} (**: p < 0.01, Bonferonni post tests). (D) CPP at maintenance time point relative to expression test. WT and A2A - GluN2B^{-/-} mice lost cocaine CPP 4 weeks after 4 weeks elapsed whereas D1-GluN2B^{-/-} mice retained memory (**: p < 0.01, Bonferonni post tests). N = 8-10/group.

NAc GluN2B-expressing silent synapses have been implicated in the development of long-term behavioral effects of cocaine (i.e. incubation of cocaineseeking). Therefore we sought to measure the maintenance of reward-related memory as assessed by retention of CPP 4 weeks later. Interestingly we observed a main effect of genotype on the maintenance of cocaine CPP at 4 weeks (F(2, 23) = 8.186, p < 0.01, Figure 33C). Follow-up comparisons revealed that D1-Glun2B^{-/-} mice exhibited enhanced CPP at 4 weeks relative to WT controls and A2A-Glun2B^{-/-} (D1: 384 \pm 59 s vs WT: 121 \pm 40 s, p < 0.01; A2A: 112 \pm 63 s, p < 0.01). Differences at an intermediate 2-week time point were not observed (data not shown). We proceeded to compare the 4 week time point to the original test session in order to evaluate whether D1-Glun2B^{-/-} mice exhibit "incubation" of cocaine reward or resistance to memory weakening (Figure 33D). At 4 weeks following the test session, WT mice displayed a reduction in cocaine CPP (Maint: 121 ± 40 s vs Test: 303 ± 34 s, p < 0.01). In contrast, 4 weeks elapsed time did not affect the CPP exhibited by D1-GluN1^{-/-} mice (Maint: 384 \pm 59 s vs Test: 278 \pm 41 s, n.s.). Similar to WT mice, A2A -Glun2B^{-/-} mice displayed a loss of cocaine CPP over the 4 week period (Maint: 112 ± 63 s vs Test: 237 ± 51 s, p < 0.01). Taken together these data suggest that loss of GluN2B function specifically from D1-expressing cells enhances long-term maintenance of cocaine reward memory. This phenomenon could arise from impairment of a memory weakening machinery or the initial formation of a more persistent memory.

The finding that D1-GluN2B function promotes the weakening of reward memory raises an interesting question about the cocaine-conditioned changes we

observed in NMDAR biophysical properties at mThal-D1(+) NAc core synapses. Does enhanced NMDAR function drive "forgetting" or extinction learning of reward memories? Perhaps instead of contributing to the likelihood of relapse, the enhanced expression of GluN2C-containing NMDARs serves as a feedback mechanism. In that case, the unmasked LTD we observed may be analogous to a process that occurs endogenously over the following weeks or months to attenuate long-term effects of cocaine exposure. Although much less is known about GluN2C-containing NMDARs, GluN2B subunits in other brain regions have been implicated in behavioral flexibility (Brigman et al., 2013; Dalton et al., 2011) and the extinction of fear (Dalton et al., 2012; Sotres-Bayon et al., 2009) and drug (Otis et al., 2014) memories. Together, these data suggest the possibility that NMDARs containing GluN2B (and potentially GluN2C/D) assemble after highly salient experiences and act to weaken, extinguish, or even reverse those memories.

The incubation of cocaine seeking in operant tasks has been characterized as requiring the presence of GluA2-lacking AMPARs (Conrad et al., 2008; Lee et al., 2013; Loweth et al., 2014, 2013; Ma et al., 2014). We hypothesize that GluA2lacking AMPARs assemble in NAc MSNs following loss of GluN2B function, and thus promote the maintenance or "incubation" of the cocaine CPP memory. Their formation would be expected to increase the persistence of the cocaine-related memory duration and could explain the enhanced maintenance of the memory at 4 weeks. Alternatively, a more durable reward memory could have been formed due to enhanced connectivity, consistent with the finding that GluN2B knockdown increased the number of synaptic contacts In developing CA1 pyramidal neurons

(in contrast to GluN2A knockdown which modulated quantal size) (Gray et al., 2011). NAc NMDAR activity is generally considered to be a key player in the acquisition of reward-related memories and behaviors, but clearly, more experiments need to be performed to address whether NAc NMDARs act to enhance extinction or drive reinstatement (or both!). Cell type-specific deletions of NMDARs represent an attractive tool set to carefully craft studies that examine the electrophysiological, biochemical, and morphological changes induced in NAc MSNs by rewarding experiences.

1.2 A2A MSNs

Consistent with the literature (Bock et al., 2013; Dobi et al., 2011; Pascoli et al., 2014, 2012), we observed that cocaine exposure induced modest electrophysiological effects on D1(-) MSNs. For one, no differences between the cocaine and control groups were identified following local electrical or PFC-specific stimulation. However when eliciting glutamate release from mThal afferents, we observed that cocaine exposure induced changes most consistent with the incorporation of silent synapses. Silent synapses express functional NMDARs in the absence of AMPAR currents (Malenka and Nicoll, 1997) and are likely pivotal substrates for future plasticity due to their abilities to undergo major changes in synaptic strength (Kerchner and Nicoll, 2008). Despite the finding that cocaine exposure upregulates NMDAR function at mThal-D1(-) synapses, neither A2A-specific genetic deletion of GluN1 nor GluN2B affected cocaine reward learning as assessed by CPP. We speculate that these silent synapses may mature following

longer durations of cocaine exposure, drug self-administration, or coadministration with an aversive stimulus. For example, a recent report demonstrated that neither passive cocaine administration nor self-administration of a moderate-high dose of cocaine induced changes in AMPAR function on A2A NAc MSNs (Terrier et al., 2015). However long access self-administration of a very high dose (1.5 mg/kg/inf), which likely has some aversive properties, did drive increases in GluA2-lacking AMPAR function on A2A MSNs. As suggested by other studies (Lee et al., 2013; Ma et al., 2014), GluN2B-enriched silent synapses may exist as a necessary intermediate. Therefore the silent synapses generated at mThal-D1(-) NAc synapses could provide an essential transition step between initial cocaine exposure and addiction-like behaviors such as punishment-resistant drug seeking

In contrast to reward-related behaviors, A2A-NMDARs do modulate behavioral despair. Specifically A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice displayed less immobility in the TST and FST relative to WT controls. These results are consistent with a report from Schwartz et al., 2014 who demonstrated that the expression of anhedonia following chronic pain requires NMDAR-mediated plasticity on A2A MSNs. The present data provide evidence that even short-term stress-related behavioral adaptations may necessarily proceed through A2A-NMDARs. Functional experiments must be performed in order to assess the basal state of A2A-GluN1^{-/-} mice and how NMDAR and AMPAR function in the NAc is affected by acute stressors. The mThal nuclei are highly interconnected with stress-related structures such as the BNST and BLA (Li and Kirouac, 2012; Penzo et al., 2015;

Phillipson, 1988; Vertes and Hoover, 2008), and represent an excellent candidate source of glutamate promoting behavioral despair and anhedonia. Future experiments should be directed at the potential role of the mThal-NAc pathway in responses to stress and the expression of anhedonia.

The present data provide further evidence for divergent behavioral influences exerted by D1 and A2A MSNs. A natural extension of this work is to examine how MSN efferent projections, and related inhibitory synaptic plasticity, regulate long-term behavioral adaptations related to stress and reward. Of particular interest is the VP, which receives input from both D1 and A2A MSN types (Kupchik et al., 2015). In turn, the VP sends projections to the mediodorsal thalamus (MD) (Donnell et al., 1997; Groenewegen, 1988; Mogenson et al., 1987). The MD then sends projections to the lateral NAc and ventral caudate-putamen (Berendse and Groenewegen, 1990; Cheatwood et al., 2003), producing a lateralizing ascending spiral analogous to the serial reciprocal circuits that link the midbrain and striatum (Belin and Everitt, 2008; Haber et al., 2000). Despite increased awareness of VP regulation of affective states and reward behaviors, much remains to be learned about the circuit-level logic that integrates NAc projections to the VP.

In the dorsal and ventral striatum, MSNs have been classically dichotomized by protein expression and anatomy. Conventional wisdom dictated that D1-expressing, striatonigral MSNs project to the midbrain ("direct pathway"), while A2A/D2-expressing, striatopallidal MSNs project to pallidal regions ("indirect pathway"), and exert differential control over motor activity (Groenewegen, 2003;

Kreitzer and Malenka, 2008; Smith et al., 2013). However in recent years several studies have come to question the legitimacy of separating of "direct" and "indirect" pathway neurons, especially in the NAc (Cazorla et al., 2014a; Saunders et al., 2015). In particular Kupchik et al., 2015, demonstrated that the distinction does not apply well to NAc MSNs, in that half of VP neurons received input from D1 MSNs (almost all VP neurons received input from D2 MSNs). Moreover, VP neurons that project to the MD also received inhibitory projections from D1 MSNs. These data pose many questions about how VP neuron populations may vary based on NAc afferent, or targets, and how these different populations may be recruited by rewarding and/or aversive experiences. For example, Mahler et al. demonstrated that inhibition of rostral VP neurons (which receive projections from the NAc shell), but not caudal VP neurons (which receive projections from the NAc core), blocks the response to cocaine associated cues. We speculate that these drug cueassociated behaviors may necessarily proceed through a thalamo-striatal-pallidal loop, but this hypothesis and its mechanistic underpinnings remain to be tested.

2. Future Examinations of mThal Function

2.1 mThal-NAc Presynaptic Function

The work described in this dissertation is focused on postsynaptic changes induced by cocaine exposure, but changes to the presynaptic release machinery can play a major role in synaptic plasticity and learning and memory (Malenka and Bear, 2004). With that in mind these findings pose many questions about how glutamate release probability may be altered at mThal-NAc synapses by in vivo

cocaine exposure. Presynaptic release probability can be assessed by a variety of measures, each with their own set of caveats. These measurements include: (1) frequency of miniature EPSCs (mEPSCs), (2) paired-pulse ratios (PPR), and (3) multiple probability fluctuation analysis (MPFA). (Suska et al., 2013) demonstrated that both non-contingent and self-administered cocaine exposure enhances glutamate release probability in the NAc shell specifically from the PFC and not BLA. To date, no other thorough examinations of input-specific NAc glutamate release probability have been published in peer-reviewed journals. However Neumann et al presented that cocaine self-administration enhanced release probability at PVT-NAc shell synapses at the most recent Society for Neuroscience Annual Meeting (Neumann PA, Graziane N, Huang YH, Xu W, Sesack SR, Nestler EJ, Schluter OM, 2015).

To further probe drug-related changes in presynaptic release machinery, future studies should examine short- and long-term synaptic plasticity. Within the striatum several neurotransmitter receptors participate in presynaptic plasticity, including CB1R, Group II mGluRs, and opioid receptors. These receptors decrease presynaptic release probability through Gi/o-proteins, whose signaling acts to inhibit cAMP production, interfere with SNARE complexes, and modulate a host of potassium and calcium channels. As a first assessment of mechanisms that regulate mThal-NAc presynaptic release probability, we elected to study the function of CB1R.

2.1.1 CB1R

To assess canonical CB1R-mediated short-term plasticity, we examined DSE from targeted MSNs (Shonesy et al., 2013). DSE occurs when depolarization of the clamped postsynaptic neuron generates a retrograde feedback signal that temporarily dampens presynaptic glutamate release. While we did not confirm a CB1R mechanism underlying LTD at these synapses, DSE has never been demonstrated to occur through other signaling pathways. When selectively releasing glutamate from mThal terminals, we successfully elicited DSE on both D1(+) and D1(-) MSNs (Figure 34A, page 132). A two-way ANOVA revealed a main effect of time (F(35, 175) = 7.429, p < 0.0001), as well as a significant interaction between time and cell type (F(35, 175) = 1.617, p < 0.05), likely owing to differences in the initial magnitude of the short term plasticity. DSE can also be elicited at both NAc core MSN types following PFC-specific or local electrical stimulation (data not shown).

To test that in vivo cocaine experience modulates presynaptic short-term plasticity, we elicited mThal-specific DSE from MSNs prepared from mice with a cocaine history or saline controls. When recording from mThal-D1(+) NAc core synapses, saline control cells exhibited a similar degree of DSE to non-conditioned naïve controls. However prior cocaine treatment increased the magnitude of short-term depression induced by DSE (coc: $62.4 \pm 4.4\%$ vs. sal: $75.8 \pm 2.7\%$, p < 0.05, Figure 34B). In contrast, DSE generated at mThal-D1(-) synapses was unaffected by prior cocaine history (coc: $60.9 \pm 3.2\%$ vs. sal: $56.2 \pm 5.0\%$, n.s., Figure 34C). After 4 weeks abstinence, the short-term depression at mThal-D1(+) synapses

returns to control values (coc: 69.1 \pm 4.1% vs. sal: 74.3 \pm 2.8%, n.s., data not shown).



Figure 34. Cocaine exposure enhances mThal-D1(+) depolarization-induced suppression of excitation (DSE). (A) DSE can be elicited from mThal projections to both D1(+) and D1(-) MSNs in NAc core. (n = 4 D1(+); 3 D1(-)). (B) Abstinence from cocaine exposure enhances DSE at mThal-D1(+) synapses (*: p < 0.05). (n/N = 5/3 saline; 6/3 cocaine). (C) Summary mThal-D1(-) DSE from naïve controls, saline controls, and cocaine-conditioned mice. (n/N = 7/4 saline; 8/4 cocaine).

These data describe an additional means by which cocaine exposure perturbs normal function of mThal-D1(+) synapses. Enhanced DSE at mThal-D1(+) synapses is consistent with the increase in quantal size observed insofar as potentiated synapses are expected to permit greater relative short-term depressions. An alternative intriguing hypothesis is that tonic eCB or opioid production may normally occlude DSE at mThal-NAc synapses. Consistently, cocaine exposure has been shown to impair mGlu₅-mediated eCB production at these or nearby synapses (Fourgeaud et al., 2004; Grueter et al., 2010; Swanson et al., 2001; Szumlinski et al., 2004). If following cocaine exposure tonic mGlu₅-dependent eCB production is lost, but activity-dependent eCB production remains, we would expect to observe an enhancement of DSE. Future experiments will be

needed to assess the mechanism of this short-term plasticity and to contrast the molecular mediators with those in the mGlu₅-CB1R-TRPV1 pathway.

2.1.2 mGlu_{2/3}

Other regulators of glutamate release relevant to drug abuse behaviors and found in NAc terminals are the Group II mGluRs, mGlu₂ and mGlu₃. These targets have received significant attention in recent years (Johnson and Lovinger, 2015; Moussawi and Kalivas, 2010), and mGlu₂-selective positive allosteric modulators (PAMs) represent exciting potential clinical candidates (Salih et al., 2015). Two parallel recent studies have demonstrated than a selective mGlu₂ PAM inhibits drug-seeking behaviors in both rats (Caprioli et al., 2015) and squirrel monkeys (Justinova et al., 2015), but a better understanding of the relevant neurocircuitry is required to tailor treatments and mitigate off-target effects.

Inhibition of glutamate release by Group II mGluRs have been observed throughout the limbic system (Grueter et al., 2005; Liechti et al., 2007; Robbe et al., 2002). In the NAc, Group II mGluR-mediated depression of synaptic transmission occurs with a concomitant increase in PPR and specific reduction of mEPSC frequency, consistent with a presynaptic site of action (Manzoni et al., 1997). Perfusion of an mGlu_{2/3} antagonist increases glutamate efflux in the NAc (Xi et al., 2002), suggestive of tonic a basal level of activation from tonic glutamate levels. Throughout the corticolimbic system, exposure to drugs of abuse has been shown to uncouple mGlu_{2/3} from G-proteins (Liechti et al., 2007), likely through activator of G-protein signaling 3. Thus mGlu_{2/3} receptors carefully buffer

glutamate release, and their impairment by drug exposure may be related to behavioral inflexibility observed in clinical populations.

The PVT nucleus expresses very high levels of Group II mGluRs, especially mGlu₂ (Ohishi et al., 1998, 1993; Petralia et al., 1996). Functionally, mGlu_{2/3} activation has been shown to reduce excitability of PVT neurons through coupling to potassium channels, but their role at mThal-NAc terminals and in drug-related behaviors remains known. However we hypothesize that positive allosteric modulation of mGlu_{2/3} attenuates neurotransmission at mThal-NAc core synapses and contributes to the observed anti-relapse behavioral effects. Furthermore, although the pharmacology used in historical studies was non-selective, newly developed compounds (i.e. mGlu₃ NAMs) permit the demarcation of Group II mGluR function (Walker et al., 2015; Wenthur et al., 2013) , and the testing of exciting hypotheses with translational relevance.

2.1.3 Opioid Receptors

As currently described, the opioid system consists of four distinct receptorligand systems (Mu, Delta, Kappa, and opioid receptor like-1), each of which have demonstrated action in the NAc (Al-Hasani and Bruchas, 2011). As the target of heroin and morphine, the Mu opioid receptor (MOR) is well known for its role in reward and reinforcement. One well-known dichotomy in striatal opioid signaling is that D1 MSNs express dynorphin (KOR agonist) whereas A2A/D2 MSNs express enkephalin (DOR agonist) (Le Moine et al., 1990; Lobo and Nestler, 2011). However the site of action of these peptides remains unclear, as the receptors are
expressed on multiple striatal cell types as well as on various axon terminals in the region. Within the dorsal striatum, recent research has demonstrated that Delta opioid receptor (DOR) mRNA expression colocalizes with *Drd2*, whereas MOR transcript is found in both MSN types, but to a greater degree in D1 MSNs (Banghart et al., 2015; Cui et al., 2014).

In humans MOR availability is greater in the thalamus than other MORexpressing brain regions (Sprenger et al., 2005), and in the rat the PVT nucleus contains the highest levels of MOR immunoreactivity in the thalamus. The mThal is enriched with transcripts for MOR and KOR, but not DOR. Additionally, agonists of MOR, but not DOR, have been shown to directly hyperpolarize mThal neurons (Brunton and Charpak, 1998). Consistent with these early findings, a recent paper from the lab of David Lovinger (Atwood et al., 2014) demonstrated that in the dorsal striatum, MOR-LTD is expressed specifically at excitatory inputs from the thalamus but not from the motor cortex. In contrast, DOR-LTD was expressed at motor cortex terminals but not at projections from the thalamus. Furthermore thalamostriatal MOR-LTD was lost in the dorsal striatum following in vivo morphine exposure, and similar opioid signaling has been observed in the NAc (Hoffman and Lupica, 2001). These findings suggest that maladaptive opioid signaling at mThal-NAc terminals may underlie some of the behavioral effects of drugs of abuse. Although these findings raise many questions about opioid signaling at mThal-NAc synapses, this area of research remains largely unexplored.

One intriguing hypothesis is that the opioid systems may induce divergent behavioral effects in part through their actions on distinct elements of striatal

circuitry. For example recent work by Al-Hasani et al., 2015, demonstrated that, through KOR, stimulation of dynorphinergic NAc shell neurons can be either rewarding or aversive based on dorsal-ventral location. Afferents to the NAc are known to exhibit differential patterns of innervation along various anatomical gradients (Britt et al., 2012; Friedman et al., 2002; Phillipson and Griffiths, 1985). As KOR activation can inhibit neurons in the anterior PVT (Chen et al., 2015), one potential explanation is that the aversive actions of dynorphin are mediated through inhibition of PVT afferents to the ventral shell, but that KOR receptors in the dorsal shell promote reward through an alternative source of glutamate. Circuit-specific opioid signaling in the NAc remains a fascinating area of research, with implications for the regulation of complex behaviors and unresolved mechanisms of circuit-level and cellular signaling

2.2 mThal Neuron Function

In general, much remains to be learned about how the function of mThal neurons is altered following drug-related experiences in vivo. Little is known about the excitability of these neurons, and even less is known about the synaptic physiology of the inputs into this region. For simplicity, this discussion will be restricted to cover the PV, which has been the best characterized of the mThal nuclei. However future studies aimed at examining the PT and other mThal nuclei are certainly warranted.

2.2.1 Synaptic Physiology

Early anatomical studies showed that the PVT receives projections from hindbrain regions that are associated with function of the autonomous nervous system (Chen and Su, 1990; Cornwall and Phillipson, 1988). The PVT receives major input from the PFC and insular cortices, as well as relatively minor input from the BNST and amygdalae (Groenewegen, 1988; Li and Kirouac, 2012; Vertes et al., 2015). Additionally, the PVT receives dense afferents from several distinct hypothalamic areas (Matzeu et al., 2014), including orexininergic neurons important for the regulation of arousal and food reward (Hsu et al., 2014). Although it is known that the PVT is activated following salient experiences like drug exposure and stress (Bubser and Deutch, 1999; Penzo et al., 2015; Young and Deutch, 1998), the contributions of its afferents remain unresolved. Furthermore, whether durable memories are encoded by these salient experiences merits investigation.

In addition to fast neurotransmission, the PVT receives substantial piptidergic input, especially from regions of the hypothalamus. For example, the action of cocaine- and amphetamine-related transcript (CART) has been demonstrated to attenuate cocaine-primed reinstatement (James et al., 2010), potentially though its ability to suppress spontaneous transmission in the PVT (Yeoh et al., 2014). In contrast, PVT orexinergic transmission is thought to promote relapse (Hsu et al., 2014) in part through depolarization of PVT neurons (Ishibashi et al., 2005). These findings illustrate that PVT neuron activity plays a role in promoting drug-seeking, but raise many questions about the underlying molecular

and cellular specificity. Are all PVT neurons responsive to CART and orexins or are they distinguished by projection target? Which nuclei provide the neuropeptides, and at which synapses does CART inhibit fast neurotransmission? Do salient experiences in vivo alter the action of neuropeptides in the PV? These types of questions have not been asked in the PV, and future experiments will need to be directed at examining the function of fast neurotransmitters and neuromodulators in a mechanistic, circuit-directed approach.

2.2.2 Neuron Differentiation

There are several appropriate ways to tease apart PVT neuron function, however the approaches are not as straightforward as in the striatum and other limbic regions. For one the PVT is not believed to contain classical inhibitory interneurons, as expression of neither GABA nor parvalbumin was observed in the medial thalamus (Bentivoglio et al., 1991). Most PVT neurons are believed to express glutamate or aspartate as excitatory neurotransmitters (Arcelli et al., 1996; Christie et al., 1987), but many neurons in the region were found to contain neither. Some reports have found the expression of neuropeptides including enkephalin and galanin in the PVT (Arluison et al., 1994; Melander et al., 1986), but it remains to be tested whether these are co-expressed by glutamatergic projections or in some other population(s) of neurons. A combination of genetic and viral approaches, as well as targeted electrophysiology would be best suited to interrogating the function of potentially distinct PVT populations.

Another means of segregating PVT populations is through anatomy. For example, some PVT neurons project to the NAc, some project to the PFC, and some project to both (Otake and Nakamura, 1998). A dual retrograde viral approach could be taken to label each of these populations in order to examine functional differences in excitability, synaptic physiology, protein expression, and transcription. Examining the transcriptomics of PVT neurons based on anatomy is an exciting approach that could yield insight into PVT subpopulations. For example, ribosomal proteins tagged with HA can be introduced in a Cre-dependent manner and subsequently exploited for cell-type specific ChIP/qRT-PCR (Quintana et al., 2012). Driving Cre expression to target subpopulations defined by genetics (e.g. *Penk*-Cre) or projection target (e.g. NAc-RV-Cre) are promising avenues towards untangling PVT circuit function.

3. Conclusion

A growing hypothesis in the field, which this body of work supports, is that the striatal balancing act is not bidirectional for drug-related behaviors. That is, drugs of abuse exert more pronounced changes onto D1 MSNs, and changes in the A2A pathway may have little effect on drug-conditioned behaviors due to a lack of subsequent circuit-level changes. There are several non-exclusive potential mechanistic explanations. For one, while we and others have demonstrated the importance of striatal D1-NMDAR signaling, NMDARs may not generate the most prominent form of synaptic plasticity on A2A MSNs. In the NAc core and dorsal striatum, eCB-mediated plasticity has been documented on A2A MSNs, whereas

it is absent on D1 MSNs (Grueter et al., 2010; Kreitzer and Malenka, 2007). Cocaine-induced synaptic modifications may therefore proceed preferentially through NMDARs on D1 MSNs but through eCB signaling on A2A MSNs. Additionally, A2A MSNs may not play a major role in psychostimulant-related behaviors due to anatomy. A2A NAc MSNs send inhibitory projections primarily to the ventral pallidum (VP), but the VP also receives substantial innervation from D1 NAc MSNs (Kupchik et al., 2015). These projections may lie such that following psychostimulant administration, D1 MSN activity dominates the circuit-level logic and precludes small changes in A2A MSN function from being observed at the behavioral level. An exciting hypothesis is that VP neurons receiving projections from both MSN classes are involved in stimulant/locomotor-based behaviors, while those innervated strictly by A2A MSNs are involved in affective behaviors. Future experiments will need to be directed towards the targets of these A2A MSNs to examine the mechanistic basis of responses to stressful and reward-related stimuli. A combination of biochemistry and slice and in vivo electrophysiology, would be ideal to uncover how NMDAR signaling in each MSN population guides behavioral outcomes at the circuit level.

While the studies presented in this dissertation illuminate mThal-NAc projections as important for the persistent behavioral effects of cocaine exposure, much work needs to be continued to evaluate this circuitry in the regulation of long-term memories related to drug abuse and other motivational disorders. At mThal-D1(+) NAc core synapses, the metaplastic adaptations induced by cocaine facilitate GluN2C function and subsequent signaling. As its expression is limited in

the striatum and forebrain (Paoletti et al., 2013), modulation of GluN2C represents a potential novel treatment strategy for cocaine use disorders that may exert few off target effects. Additionally, because cocaine experience unmasks NMDAR-LTD at mThal-D1(+) NAc core synapses, a deep brain stimulation-like approach might be suitable for restoring synaptic function and generating beneficial behavioral outcomes without grossly affecting striatal circuity. Despite being largely overlooked in recent years, the mThal-NAc circuit clearly merits further investigation for its involvement in the pathophysiology of addiction and other psychiatric disorders. The circuits described in this dissertation provide an opportunity for the development of deep brain stimulation-like approaches to treat drug abuse disorders, and the unique molecular players identified could serve as viable targets for a pharmacological approach. In sum these studies simultaneously build upon the existing literature and drive the field forward towards a better understanding of addiction pathophysiology.

REFERENCES

- Achat-Mendes, C., Nic Dhonnchadha, B.Á., Platt, D.M., Kantak, K.M., Spealman, R.D., 2012. Glycine Transporter-1 Inhibition Preceding Extinction Training Inhibits Reacquisition of Cocaine Seeking. Neuropsychopharmacology 1, 2837–2845. doi:10.1038/npp.2012.155
- Acker, T.M., Yuan, H., Hansen, K.B., Vance, K.M., Ogden, K.K., Jensen, H.S., Burger, P.B., Mullasseril, P., Snyder, J.P., Liotta, D.C., Traynelis, S.F., 2011. Mechanism for noncompetitive inhibition by novel GluN2C/D N-methyl-Daspartate receptor subunit-selective modulators. Mol. Pharmacol. 80, 782– 95. doi:10.1124/mol.111.073239
- Al-Hasani, R., Bruchas, M.R., 2011. Molecular Mechanisms of Opioid Receptordependent Signaling and Behavior. Anesthesiology 115, 1363–1381. doi:10.1097/ALN.0b013e318238bba6
- Al-Hasani, R., Mccall, J.G., Kash, T.L., Rogers, J.A., Bruchas, M.R., Shin, G., Gomez, A.M., Schmitz, G.P., Bernardi, J.M., Pyo, C.-O., Park, S. II, Marcinkiewcz, C.M., Crowley, N.A., Krashes, M.J., Lowell, B.B., 2015.
 Distinct Subpopulations of Nucleus Accumbens Dynorphin Neurons Drive Aversion and Reward. Neuron 87, 1063–1077. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2015.08.019
- Allen, P.B., Zachariou, V., Svenningsson, P., Lepore, A.C., Centonze, D., Costa, C., Rossi, S., Bender, G., Chen, G., Feng, J., Snyder, G.L., Bernardi, G., Nestler, E.J., Yan, Z., Calabresi, P., Greengard, P., 2006. Distinct roles for spinophilin and neurabin in dopamine-mediated plasticity. Neuroscience 140, 897–911. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2006.02.067
- Alleweireldt, A.T., Hobbs, R.J., Taylor, A.R., Neisewander, J.L., 2006. Effects of SCH-23390 infused into the amygdala or adjacent cortex and basal ganglia on cocaine seeking and self-administration in rats. Neuropsychopharmacology 31, 363–374. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1300794
- Amato, R.J., Felts, A.S., Rodriguez, A.L., Venable, D.F., Morrison, R.D., Byers, F.W., Daniels, J.S., Niswender, C.M., Conn, P.J., Lindsley, C.W., Jones, C.K., Emmitte, K.A., 2013. Substituted 1-Phenyl-3-(pyridin-2-yl)urea negative allosteric modulators of mGlu5: discovery of a new tool compound VU0463841 with activity in rat models of cocaine addiction. ACS Chem. Neurosci. 4, 1217–28. doi:10.1021/cn400070k
- Arcelli, P., Frassoni, C., Regondi, M.C., Biasi, S. De, Spreafico, R., 1996.
 GABAergic neurons in mammalian thalamus: A marker of thalamic complexity? Brain Res. Bull. 42, 27–37. doi:10.1016/S0361-9230(96)00107-4
- Arnsten, A.F.T., 2009. Toward a new understanding of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder pathophysiology: an important role for prefrontal cortex

dysfunction. CNS Drugs 23, 33–41. doi:10.2165/00023210-200923000-00005

- Atwood, B.K., Kupferschmidt, D. a, Lovinger, D.M., 2014. Opioids induce dissociable forms of long-term depression of excitatory inputs to the dorsal striatum. Nat. Neurosci. 17, 540–8. doi:10.1038/nn.3652
- Bagot, R.C., Parise, E.M., Peña, C.J., Zhang, H.-X., Maze, I., Chaudhury, D., Persaud, B., Cachope, R., Bolaños-Guzmán, C. a., Cheer, J., Deisseroth, K., Han, M.-H., Nestler, E.J., 2015. Ventral hippocampal afferents to the nucleus accumbens regulate susceptibility to depression. Nat. Commun. 6, 7062. doi:10.1038/ncomms8062
- Banghart, M.R., Neufeld, S.Q., Wong, N.C., Sabatini, B.L., 2015. Enkephalin Disinhibits Mu Opioid Receptor-Rich Striatal Patches via Delta Opioid Receptors. Neuron 1–13. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2015.11.010
- Baptista, M.A.S., Martin-Fardon, R., Weiss, F., 2004. Preferential effects of the metabotropic glutamate 2/3 receptor agonist LY379268 on conditioned reinstatement versus primary reinforcement: comparison between cocaine and a potent conventional reinforcer. J. Neurosci. 24, 4723–7. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0176-04.2004
- Bardo, M.T., Bevins, R.A., 2000. Conditioned place preference: what does it add to our preclinical understanding of drug reward? Psychopharmacology (Berl). 153, 31–43.
- Bari, A.A., Pierce, R.C., 2005. D1-like and D2 dopamine receptor antagonists administered into the shell subregion of the rat nucleus accumbens decrease cocaine, but not food, reinforcement. Neuroscience 135, 959–68. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2005.06.048
- Belin, D., Balado, E., Piazza, P.V., Deroche-Gamonet, V., 2009. Pattern of intake and drug craving predict the development of cocaine addiction-like behavior in rats. Biol. Psychiatry 65, 863–8. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.05.031
- Belin, D., Berson, N., Balado, E., Piazza, P.V., Deroche-Gamonet, V., 2011. High-novelty-preference rats are predisposed to compulsive cocaine selfadministration. Neuropsychopharmacology 36, 569–79. doi:10.1038/npp.2010.188
- Belin, D., Everitt, B.J., 2008. Cocaine seeking habits depend upon dopaminedependent serial connectivity linking the ventral with the dorsal striatum. Neuron 57, 432–41. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2007.12.019
- Bentivoglio, M., Spreafico, R., Alvarezbolado, G., Sanchez, M.P., 1991. Differential expression of the GABAA receptor complex in the dorsal thalamus and reticular nucleus - an immunohistochemical study in the adult and developing rat 3, 118–125.
- Berendse, H.W., Groenewegen, H.J., 1990. Organization of the thalamostriatal projections in the rat, with special emphasis on the ventral striatum. J. Comp. Neurol. 299, 187–228. doi:10.1002/cne.902990206

- Bertran-Gonzalez, J., Bosch, C., Maroteaux, M., Matamales, M., Hervé, D., Valjent, E., Girault, J.-A., 2008. Opposing patterns of signaling activation in dopamine D1 and D2 receptor-expressing striatal neurons in response to cocaine and haloperidol. J. Neurosci. 28, 5671–85. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1039-08.2008
- Beutler, L.R., Wanat, M.J., Quintana, A., Sanz, E., Bamford, N.S., Zweifel, L.S., Palmiter, R.D., 2011. Balanced NMDA receptor activity in dopamine D1 receptor (D1R)- and D2R-expressing medium spiny neurons is required for amphetamine sensitization. PNAS 108, 4206–11.
- Bibb, J.A., Chen, J., Taylor, J.R., Svenningsson, P., Nishi, A., Snyder, G.L., Yan, Z., Sagawa, Z.K., Ouimet, C.C., Nairn, A., Nestler, E.J., Greengard, P., 2001. Effects of chronic exposure to cocaine are regulated by the neuronal protein Cdk5. Nature 410, 376–80. doi:10.1038/35066591
- Bird, M.K., Lawrence, A.J., 2009. Group I metabotropic glutamate receptors: involvement in drug-seeking and drug-induced plasticity. Curr. Mol. Pharmacol. 2, 83–94.
- Blednov, Y.A., Harris, R.A., 2009. Deletion of vanilloid receptor (TRPV1) in mice alters behavioral effects of ethanol. Neuropharmacology 56, 814–20.
- Bock, R., Shin, J.H., Kaplan, A.R., Dobi, A., Markey, E., Kramer, P.F., Gremel, C.M., Christensen, C.H., Adrover, M.F., Alvarez, V.A., 2013. Strengthening the accumbal indirect pathway promotes resilience to compulsive cocaine use. Nat. Neurosci. 16, 632–638.
- Bocklisch, C., Pascoli, V., Wong, J.C.Y., House, D.R.C., Yvon, C., de Roo, M., Tan, K.R., Lüscher, C., 2013. Cocaine disinhibits dopamine neurons by potentiation of GABA transmission in the ventral tegmental area. Science (80-.). 341, 1521–5. doi:10.1126/science.1237059
- Boileau, I., Payer, D., Houle, S., Behzadi, A., Rusjan, P.M., Tong, J., Wilkins, D., Selby, P., George, T.P., Zack, M., Furukawa, Y., McCluskey, T., Wilson, A. a, Kish, S.J., 2012. Higher binding of the dopamine D3 receptor-preferring ligand [11C]-(+)-propyl-hexahydro-naphtho-oxazin in methamphetamine polydrug users: a positron emission tomography study. J. Neurosci. 32, 1353–9. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4371-11.2012
- Bossert, J.M., Busch, R.F., Gray, S.M., 2005. The novel mGluR2/3 agonist LY379268 attenuates cue-induced reinstatement of heroin seeking. Neuroreport 16, 1013–6.
- Boudreau, A.C., Reimers, J.M., Milovanovic, M., Wolf, M.E., 2007. Cell surface AMPA receptors in the rat nucleus accumbens increase during cocaine withdrawal but internalize after cocaine challenge in association with altered activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases. J. Neurosci. 27, 10621–35. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2163-07.2007
- Boudreau, A.C., Wolf, M.E., 2005. Behavioral sensitization to cocaine is associated with increased AMPA receptor surface expression in the nucleus accumbens. J. Neurosci. 25, 9144–51. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2252-

05.2005

- Boyson, S.J., McGonigle, P., Molinoff, P.B., 1986. Quantitative autoradiographic localization of the D1 and D2 subtypes of dopamine receptors in rat brain. J. Neurosci. 6, 3177–3188.
- Brebner, K., Wong, T.P., Liu, L., Liu, Y., Campsall, P., Gray, S., Phelps, L., Phillips, A.G., Wang, Y.T., 2005. Nucleus accumbens long-term depression and the expression of behavioral sensitization. Science (80-.). 310, 1340–3. doi:10.1126/science.1116894
- Brigman, J.L., Daut, R.A., Wright, T., Gunduz-Cinar, O., Graybeal, C., Davis,
 M.I., Jiang, Z., Saksida, L.M., Jinde, S., Pease, M., Bussey, T.J., Lovinger,
 D.M., Nakazawa, K., Holmes, A., 2013. GluN2B in corticostriatal circuits
 governs choice learning and choice shifting. Nat. Neurosci.
 doi:10.1038/nn.3457
- Brigman, J.L., Wright, T., Talani, G., Prasad-Mulcare, S., Jinde, S., Seabold, G.K., Mathur, P., Davis, M.I., Bock, R., Gustin, R.M., Colbran, R.J., Alvarez, V. a, Nakazawa, K., Delpire, E., Lovinger, D.M., Holmes, A., 2010. Loss of GluN2B-containing NMDA receptors in CA1 hippocampus and cortex impairs long-term depression, reduces dendritic spine density, and disrupts learning. J. Neurosci. 30, 4590–600. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0640-10.2010
- Britt, J.P., Benaliouad, F., Mcdevitt, R.A., Stuber, G.D., Wise, R.A., Bonci, A., 2012. Synaptic and Behavioral Profile of Multiple Glutamatergic Inputs to the Nucleus Accumbens. Neuron 76, 790–803.
- Brog, J.S., Salyapongse, A., Deutch, A.Y., Zahm, D.S., 1993. The patterns of afferent innervation of the core and shell in the "accumbens" part of the rat ventral striatum: Immunohistochemical detection of retrogradely transported fluoro-gold. J. Comp. Neurol. 338, 255–278. doi:10.1002/cne.903380209
- Brown, A.L., Flynn, J.R., Smith, D.W., Dayas, C. V, 2011. Down-regulated striatal gene expression for synaptic plasticity-associated proteins in addiction and relapse vulnerable animals. Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol. 14, 1099–110. doi:10.1017/S1461145710001367
- Brown, M.T.C., Tan, K.R., O'Connor, E.C., Nikonenko, I., Muller, D., Lüscher, C., 2012. Ventral tegmental area GABA projections pause accumbal cholinergic interneurons to enhance associative learning. Nature 492, 452–6. doi:10.1038/nature11657
- Brown, T.E., Lee, B.R., Mu, P., Ferguson, D., Dietz, D., Ohnishi, Y.N., Lin, Y., Suska, A., Ishikawa, M., Huang, Y.H., Shen, H., Kalivas, P.W., Sorg, B.A., Zukin, R.S., Nestler, E.J., Dong, Y., Schlüter, O.M., 2011. A silent synapsebased mechanism for cocaine-induced locomotor sensitization. J. Neurosci. 31, 8163–74. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0016-11.2011
- Browning, J.R., Browning, D.A., Maxwell, A.O., Dong, Y., Jansen, H.T., Panksepp, J., Sorg, B.A., 2011. Positive affective vocalizations during cocaine and sucrose self-administration: a model for spontaneous drug

desire in rats. Neuropharmacology 61, 268–75. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2011.04.012

- Browning, J.R., Jansen, H.T., Sorg, B.A., 2014. Inactivation of the paraventricular thalamus abolishes the expression of cocaine conditioned place preference in rats. Drug Alcohol Depend. 134, 387–90. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2013.09.021
- Brunton, J., Charpak, S., 1998. mu-Opioid peptides inhibit thalamic neurons. J. Neurosci. 18, 1671–8.
- Bubser, M., Deutch, A.Y., 1999. Stress induces Fos expression in neurons of the thalamic paraventricular nucleus that innervate limbic forebrain sites. Synapse 32, 13–22. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1098-2396(199904)32:1<13::AID-SYN2>3.0.CO;2-R
- Burgdorf, J., Knutson, B., Panksepp, J., Shippenberg, T.S., 2001. Evaluation of rat ultrasonic vocalizations as predictors of the conditioned aversive effects of drugs. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 155, 35–42.
- Cahill, E., Pascoli, V., Trifilieff, P., Savoldi, D., Kappès, V., Lüscher, C., Caboche, J., Vanhoutte, P., 2014. D1R/GluN1 complexes in the striatum integrate dopamine and glutamate signalling to control synaptic plasticity and cocaineinduced responses. Mol. Psychiatry 1–10. doi:10.1038/mp.2014.73
- Caine, S.B., Heinrichs, S.C., Coffin, V.L., Koob, G.F., 1995. Effects of the dopamine D-1 antagonist SCH 23390 microinjected into the accumbens, amygdala or striatum on cocaine self-administration in the rat. Brain Res. 692, 47–56.
- Caine, S.B., Koob, G.F., 1994. Effects of dopamine D-1 and D-2 antagonists on cocaine self-administration under different schedules of reinforcement in the rat. JPET 270, 209–18.
- Capriles, N., Rodaros, D., Sorge, R.E., Stewart, J., 2003. A role for the prefrontal cortex in stress- and cocaine-induced reinstatement of cocaine seeking in rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 168, 66–74. doi:10.1007/s00213-002-1283-z
- Caprioli, D., Venniro, M., Zeric, T., Li, X., Adhikary, S., Madangopal, R., Marchant, N.J., Lucantonio, F., Schoenbaum, G., Bossert, J.M., Shaham, Y., 2015. Effect of the novel positive allosteric modulator of metabotropic glutamate receptor 2 AZD8529 on incubation of methamphetamine craving after prolonged voluntary abstinence in a rat model. Biol. Psychiatry 78, 463–473. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.02.018
- Cazorla, M., de Carvalho, F.D., Chohan, M.O., Shegda, M., Chuhma, N., Rayport, S., Ahmari, S.E., Moore, H., Kellendonk, C., 2014a. Dopamine D2 receptors regulate the anatomical and functional balance of basal ganglia circuitry. Neuron 81, 153–64. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2013.10.041
- Cazorla, M., de Carvalho, F.D., Chohan, M.O., Shegda, M., Chuhma, N., Rayport, S., Ahmari, S.E., Moore, H., Kellendonk, C., 2014b. Dopamine D2

receptors regulate the anatomical and functional balance of basal ganglia circuitry. Neuron 81, 153–64. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2013.10.041

- Cheatwood, J.L., Reep, R.L., Corwin, J. V, 2003. The associative striatum: cortical and thalamic projections to the dorsocentral striatum in rats. Brain Res. 968, 1–14. doi:10.1002/cne.10868
- Chen, B.T., Yau, H.-J., Hatch, C., Kusumoto-Yoshida, I., Cho, S.L., Hopf, F.W., Bonci, A., 2013. Rescuing cocaine-induced prefrontal cortex hypoactivity prevents compulsive cocaine seeking. Nature 496, 359–362. doi:10.1038/nature12024
- Chen, J., Nye, H.E., Kelz, M.B., Hiroi, N., Nakabeppu, Y., Hope, B.T., Nestler, E.J., 1995. Regulation of delta FosB and FosB-like proteins by electroconvulsive seizure and cocaine treatments. Mol. Pharmacol. 48, 880– 889.
- Chen, S., Su, H. Sen, 1990. Afferent connections of the thalamic paraventricular and parataenial nuclei in the rat - a retrograde tracing study with iontophoretic application of Fluoro-Gold. Brain Res. 522, 1–6. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(90)91570-7
- Christie, M.J., Summers, R.J., Stephenson, J.A., Cook, C.J., Beart, P.M., 1987. Excitatory amino acid projections to the nucleus accumbens septi in the rat: A retrograde transport study utilizing d[3H]aspartate and [3H]GABA. Neuroscience 22, 425–439. doi:10.1016/0306-4522(87)90345-9
- Conrad, K.L., Tseng, K.Y., Uejima, J.L., Reimers, J.M., Heng, L.-J., Shaham, Y., Marinelli, M., Wolf, M.E., 2008. Formation of accumbens GluR2-lacking AMPA receptors mediates incubation of cocaine craving. Nature 454, 118– 21. doi:10.1038/nature06995
- Cornier, M.-A., Mcfadden, K.L., Thomas, E.A., Bechtell, J.L., Eichman, L.S., Bessesen, D.H., Tregellas, J.R., 2013. Differences in the neuronal response to food in obesity-resistant as compared to obesity-prone individuals. Physiol. Behav. 111, 122–128.
- Cornwall, J., Phillipson, O.T., 1988. Afferent projections to the dorsal thalamus of the rat as shown by retrograde lectin transport. II. The midline nuclei. Brain Res. Bull. 21, 147–161. doi:10.1016/0361-9230(88)90227-4
- Costa, B.M., Feng, B., Tsintsadze, T.S., Morley, R.M., Irvine, M.W., Tsintsadze, V., Lozovaya, N. a, Jane, D.E., Monaghan, D.T., 2009. N-methyl-Daspartate (NMDA) receptor NR2 subunit selectivity of a series of novel piperazine-2,3-dicarboxylate derivatives: preferential blockade of extrasynaptic NMDA receptors in the rat hippocampal CA3-CA1 synapse. JPET 331, 618–626. doi:10.1124/jpet.109.156752
- Costa, V.D., Lang, P.J., Sabatinelli, D., Versace, F., Bradley, M.M., 2010. Emotional imagery: assessing pleasure and arousal in the brain's reward circuitry. Hum. Brain Mapp. 31, 1446–57. doi:10.1002/hbm.20948
- Covington, H.E., Miczek, K.A., 2003. Vocalizations during withdrawal from

opiates and cocaine: possible expressions of affective distress. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 467, 1–13.

- Creed, M., Pascoli, V.J., Lüscher, C., 2015. Refining deep brain stimulation to emulate optogenetic treatment of synaptic pathology. Science (80-.). 347, 659–664. doi:10.1126/science.1260776
- Cui, G., Jun, S.B., Jin, X., Pham, M.D., Vogel, S.S., Lovinger, D.M., Costa, R.M., 2013. Concurrent activation of striatal direct and indirect pathways during action initiation. Nature 494, 238–42. doi:10.1038/nature11846
- Cui, Y., Ostlund, S.B., James, A.S., Park, C.S., Ge, W., Roberts, K.W., Mittal, N., Murphy, N.P., Cepeda, C., Kieffer, B.L., Levine, M.S., Jentsch, J.D., Walwyn, W.M., Sun, Y.E., Evans, C.J., Maidment, N.T., Yang, X.W., 2014. Targeted expression of μ-opioid receptors in a subset of striatal directpathway neurons restores opiate reward. Nat. Neurosci. 17, 254–61. doi:10.1038/nn.3622
- Dalton, G.L., Ma, L.M., Phillips, A.G., Floresco, S.B., 2011. Blockade of NMDA GluN2B receptors selectively impairs behavioral flexibility but not initial discrimination learning. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 216, 525–35. doi:10.1007/s00213-011-2246-z
- Dalton, G.L., Wu, D.C., Wang, Y.T., Floresco, S.B., Phillips, A.G., 2012. NMDA GluN2A and GluN2B receptors play separate roles in the induction of LTP and LTD in the amygdala and in the acquisition and extinction of conditioned fear. Neuropharmacology 62, 797–806. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2011.09.001
- Der-Avakian, A., Markou, A., 2010. Withdrawal from chronic exposure to amphetamine, but not nicotine, leads to an immediate and enduring deficit in motivated behavior without affecting social interaction in rats. Behav. Pharmacol. 21, 359–68. doi:10.1097/FBP.0b013e32833c7cc8
- Deroche-Gamonet, V., Belin, D., Piazza, P.V., 2004. Evidence for addiction-like behavior in the rat. Science (80-.). 305, 1014–7. doi:10.1126/science.1099020
- Di Chiara, G., Bassareo, V., Fenu, S., De Luca, M.A., Spina, L., Cadoni, C., Acquas, E., Carboni, E., Valentini, V., Lecca, D., 2004. Dopamine and drug addiction: the nucleus accumbens shell connection. Neuropharmacology 47 Suppl 1, 227–41. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2004.06.032
- Dias, R., Robbins, T.W., Roberts, A.C., 1996. Primate analogue of the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test: effects of excitotoxic lesions of the prefrontal cortex in the marmoset. Behav. Neurosci. 110, 872–86.
- DiLeone, R.J., Taylor, J.R., Picciotto, M.R., 2012. The drive to eat: comparisons and distinctions between mechanisms of food reward and drug addiction. Nat. Neurosci. 15, 1330–5. doi:10.1038/nn.3202
- Dobi, A., Seabold, G.K., Christensen, C.H., Bock, R., Alvarez, V.A., 2011. Cocaine-induced plasticity in the nucleus accumbens is cell specific and

develops without prolonged withdrawal. J. Neurosci. 31, 1895–904. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5375-10.2011

- Dong, Y., Green, T., Saal, D., Marie, H., Neve, R., Nestler, E.J., Malenka, R.C., 2006. CREB modulates excitability of nucleus accumbens neurons. Nat Neurosci 9, 475–477. doi:10.1038/nn1661
- Donnell, P.O., Lavi, A., Enquist, L.W., Grace, A.A., Card, J.P., 1997. Interconnected Parallel Circuits between Rat Nucleus Accumbens and Thalamus Revealed by Retrograde Transynaptic Transport of Pseudorabies Virus 17, 2143–2167.
- Dravid, S.M., Burger, P.B., Prakash, A., Geballe, M.T., Yadav, R., Le, P., Vellano, K., Snyder, J.P., Traynelis, S.F., 2010. Structural determinants of Dcycloserine efficacy at the NR1/NR2C NMDA receptors. J. Neurosci. 30, 2741–2754. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5390-09.2010
- Durieux, P.F., Bearzatto, B., Guiducci, S., Buch, T., Waisman, A., Zoli, M., Schiffmann, S.N., de Kerchove d'Exaerde, A., 2009. D2R striatopallidal neurons inhibit both locomotor and drug reward processes. Nat. Neurosci. 12, 393–5. doi:10.1038/nn.2286
- Edwards, S., Koob, G.F., 2012. Psychiatric Disorders, Psychiatric Disorders: Methods and Protocols, Methods in Molecular Biology. Humana Press, Totowa, NJ. doi:10.1007/978-1-61779-458-2
- Erb, S., Salmaso, N., Rodaros, D., Stewart, J., 2001. A role for the CRFcontaining pathway from central nucleus of the amygdala to bed nucleus of the stria terminalis in the stress-induced reinstatement of cocaine seeking in rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 158, 360–365. doi:10.1007/s002130000642
- Erb, S., Shaham, Y., Stewart, J., 2001. Stress-induced relapse to drug seeking in the rat: role of the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis and amygdala. Stress 4, 289–303.
- Everitt, B.J., Wolf, M.E., 2002. Psychomotor stimulant addiction: a neural systems perspective. J. Neurosci. 22, 3312–20. doi:20026356
- Fink, J.S., Weaver, D.R., Rivkees, S.A., Peterfreund, R.A., Pollack, A.E., Adler, E.M., Reppert, S.M., 1992. Molecular cloning of the rat A2 adenosine receptor: selective co-expression with D2 dopamine receptors in rat striatum. Mol. Brain Res. 14, 186–195. doi:10.1016/0169-328X(92)90173-9
- Fonio, E., Benjamini, Y., Golani, I., 2009. Freedom of movement and the stability of its unfolding in free exploration of mice. PNAS 106, 21335–21340. doi:10.1073/pnas.0812513106
- Fourgeaud, L., Mato, S., Bouchet, D., Hémar, A., Worley, P.F., Manzoni, O.J., 2004. A single in vivo exposure to cocaine abolishes endocannabinoidmediated long-term depression in the nucleus accumbens. J. Neurosci. 24, 6939–45. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0671-04.2004

Francis, T., Chandra, R., Friend, D.M., Finkel, E., Dayrit, G., Miranda, J., Brooks,

J.M., Iñiguez, S.D., O'Donnell, P., Kravitz, A., Kay Lobo, M., Chase Francis, T., Chandra, R., Friend, D.M., Finkel, E., Dayrit, G., Miranda, J., Brooks, J.M., Iñiguez, S.D., O'Donnell, P., Kravitz, A., Kay Lobo, M., 2014. Nucleus Accumbens Medium Spiny Neuron Subtypes Mediate Depression-Related Outcomes to Social Defeat Stress. Biol. Psychiatry 77, 1–10. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.07.021

- Freeman, W.M., Brebner, K., Lynch, W.J., Robertson, D.J., Roberts, D.C., Vrana, K.E., 2001. Cocaine-responsive gene expression changes in rat hippocampus. Neuroscience 108, 371–80.
- Friedman, D.P., Aggleton, J.P., Saunders, R.C., 2002. Comparison of hippocampal, amygdala, and perirhinal projections to the nucleus accumbens: combined anterograde and retrograde tracing study in the Macaque brain. J. Comp. Neurol. 450, 345–365. doi:10.1002/cne.10336
- Gangarossa, G., Espallergues, J., de Kerchove d'Exaerde, A., El Mestikawy, S., Gerfen, C.R., Hervé, D., Girault, J.-A., Valjent, E., 2013. Distribution and compartmental organization of GABAergic medium-sized spiny neurons in the mouse nucleus accumbens. Front. Neural Circuits 7, 22. doi:10.3389/fncir.2013.00022
- Gerfen, C.R., Paletzki, R., Worley, P., 2008. Differences between dorsal and ventral striatum in Drd1a dopamine receptor coupling of dopamine- and cAMP-regulated phosphoprotein-32 to activation of extracellular signalregulated kinase. J. Neurosci. 28, 7113–20. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3952-07.2008
- Ghasemzadeh, M.B., Nelson, L.C., Lu, X.Y., Kalivas, P.W., 1999. Neuroadaptations in ionotropic and metabotropic glutamate receptor mRNA produced by cocaine treatment. J. Neurochem. 72, 157–65.
- Ghasemzadeh, M.B., Permenter, L.K., Lake, R., Worley, P.F., Kalivas, P.W., 2003. Homer1 proteins and AMPA receptors modulate cocaine-induced behavioural plasticity. Eur. J. Neurosci. 18, 1645–1651. doi:10.1046/j.1460-9568.2003.02880.x
- Ghasemzadeh, M.B., Vasudevan, P., Mueller, C., 2009. Locomotor sensitization to cocaine is associated with distinct pattern of glutamate receptor trafficking to the postsynaptic density in prefrontal cortex: Early versus late withdrawal effects. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 92, 383–392. doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2008.12.004
- Gielen, M., Siegler Retchless, B., Mony, L., Johnson, J.W., Paoletti, P., 2009. Mechanism of differential control of NMDA receptor activity by NR2 subunits. Nature 459, 703–707. doi:10.1038/nature07993
- Goldstein, R.Z., Volkow, N.D., 2011. Dysfunction of the prefrontal cortex in addiction: neuroimaging findings and clinical implications. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 12, 652–69. doi:10.1038/nrn3119
- Gong, S., Doughty, M., Harbaugh, C.R., Cummins, A., Hatten, M.E., Heintz, N., Gerfen, C.R., 2007. Targeting Cre recombinase to specific neuron

populations with bacterial artificial chromosome constructs. J. Neurosci. 27, 9817–9823. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2707-07.2007

- Gong, S., Zheng, C., Doughty, M.L., Losos, K., Didkovsky, N., Schambra, U.B., Nowak, N.J., Joyner, A., Leblanc, G., Hatten, M.E., Heintz, N., 2003. A gene expression atlas of the central nervous system based on bacterial artificial chromosomes. Nature 425, 917–25. doi:10.1038/nature02033
- Gray, J.A., Shi, Y., Usui, H., During, M.J., Sakimura, K., Nicoll, R.A., 2011. Distinct Modes of AMPA Receptor Suppression at Developing Synapses by GluN2A and GluN2B: Single-Cell NMDA Receptor Subunit Deletion In Vivo. Neuron 71, 1085–1101. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2011.08.007
- Groenewegen, H.J., 2003. The Basal Ganglia and Motor Control. Neural Plast. 10, 107–120. doi:10.1155/NP.2003.107
- Groenewegen, H.J., 1988. Organization of the afferent connections of the mediodorsal thalamic nucleus in the rat, related to the mediodorsal-prefrontal topography. Neuroscience 24, 379–431. doi:10.1016/0306-4522(88)90339-9
- Grueter, B.A., Brasnjo, G., Malenka, R.C., 2010. Postsynaptic TRPV1 triggers cell type-specific long-term depression in the nucleus accumbens. Nat. Neurosci. 13, 1519–1525. doi:10.1038/nn.2685
- Grueter, B.A., McElligott, Z.A., Winder, D.G., 2007. Group I mGluRs and longterm depression: potential roles in addiction? Mol. Neurobiol. 36, 232–244. doi:10.1007/s12035-007-0037-7
- Grueter, B.A., Robison, A.J., Neve, R.L., Nestler, E.J., Malenka, R.C., 2013. ΔFosB differentially modulates nucleus accumbens direct and indirect pathway function. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 110, 1923–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.1221742110
- Grueter, B.A., Rothwell, P.E., Malenka, R.C., 2012. Integrating synaptic plasticity and striatal circuit function in addiction. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 22, 1–7. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2011.09.009
- Grueter, B.A., Winder, D.G., Grueter BA, Winder DG, 2005. Group II and III metabotropic glutamate receptors suppress excitatory synaptic transmission in the dorsolateral bed nucleus of the stria terminalis. Neuropsychopharmacology 30, 1302–1311. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1300672
- Grueter BA, McElligott ZA, Robison AJ, Mathews GC, Winder DG, Grueter, B.A., McElligott, Z.A., Robison, A.J., Mathews, G.C., Winder, D.G., 2008. In vivo metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGluR5) antagonism prevents cocaineinduced disruption of postsynaptically maintained mGluR5-dependent longterm depression. J. Neurosci. 28, 9261–70. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2886-08.2008
- Haber, S.N., Fudge, J.L., McFarland, N.R., 2000. Striatonigrostriatal pathways in primates form an ascending spiral from the shell to the dorsolateral striatum. J. Neurosci. 20, 2369–82.

- Hamlin, A.S., Clemens, K.J., McNally, G.P., 2008. Renewal of extinguished cocaine-seeking. Neuroscience 151, 659–670. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2007.11.018
- Heusner, C.L., Palmiter, R.D., 2005. Expression of mutant NMDA receptors in dopamine D1 receptor-containing cells prevents cocaine sensitization and decreases cocaine preference. J. Neurosci. 25, 6651–6657. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1474-05.2005
- Hiroi, N., Brown, J.R., Haile, C.N., Ye, H., Greenberg, M.E., Nestler, E.J., 1997.
 FosB mutant mice: loss of chronic cocaine induction of Fos-related proteins and heightened sensitivity to cocaine's psychomotor and rewarding effects.
 Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 94, 10397–402.
 doi:10.1073/pnas.94.19.10397
- Hiroi, N., Marek, G.J., Brown, J.R., Ye, H., Saudou, F., Vaidya, V. a, Duman, R.S., Greenberg, M.E., Nestler, E.J., 1998. Essential role of the fosB gene in molecular, cellular, and behavioral actions of chronic electroconvulsive seizures. J. Neurosci. 18, 6952–6962.
- Hoffman, A.F., Lupica, C.R., 2001. Direct actions of cannabinoids on synaptic transmission in the nucleus accumbens: a comparison with opioids. J. Neurophysiol. 85, 72–83.
- Hood, W.F., Compton, R.P., Monahan, J.B., 1989. D-cycloserine: a ligand for the N-methyl-D-aspartate coupled glycine receptor has partial agonist characteristics. Neurosci. Lett. 98, 91–95. doi:10.1016/0304-3940(89)90379-0
- Hsu, D.T., Kirouac, G.J., Zubieta, J.-K., Bhatnagar, S., 2014. Contributions of the paraventricular thalamic nucleus in the regulation of stress, motivation, and mood. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 8, 73. doi:10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00073
- Huang, Y.H., Lin, Y., Brown, T.E., Han, M.H., Saal, D.B., Neve, R.L., Zukin, R.S., Sorg, B.A., Nestler, E.J., Malenka, R.C., Dong, Y., 2008. CREB modulates the functional output of nucleus accumbens neurons: A critical role of Nmethyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptor (NMDAR) receptors. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 2751–2760. doi:10.1074/jbc.M706578200
- Huang, Y.H., Lin, Y., Mu, P., Lee, B.R., Brown, T.E., Wayman, G., Marie, H., Liu, W., Yan, Z., Sorg, B. a, Schlüter, O.M., Zukin, R.S., Dong, Y., 2009a. In vivo cocaine experience generates silent synapses. Neuron 63, 40–7. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2009.06.007
- Huang, Y.H., Lin, Y., Mu, P., Lee, B.R., Brown, T.E., Wayman, G., Marie, H., Liu, W., Yan, Z., Sorg, B. a, Schlüter, O.M., Zukin, R.S., Dong, Y., 2009b. In vivo cocaine experience generates silent synapses. Neuron 63, 40–47. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2009.06.007
- Hull, C., Isaacson, J.S., Scanziani, M., 2009. Postsynaptic mechanisms govern the differential excitation of cortical neurons by thalamic inputs. J. Neurosci. 29, 9127–9136. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5971-08.2009

- Ishibashi, M., Takano, S., Yanagida, H., Takatsuna, M., Nakajima, K., Oomura, Y., Wayner, M.J., Sasaki, K., 2005. Effects of orexins/hypocretins on neuronal activity in the paraventricular nucleus of the thalamus in rats in vitro. Peptides 26, 471–481. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2004.10.014
- James, M.H., Charnley, J.L., Jones, E., Levi, E.M., Yeoh, J.W., Flynn, J.R., Smith, D.W., Dayas, C. V., 2010. Cocaine- and Amphetamine-Regulated Transcript (CART) signaling within the paraventricular thalamus modulates cocaine-seeking behaviour. PLoS One 5, e12980.
- Jedynak, J., Hearing, M., Ingebretson, A., Ebner, S.R., Kelly, M., Fischer, R.A., Kourrich, S., Thomas, M.J., 2015. Cocaine and Amphetamine Induce Overlapping but Distinct Patterns of AMPAR Plasticity in Nucleus Accumbens Medium Spiny Neurons. Neuropsychopharmacology 1–13. doi:10.1038/npp.2015.168
- Joffe, M.E., Grueter, C.A., Grueter, B.A., 2014. Biological substrates of addiction. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Cogn. Sci. 5, 151–171. doi:10.1002/wcs.1273
- Johanson, C.-E., Frey, K.A., Lundahl, L.H., Keenan, P., Lockhart, N., Roll, J., Galloway, G.P., Koeppe, R. a, Kilbourn, M.R., Robbins, T., Schuster, C.R., 2006. Cognitive function and nigrostriatal markers in abstinent methamphetamine abusers. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 185, 327–38. doi:10.1007/s00213-006-0330-6
- Johnson, K.A., Lovinger, D.M., 2015. Metabotropic Glutamate Receptor 2 Positive Allosteric Modulators: Closing the Gate on Drug Abuse ? Biol. Psychiatry 78, 436–438. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.07.008
- Jupp, B., Caprioli, D., Dalley, J.W., 2013. Highly impulsive rats: modelling an endophenotype to determine the neurobiological, genetic and environmental mechanisms of addiction. Dis. Model. Mech. 6, 302–11. doi:10.1242/dmm.010934
- Justinova, Z., Panlilio, L. V., Secci, M.E., Redhi, G.H., Schindler, C.W., Cross, A.J., Mrzljak, L., Medd, A., Shaham, Y., Goldberg, S.R., 2015. The novel metabotropic glutamate receptor 2 positive allosteric modulator, AZD8529, decreases nicotine self-administration and relapse in squirrel monkeys. Biol. Psychiatry 78, 452–462. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.01.014
- Kalivas, P.W., Alesdatter, J.E., 1993. Involvement of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor stimulation in the ventral tegmental area and amygdala in behavioral sensitization to cocaine. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 267, 486–495.
- Kalivas, P.W., Ph, D., Volkow, N.D., 2005. Reviews and Overviews The Neural Basis of Addiction : A Pathology of Motivation and Choice. Am. J. Psychiatry 1403–1413.
- Karler, R., Calder, L.D., Chaudhry, I.A., Turkanis, S.A., 1989. Blockade of "reverse tolerance" to cocaine and amphetamine by MK-801. Life Sci. 45, 599–606. doi:10.1016/0024-3205(89)90045-3
- Kasanetz, F., Deroche-Gamonet, V., Berson, N., Balado, E., Lafourcade, M.,

Manzoni, O., Piazza, P.V., 2010. Transition to addiction is associated with a persistent impairment in synaptic plasticity. Science (80-.). 328, 1709–12.

- Kasanetz, F., Lafourcade, M., Deroche-Gamonet, V., Revest, J.-M., Berson, N., Balado, E., Fiancette, J.-F., Renault, P., Piazza, P.-V., Manzoni, O.J., 2012. Prefrontal synaptic markers of cocaine addiction-like behavior in rats. Mol. Psychiatry 18, 729–37.
- Katz, J., Su, T., Hiranita, T., Hayashi, T., Tanda, G., Kopajtic, T., Tsai, S., 2011. A role for sigma receptors in stimulant self-administration and addiction. Pharmaceuticals 4, 880–914. doi:10.3390/ph4060880.A
- Katz, J.L., Higgins, S.T., 2003. The validity of the reinstatement model of craving and relapse to drug use. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 168, 21–30. doi:10.1007/s00213-003-1441-y
- Kelz, M.B., Chen, J., Carlezon, W.A., Whisler, K., Gilden, L., Beckmann, A.M., Steffen, C., Zhang, Y.J., Marotti, L., Self, D.W., Tkatch, T., Baranauskas, G., Surmeier, D.J., Neve, R.L., Duman, R.S., Picciotto, M.R., Nestler, E.J., 1999. Expression of the transcription factor deltaFosB in the brain controls sensitivity to cocaine. Nature 401, 272–6. doi:10.1038/45790
- Kerchner, G.A., Nicoll, R.A., 2008. Silent synapses and the emergence of a postsynaptic mechanism for LTP. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 9, 813–25. doi:10.1038/nrn2501
- Khibnik, L.A., Beaumont, M., Doyle, M., Heshmati, M., Slesinger, P.A., Nestler, E.J., Russo, S.J., 2015. Stress and Cocaine Trigger Divergent and Cell Type-Specific Regulation of Synaptic Transmission at Single Spines in Nucleus Accumbens. Biol. Psychiatry 1–8. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.05.022
- Koenigs, M., Huey, E.D., Calamia, M., Raymont, V., Tranel, D., Grafman, J., 2008. Distinct regions of prefrontal cortex mediate resistance and vulnerability to depression. J. Neurosci. 28, 12341–8. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2324-08.2008
- Kokras, N., Dalla, C., 2014. Sex differences in animal models of psychiatric disorders. Br. J. Pharmacol. 1–25. doi:10.1111/bph.12710
- Konradi, C., Cole, R.L., Heckers, S., Hyman, S.E., 1994. Amphetamine regulates gene expression in rat striatum via transcription factor CREB. J. Neurosci. 14, 5623–5634.
- Konradi, C., Leveque, J.C., Hyman, S.E., 1996. Amphetamine and dopamineinduced immediate early gene expression in striatal neurons depends on postsynaptic NMDA receptors and calcium. J. Neurosci. 16, 4231–9. doi:10.1016/0165-6147(80)90070-X
- Koob, G.F., Sanna, P.P., Bloom, F.E., 1998. Neuroscience of Addiction Review 21, 467–476.
- Koob, G.F., Volkow, N.D., 2010. Neurocircuitry of addiction. Neuropsychopharmacology 35, 217–38. doi:10.1038/npp.2009.110

- Kourrich, S., Rothwell, P.E., Klug, J.R., Thomas, M.J., 2007. Cocaine experience controls bidirectional synaptic plasticity in the nucleus accumbens. J. Neurosci. 27, 7921–8. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1859-07.2007
- Koya, E., Cruz, F.C., Ator, R., Golden, S. a, Hoffman, A.F., Lupica, C.R., Hope, B.T., 2012. Silent synapses in selectively activated nucleus accumbens neurons following cocaine sensitization. Nat. Neurosci. 15, 1556–62. doi:10.1038/nn.3232
- Kravitz, A. V, Freeze, B.S., Parker, P.R.L., Kay, K., Thwin, M.T., Deisseroth, K., Kreitzer, A.C., 2010. Regulation of parkinsonian motor behaviours by optogenetic control of basal ganglia circuitry. Nature 466, 622–6. doi:10.1038/nature09159
- Kravitz, A. V, Tye, L.D., Kreitzer, A.C., 2012. Distinct roles for direct and indirect pathway striatal neurons in reinforcement. Nat. Neurosci. 15, 816–8.
- Kreitzer, A.C., Malenka, R.C., 2008. Striatal Plasticity and Basal Ganglia Circuit Function. Neuron 60, 543–554. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2008.11.005
- Kreitzer, A.C., Malenka, R.C., 2007. Endocannabinoid-mediated rescue of striatal LTD and motor deficits in Parkinson's disease models. Nature 445, 643–7. doi:10.1038/nature05506
- Krystal, J.H., Petrakis, I.L., Limoncelli, D., Nappi, S.K., Trevisan, L., Pittman, B., D'Souza, D.C., Suckow, R.F., 2011. Characterization of the interactive effects of glycine and D-cycloserine in men: further evidence for enhanced NMDA receptor function associated with human alcohol dependence. Neuropsychopharmacology 36, 701–10. doi:10.1038/npp.2010.203
- Krystal, J.H., Sanacora, G., Duman, R.S., 2013. Rapid-acting glutamatergic antidepressants: The path to ketamine and beyond. Biol. Psychiatry 73, 1133–1141. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.03.026
- Kullmann, D.M., 1994. Amplitude fluctuations of dual-component EPSCs in hippocampal pyramidal cells: implications for long-term potentiation. Neuron 12, 1111–1120.
- Kuner, T., Schoepfer, R., 1996. Multiple Structural Elements Determine Subunit Specificity of Mg 2+ Block in NMDA Receptor Channels. J. Neurosci. 76, 3549–3558.
- Kupchik, Y.M., Brown, R.M., Heinsbroek, J.A., Lobo, M.K., Schwartz, D.J., Kalivas, P.W., 2015. Coding the direct/indirect pathways by D1 and D2 receptors is not valid for accumbens projections. Nat. Neurosci. 18, 1230– 1233. doi:10.1038/nn.4068
- Labouèbe, G., Liu, S., Dias, C., Zou, H., Wong, J.C.Y., Karunakaran, S., Clee, S.M., Phillips, A.G., Boutrel, B., Borgland, S.L., 2013. Insulin induces longterm depression of ventral tegmental area dopamine neurons via endocannabinoids. Nat. Neurosci. 16, 300–8. doi:10.1038/nn.3321
- Lammel, S., Lim, B.K., Malenka, R.C., 2013. Reward and aversion in a heterogeneous midbrain dopamine system. Neuropharmacology 1–9.

- Lammel, S., Lim, B.K., Ran, C., Huang, K.W., Betley, M.J., Tye, K.M., Deisseroth, K., Malenka, R.C., 2012. Input-specific control of reward and aversion in the ventral tegmental area. Nature 491, 212–7. doi:10.1038/nature11527
- Larson, E.B., Graham, D.L., Arzaga, R.R., Buzin, N., Webb, J., Green, T.A., Bass, C.E., Neve, R.L., Terwilliger, E.F., Nestler, E.J., Self, D.W., 2011. Overexpression of CREB in the nucleus accumbens shell increases cocaine reinforcement in self-administering rats. J. Neurosci. 31, 16447–57. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3070-11.2011
- Lasseter, H.C., Xie, X., Arguello, A.A., Wells, A.M., Hodges, M.A., Fuchs, R. a, 2013. Contribution of a Mesocorticolimbic Subcircuit to Drug Context-Induced Reinstatement of Cocaine-Seeking Behavior in Rats. Neuropsychopharmacology 39, 660–669. doi:10.1038/npp.2013.249
- Le Moine, C., Normand, E., Guitteny, A.F., Fouque, B., Teoule, R., Bloch, B., 1990. Dopamine receptor gene expression by enkephalin neurons in rat forebrain. PNAS 87, 230–234.
- Lee, B.R., Dong, Y., 2011. Cocaine-induced metaplasticity in the nucleus accumbens: silent synapse and beyond. Neuropharmacology 61, 1060–9. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2010.12.033
- Lee, B.R., Ma, Y.-Y., Huang, Y.H., Wang, X., Otaka, M., Ishikawa, M., Neumann, P. a, Graziane, N.M., Brown, T.E., Suska, A., Guo, C., Lobo, M.K., Sesack, S.R., Wolf, M.E., Nestler, E.J., Shaham, Y., Schlüter, O.M., Dong, Y., 2013. Maturation of silent synapses in amygdala-accumbens projection contributes to incubation of cocaine craving. Nat. Neurosci. 16, 1644–1651. doi:10.1038/nn.3533
- Li, S., Kirouac, G.J., 2012. Sources of inputs to the anterior and posterior aspects of the paraventricular nucleus of the thalamus. Brain Struct. Funct. 217, 257–273. doi:10.1007/s00429-011-0360-7
- Liechti, M.E., Lhuillier, L., Kaupmann, K., Markou, A., 2007. Metabotropic glutamate 2/3 receptors in the ventral tegmental area and the nucleus accumbens shell are involved in behaviors relating to nicotine dependence. J. Neurosci. 27, 9077–85. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1766-07.2007
- Lim, B.K., Huang, K.W., Grueter, B.A., Rothwell, P.E., Malenka, R.C., 2012. Anhedonia requires MC4R-mediated synaptic adaptations in nucleus accumbens. Nature 487, 183–9. doi:10.1038/nature11160
- Lister, R.G., 1987. The use of a plus-maze to measure anxiety in the mouse. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 92, 180–185. doi:10.1007/BF00177912
- Lobo, M.K., Covington, H.E., Chaudhury, D., Friedman, A.K., Sun, H., Damez-Werno, D., Dietz, D.M., Zaman, S., Koo, J.W., Kennedy, P.J., Mouzon, E., Mogri, M., Neve, R.L., Deisseroth, K., Han, M.-H., Nestler, E.J., 2010. Cell type-specific loss of BDNF signaling mimics optogenetic control of cocaine reward. Science (80-.). 330, 385–90.

- Lobo, M.K., Nestler, E.J., 2011. The striatal balancing act in drug addiction: distinct roles of direct and indirect pathway medium spiny neurons. Front. Neuroanat. 5, 41. doi:10.3389/fnana.2011.00041
- Lobo, M.K., Zaman, S., Damez-Werno, D.M., Koo, J.W., Bagot, R.C., DiNieri, J. a., Nugent, a., Finkel, E., Chaudhury, D., Chandra, R., Riberio, E., Rabkin, J., Mouzon, E., Cachope, R., Cheer, J.F., Han, M.-H., Dietz, D.M., Self, D.W., Hurd, Y.L., Vialou, V., Nestler, E.J., 2013. FosB Induction in Striatal Medium Spiny Neuron Subtypes in Response to Chronic Pharmacological, Emotional, and Optogenetic Stimuli. J. Neurosci. 33, 18381–18395. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1875-13.2013
- Lopez-Quintero, C., Pérez de los Cobos, J., Hasin, D.S., Okuda, M., Wang, S., Grant, B.F., Blanco, C., 2011. Probability and predictors of transition from first use to dependence on nicotine, alcohol, cannabis, and cocaine: results of the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions (NESARC). Drug Alcohol Depend. 115, 120–30. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2010.11.004
- Losi, G., Prybylowski, K., Fu, Z., Luo, J.H., Vicini, S., 2002. Silent synapses in developing cerebellar granule neurons. J. Neurophysiol. 87, 1263–70.
- Louderback, K.M., Wills, T.S., Muglia, L.J., Winder, D.G., 2013. Knockdown of BNST GluN2B-containing NMDA receptors mimics the actions of ketamine on novelty-induced hypophagia. Transl. Psychiatry 3, e331. doi:10.1038/tp.2013.103
- Loweth, J. a, Scheyer, A.F., Milovanovic, M., LaCrosse, A.L., Flores-Barrera, E., Werner, C.T., Li, X., Ford, K. a, Le, T., Olive, M.F., Szumlinski, K.K., Tseng, K.Y., Wolf, M.E., 2014. Synaptic depression via mGluR1 positive allosteric modulation suppresses cue-induced cocaine craving. Nat. Neurosci. 17, 73– 80. doi:10.1038/nn.3590
- Loweth, J. a, Tseng, K.Y., Wolf, M.E., 2013. Using metabotropic glutamate receptors to modulate cocaine's synaptic and behavioral effects: mGluR1 finds a niche. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 1–7. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2013.01.009
- Lozovaya, N., Gataullina, S., Tsintsadze, T., Tsintsadze, V., Pallesi-Pocachard, E., Minlebaev, M., Goriounova, N. a., Buhler, E., Watrin, F., Shityakov, S., Becker, a. J., Bordey, a., Milh, M., Scavarda, D., Bulteau, C., Dorfmuller, G., Delalande, O., Represa, a., Cardoso, C., Dulac, O., Ben-Ari, Y., Burnashev, N., 2014. Selective suppression of excessive GluN2C expression rescues early epilepsy in a tuberous sclerosis murine model. Nat. Commun. 5, 1–15. doi:10.1038/ncomms5563
- Lu, L., Hope, B.T., Dempsey, J., Liu, S.Y., Bossert, J.M., Shaham, Y., 2005. Central amygdala ERK signaling pathway is critical to incubation of cocaine craving. Nat. Neurosci. 8, 212–9. doi:10.1038/nn1383
- Lu, X.Y., Ghasemzadeh, M.B., Kalivas, P.W., 1998. Expression of D1 receptor, D2 receptor, substance P and enkephalin messenger RNAs in the neurons projecting from the nucleus accumbens. Neuroscience 82, 767–80.

- Lüscher, C., Malenka, R.C., 2011. Drug-evoked synaptic plasticity in addiction: from molecular changes to circuit remodeling. Neuron 69, 650–63. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2011.01.017
- Lüscher, C., Ungless, M.A., 2006. The mechanistic classification of addictive drugs. PLoS Med. 3, e437. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.0030437
- Ma, Y., Lee, B.R., Wang, X., Guo, C., Liu, L., Cui, R., Lan, Y., Balcita-pedicino, J.J., Wolf, M.E., Sesack, S.R., Shaham, Y., Schluter, O.M., Huang, Y.H., Dong, Y., 2014. Bidirectional modulation of incubation of cocaine craving by silent synapse-based remodeling of prefrontal cortex to accumbens projections. Neuron 83, 1453–1467.
- MacAskill, A.F., Cassel, J.M., Carter, A.G., 2014. Cocaine exposure reorganizes cell type– and input-specific connectivity in the nucleus accumbens. Nat. Neurosci. 17, 1198–1207. doi:10.1038/nn.3783
- MacAskill, A.F., Little, J.P., Cassel, J.M., Carter, A.G., 2012. Subcellular connectivity underlies pathway-specific signaling in the nucleus accumbens. Nat. Neurosci. 15, 1624–6. doi:10.1038/nn.3254
- Maeng, S., Zarate, C. a., Du, J., Schloesser, R.J., McCammon, J., Chen, G., Manji, H.K., 2008. Cellular Mechanisms Underlying the Antidepressant Effects of Ketamine: Role of α-Amino-3-Hydroxy-5-Methylisoxazole-4-Propionic Acid Receptors. Biol. Psychiatry 63, 349–352. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.05.028
- Malenka, R.C., Bear, M.F., 2004. LTP and LTD: an embarrassment of riches. Neuron 44, 5–21. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2004.09.012
- Malenka, R.C., Nicoll, R.A., 1997. Silent synapses speak up. Neuron 19, 473– 476. doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80362-1
- Mameli, M., Halbout, B., Creton, C., Engblom, D., Parkitna, J.R., Spanagel, R., Lüscher, C., 2009. Cocaine-evoked synaptic plasticity: persistence in the VTA triggers adaptations in the NAc. Nat. Neurosci. 12, 1036–41. doi:10.1038/nn.2367
- Manzoni, O., Michel, J.M., Bockaert, J., 1997. Metabotropic glutamate receptors in the rat nucleus accumbens. Eur. J. Neurosci. 9, 1514–1523.
- Mao, L.-M., Wang, W., Chu, X.-P., Zhang, G.-C., Liu, X.-Y., Yang, Y.-J., Haines, M., Papasian, C.J., Fibuch, E.E., Buch, S., Chen, J.-G., Wang, J.Q., 2009. Stability of surface NMDA receptors controls synaptic and behavioral adaptations to amphetamine. Nat. Neurosci. 12, 602–10. doi:10.1038/nn.2300
- Margules, D.L., Olds, J., 1962. Identical "feeding" and "rewarding" systems in the lateral hypothalamus of rats. Science (80-.). 135, 374–5.
- Markou, A., Arroyo, M., Everitt, B.J., 1999. Effects of contingent and noncontingent cocaine on drug-seeking behavior measured using a secondorder schedule of cocaine reinforcement in rats. Neuropsychopharmacology 20, 542–55. doi:10.1016/S0893-133X(98)00080-3

- Marty, V.N., Spigelman, I., 2012. Effects of alcohol on the membrane excitability and synaptic transmission of medium spiny neurons in the nucleus accumbens. Alcohol 46, 317–27. doi:10.1016/j.alcohol.2011.12.002
- Mashhoon, Y., Tsikitas, L.A., Kantak, K.M., 2009. Dissociable effects of cocaineseeking behavior following D1 receptor activation and blockade within the caudal and rostral basolateral amygdala in rats. Eur. J. Neurosci. 29, 1641– 1653. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2009.06705.x
- Matzeu, A., Zamora-Martinez, E.R., Martin-Fardon, R., 2014. The paraventricular nucleus of the thalamus is recruited by both natural rewards and drugs of abuse: recent evidence of a pivotal role for orexin/hypocretin signaling in this thalamic nucleus in drug-seeking behavior. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 8, 117. doi:10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00117
- Maurice, T., Su, T.-P., 2009. The pharmacology of sigma-1 receptors. Pharmacol. Ther. 124, 195–206. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2009.07.001
- McClung, C.A., Nestler, E.J., 2003. Regulation of gene expression and cocaine reward by CREB and DeltaFosB. Nat. Neurosci. 6, 1208–15. doi:10.1038/nn1143
- McCutcheon, J.E., Wang, X., Tseng, K.Y., Wolf, M.E., Marinelli, M., 2011. Calcium-permeable AMPA receptors are present in nucleus accumbens synapses after prolonged withdrawal from cocaine self-administration but not experimenter-administered cocaine. J. Neurosci. 31, 5737–5743. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0350-11.2011
- McNally, G.P., 2013. Extinction of drug seeking: Neural circuits and approaches to augmentation. Neuropharmacology 1–5.
- Menon, V., Levitin, D.J., 2005. The rewards of music listening: response and physiological connectivity of the mesolimbic system. Neuroimage 28, 175–84. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.05.053
- Mogenson, G.J., Ciriello, J., Garland, J., Wu, M., 1987. Ventral pallidum projections to mediodorsal nucleus of the thalamus: an anatomical and electrophysiological investigation in the rat. Brain Res. 404, 221–230. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(87)91373-4
- Moussawi, K., Kalivas, P.W., 2010. Group II metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGlu2/3) in drug addiction. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 639, 115–122. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2010.01.030
- Mullasseril, P., Hansen, K.B., Vance, K.M., Ogden, K.K., Yuan, H., Kurtkaya, N.L., Santangelo, R., Orr, A.G., Le, P., Vellano, K.M., Liotta, D.C., Traynelis, S.F., 2010. A subunit-selective potentiator of NR2C- and NR2D-containing NMDA receptors. Nat. Commun. 1, 90. doi:10.1038/ncomms1085
- Narendran, R., Lopresti, B.J., Martinez, D., Mason, N.S., Himes, M., May, M.A., Daley, D.C., Ph, D., Price, J.C., Mathis, C.A., Frankle, W.G., 2012. In vivo evidence for low striatal vesicular monoamine transporter 2 (VMAT2) availability in cocaine abusers. Am. J. Psychiatry 2, 55–63.

National Drug Intelligence Center, 2011. National Drug Threat Assessment. doi:10.1037/e618352012-001

Nelson AB, Hang GB, Grueter BA, Pascoli V, Luscher C, Malenka RC, Kreitzer AC, 2012. A comparison of striatal-dependent behaviors in wild-type and hemizygous Drd1a and Drd2 BAC transgenic mice. J. Neurosci. 32, 9119– 23. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0224-12.2012

Neumann PA, Graziane N, Huang YH, Xu W, Sesack SR, Nestler EJ, Schluter OM, D.Y., 2015. Cocaine self-administration generates silent synapses in thalamus to nucleus accumbens projection. Society for Neuroscience, Chicago, IL, IL.

Newman, A.H., Blaylock, B.L., Nader, M. a, Bergman, J., Sibley, D.R., Skolnick, P., 2012. Medication discovery for addiction: translating the dopamine D3 receptor hypothesis. Biochem. Pharmacol. 84, 882–90. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2012.06.023

O'Donnell, P., Grace, A.A., 1995. Synaptic interactions among excitatory afferents to nucleus accumbens neurons: hippocampal gating of prefrontal cortical input. J. Neurosci. 15, 3622–3639.

Ogden, K.K., Khatri, A., Traynelis, S.F., Heldt, S.A., 2014. Potentiation of GluN2C/D NMDA receptor subtypes in the amygdala facilitates the retention of fear and extinction learning in mice. Neuropsychopharmacology 39, 625–37. doi:10.1038/npp.2013.241

Ohishi, H., Neki, A., Mizuno, N., 1998. Distribution of a metabotropic glutamate receptor, mGluR2, in the central nervous system of the rat and mouse: an immunohistochemical study with a monoclonal antibody. Neurosci Res 30, 65–82.

Ohishi, H., Shigemoto, R., Nakanishi, S., Mizuno, N., 1993. Distribution of the messenger RNA for a metabotropic glutamate receptor, mGluR2, in the central nervous system of the rat. Neuroscience 53, 1009–1018. doi:10.1016/0306-4522(93)90485-X

Olds, J., Milner, P., 1954. Positive reinforcement produced by electrical stimulation of septal area and other regions of rat brain. J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol. 47, 419–27.

Olsen, C.M., Childs, D.S., Stanwood, G.D., Winder, D.G., 2010. Operant sensation seeking requires metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGluR5). PLoS One 5, e15085. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0015085

Olsen, C.M., Winder, D.G., 2009. Operant sensation seeking engages similar neural substrates to operant drug seeking in C57 mice. Neuropsychopharmacology 34, 1685–94. doi:10.1038/npp.2008.226

Ortinski, P.I., Turner, J.R., Pierce, R.C., 2013. Extrasynaptic targeting of NMDA receptors following D1 dopamine receptor activation and cocaine self-administration. J. Neurosci. 33, 9451–61. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5730-12.2013

- Otake, K., Nakamura, Y., 1998. Single midline thalamic neurons projecting to both the ventral striatum and the prefrontal cortex in the rat. Neuroscience 86, 635–649. doi:10.1016/S0306-4522(98)00062-1
- Otis, J.M., Fitzgerald, M.K., Mueller, D., 2014. Infralimbic BDNF/TrkB enhancement of GluN2B currents facilitates extinction of a cocaineconditioned place preference. J. Neurosci. 34, 6057–64. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4980-13.2014
- Paoletti, P., Bellone, C., Zhou, Q., 2013. NMDA receptor subunit diversity: impact on receptor properties, synaptic plasticity and disease. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 14, 383–400. doi:10.1038/nrn3504
- Paoletti, P., Neyton, J., 2007. NMDA receptor subunits: function and pharmacology. Curr. Opin. Pharmacol. 7, 39–47. doi:10.1016/j.coph.2006.08.011
- Papouin, T., Ladépêche, L., Ruel, J., Sacchi, S., Labasque, M., Hanini, M., Groc, L., Pollegioni, L., Mothet, J.-P., Oliet, S.H.R., 2012. Synaptic and extrasynaptic NMDA receptors are gated by different endogenous coagonists. Cell 150, 633–46. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.06.029
- Pascoli, V., Besnard, A., Hervé, D., Pagès, C., Heck, N., Girault, J.-A., Caboche, J., Vanhoutte, P., 2011. Cyclic adenosine monophosphate-independent tyrosine phosphorylation of NR2B mediates cocaine-induced extracellular signal-regulated kinase activation. Biol. Psychiatry 69, 218–27. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.08.031
- Pascoli, V., Terrier, J., Espallergues, J., Valjent, E., O'Connor, E.C., Lüscher, C., 2014. Contrasting forms of cocaine-evoked plasticity control components of relapse. Nature 509, 459–64. doi:10.1038/nature13257
- Pascoli, V., Turiault, M., Lüscher, C., 2012. Reversal of cocaine-evoked synaptic potentiation resets drug-induced adaptive behaviour. Nature 481, 71–5. doi:10.1038/nature10709
- Penzo, M.A., Robert, V., Tucciarone, J., De Bundel, D., Wang, M., Van Aelst, L., Darvas, M., Parada, L.F., Palmiter, R.D., He, M., Josh, H.Z., Li, B., 2015. The paraventricular thalamus controls a central amygdala fear circuit. Nature 519, 455–459. doi:10.1038/nature13978
- Peters, J., Kalivas, P.W., Quirk, G.J., 2009. Extinction circuits for fear and addiction overlap in prefrontal cortex. Learn. Mem. 16, 279–88. doi:10.1101/lm.1041309
- Petralia, R.S., Wang, Y.X., Niedzielski, A.S., Wenthold, R.J., 1996. The metabotropic glutamate receptors, MGLUR2 and MGLUR3, show unique postsynaptic, presynaptic and glial localizations. Neuroscience 71, 949–976. doi:10.1016/0306-4522(95)00533-1
- Phelps, E.A., LeDoux, J.E., 2005. Contributions of the amygdala to emotion processing: from animal models to human behavior. Neuron 48, 175–87. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2005.09.025

- Phillipson, O.T., 1988. Afferent Projections to the Dorsal Thalamus of the Rat as Shown by Retrograde Lectin Transport . II . The Midline Nuclei 21, 147–161.
- Phillipson, O.T., Griffiths, a C., 1985. The topographic order of inputs to nucleus accumbens in the rat. Neuroscience 16, 275–296. doi:10.1016/0306-4522(85)90002-8
- Quintana, A., Sanz, E., Wang, W., Storey, G.P., Güler, A.D., Wanat, M.J., Roller, B. a, La Torre, A., Amieux, P.S., McKnight, G.S., Bamford, N.S., Palmiter, R.D., 2012. Lack of GPR88 enhances medium spiny neuron activity and alters motor- and cue-dependent behaviors. Nat. Neurosci. 15, 1547–55. doi:10.1038/nn.3239

Ramikie, T.S., Patel, S., 2012. Endocannabinoid signaling in the amygdala: anatomy, synaptic signaling, behavior, and adaptations to stress. Neuroscience 204, 38–52. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.08.037

- Reissner, K.J., Uys, J.D., Schwacke, J.H., Comte-Walters, S., Rutherford-Bethard, J.L., Dunn, T.E., Blumer, J.B., Schey, K.L., Kalivas, P.W., 2011.
 AKAP signaling in reinstated cocaine seeking revealed by iTRAQ proteomic analysis. J. Neurosci. 31, 5648–58. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3452-10.2011
- Robbe, D., Kopf, M., Remaury, A., Bockaert, J., Manzoni, O.J., 2002. Endogenous cannabinoids mediate long-term synaptic depression in the nucleus accumbens. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 99, 8384–8388. doi:10.1073/pnas.122149199
- Robertson, S.D., Matthies, H.J.G., Galli, a, 2009. A closer look at amphetamineinduced reverse transport and trafficking of the dopamine and norepinephrine transporters. Mol. Neurobiol. 39, 73–80. doi:10.1007/s12035-009-8053-4
- Robison, aA J., Vialou, V., Mazei-Robison, M., Feng, J., Kourrich, S., Collins, M., Wee, S., Koob, G., Turecki, G., Neve, R., Thomas, M., Nestler, E.J., 2013.
 Behavioral and Structural Responses to Chronic Cocaine Require a Feedforward Loop Involving FosB and Calcium/Calmodulin-Dependent Protein Kinase II in the Nucleus Accumbens Shell. J. Neurosci. 33, 4295– 4307. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5192-12.2013
- Robison, A.J., Bartlett, R.K., Bass, M.A., Colbran, R.J., 2005. Differential modulation of Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II activity by regulated interactions with N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor NR2B subunits and ??-actinin. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 39316–39323. doi:10.1074/jbc.M508189200
- Robison, A.J., Nestler, E.J., 2011. Transcriptional and epigenetic mechanisms of addiction. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 12, 623–37. doi:10.1038/nrn3111
- Robison, A.J., Vialou, V., Sun, H.-S., Labonte, B., A Golden, S., Dias, C., Turecki, G., Tamminga, C., Russo, S., Mazei-Robison, M., Nestler, E.J., 2014. Fluoxetine Epigenetically Alters the CaMKIIα Promoter in Nucleus Accumbens to Regulate ΔFosB Binding and Antidepressant Effects. Neuropsychopharmacology 39, 1178–86. doi:10.1038/npp.2013.319

- Rodriguez, R., Wetsel, W., 2006. Assessments of Cognitive Deficits in Mutant Mice, in: Levin, E., Buccafusco, J. (Eds.), Animal Models of Cognitive Impairment. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.
- Rothwell, P.E., Kourrich, S., Thomas, M.J., 2011a. Synaptic adaptations in the nucleus accumbens caused by experiences linked to relapse. Biol. Psychiatry 69, 1124–6. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.12.028
- Rothwell, P.E., Kourrich, S., Thomas, M.J., 2011b. Environmental novelty causes stress-like adaptations at nucleus accumbens synapses: implications for studying addiction-related plasticity. Neuropharmacology 61, 1152–9. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2011.01.038
- Russo, S.J., Dietz, D.M., Dumitriu, D., Morrison, J.H., Malenka, R.C., Nestler, E.J., 2010. The addicted synapse: mechanisms of synaptic and structural plasticity in nucleus accumbens. Trends Neurosci. 33, 267–76. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2010.02.002
- Saal, D., Dong, Y., Bonci, A., Malenka, R.C., 2003. Drugs of abuse and stress trigger a common synaptic adaptation in dopamine neurons. Neuron 37, 577–82.
- Salih, H., Anghelescu, I., Kezic, I., Sinha, V., Hoeben, E., Van Nueten, L., De Smedt, H., De Boer, P., 2015. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic characterisation of JNJ-40411813, a positive allosteric modulator of mGluR2, in two randomised, double-blind phase-I studies. J. Psychopharmacol. 29, 414–425. doi:10.1177/0269881115573403
- SAMHSA, 2012. The National Survey on Drug Use and Health Report.
- Sanchez, C.J., Bailie, T.M., Wu, W.R., Li, N., Sorg, B.A., 2003. Manipulation of dopamine D1-like receptor activation in the rat medial prefrontal cortex alters stress- and cocaine-induced reinstatement of conditioned place preference behavior. Neuroscience 119, 497–505. doi:10.1016/S0306-4522(03)00078-2
- Sanz-Clemente, A., Gray, J.A., Ogilvie, K.A., Nicoll, R.A., Roche, K.W., 2013. Activated CaMKII couples GluN2B and casein kinase 2 to control synaptic NMDA receptors. Cell Rep. 3, 607–14. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2013.02.011
- Saunders, A., Oldenburg, I. a, Berezovskii, V.K., Johnson, C. a, Kingery, N.D., Elliott, H.L., Xie, T., Gerfen, C.R., Sabatini, B.L., 2015. A direct GABAergic output from the basal ganglia to frontal cortex. Nature 05, [In Press]. doi:10.1038/nature14179
- Sax, K.W., Strakowski, S.M., 2001. Behavioral sensitization in humans. J. Addict. Dis. 20, 55–65. doi:10.1300/J069v20n03_06
- Schiffmann, S.N., Jacobs, O., Vanderhaeghen, J.J., 1991. Striatal restricted adenosine A2 receptor (RDC8) is expressed by enkephalin but not by substance P neurons: an in situ hybridization histochemistry study. J. Neurochem. 57, 1062–1067.
- Schiffmann, S.N., Vanderhaeghen, J.J., 1993. Adenosine A2 receptors regulate the gene expression of striatopallidal and striatonigral neurons. J. Neurosci.

13, 1080–1087.

- Schmidt, M. V, 2011. Animal models for depression and the mismatch hypothesis of disease. Psychoneuroendocrinology 36, 330–8. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2010.07.001
- Schramm, N.L., Egli, R.E., Winder, D.G., 2002. LTP in the mouse nucleus accumbens is developmentally regulated. Synapse 45, 213–9. doi:10.1002/syn.10104
- Schumann, J., Yaka, R., 2009. Prolonged withdrawal from repeated noncontingent cocaine exposure increases NMDA receptor expression and ERK activity in the nucleus accumbens. J. Neurosci. 29, 6955–63. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1329-09.2009
- Schwartz, E.J., Rothman, J.S., Dugué, G.P., Diana, M., Rousseau, C., Silver, R.A., Dieudonné, S., 2012. NMDA receptors with incomplete Mg²⁺ block enable low-frequency transmission through the cerebellar cortex. J. Neurosci. 32, 6878–93. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5736-11.2012
- Schwartz, N., Temkin, P., Jurado, S., Lim, B.K., Heifets, B.D., Polepalli, J.S., Malenka, R.C., 2014. Chronic pain. Decreased motivation during chronic pain requires long-term depression in the nucleus accumbens. Science (80-.). 345, 535–542. doi:10.1126/science.1253994
- Scott, D.J., Stohler, C.S., Egnatuk, C.M., Wang, H., Koeppe, R. a, Zubieta, J.-K., 2007. Individual differences in reward responding explain placebo-induced expectations and effects. Neuron 55, 325–36. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2007.06.028
- Seif, T., Chang, S.-J., Simms, J.A., Gibb, S.L., Dadgar, J., Chen, B.T., Harvey, B.K., Ron, D., Messing, R.O., Bonci, A., Hopf, F.W., 2013. Cortical activation of accumbens hyperpolarization-active NMDARs mediates aversionresistant alcohol intake. Nat. Neurosci. 16, 1094–100. doi:10.1038/nn.3445
- Seif, T., Simms, J.A., Lei, K., Wegner, S., Bonci, A., Messing, R.O., Hopf, F.W., 2015. D-Serine and D-Cycloserine Reduce Compulsive Alcohol Intake in Rats. Neuropsychopharmacology 40, 2357–3267.
- Serrano, A., Parsons, L.H., 2011. Endocannabinoid influence in drug reinforcement, dependence and addiction-related behaviors. Pharmacol. Ther. 132, 215–41. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2011.06.005
- Sheinin, A., Shavit, S., Benveniste, M., 2001. Subunit specificity and mechanism of action of NMDA partial agonist D-cycloserine. Neuropharmacology 41, 151–158. doi:10.1016/S0028-3908(01)00073-9
- Shonesy, B.C., Jalan-Sakrikar, N., Cavener, V.S., Colbran, R.J., 2014. CaMKII: A molecular substrate for synaptic plasticity and memory. Prog. Mol. Biol. Transl. Sci. 122, 61–87. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-420170-5.00003-9
- Shonesy, B.C., Wang, X., Rose, K.L., Ramikie, T.S., Cavener, V.S., Rentz, T., Baucum, A.J., Jalan-Sakrikar, N., Mackie, K., Winder, D.G., Patel, S., Colbran, R.J., 2013. CaMKII regulates diacylglycerol lipase-α and striatal

endocannabinoid signaling. Nat. Neurosci. 16, 456–63. doi:10.1038/nn.3353

- Shuen, J.A., Chen, M., Gloss, B., Calakos, N., 2008. Drd1a-tdTomato BAC transgenic mice for simultaneous visualization of medium spiny neurons in the direct and indirect pathways of the basal ganglia. J. Neurosci. 28, 2681– 2685. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5492-07.2008
- Siegler Retchless, B., Gao, W., Johnson, J.W., 2012. A single GluN2 subunit residue controls NMDA receptor channel properties via intersubunit interaction. Nat. Neurosci. 15, 406–13, S1–2. doi:10.1038/nn.3025
- Smith, R.J., Lobo, M.K., Spencer, S., Kalivas, P.W., 2013. Cocaine-induced adaptations in D1 and D2 accumbens projection neurons (a dichotomy not necessarily synonymous with direct and indirect pathways). Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 1–7.
- Solich, J., Pałach, P., Budziszewska, B., Dziedzicka-Wasylewska, M., 2008. Effect of two behavioral tests on corticosterone level in plasma of mice lacking the noradrenaline transporter. Pharmacol. Reports 60, 1008–1013. doi:10.1016/S0924-977X(08)70045-2
- Solinas, M., Yasar, S., Goldberg, S.R., 2007. Endocannabinoid system involvement in brain reward processes related to drug abuse. Pharmacol. Res. 56, 393–405. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2007.09.005
- Sotres-Bayon, F., Diaz-Mataix, L., Bush, D.E. a, LeDoux, J.E., 2009. Dissociable roles for the ventromedial prefrontal cortex and amygdala in fear extinction: NR2B contribution. Cereb. Cortex 19, 474–482. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhn099
- Sprenger, T., Berthele, A., Platzer, S., Boecker, H., Tölle, T.R., 2005. What to learn from in vivo opioidergic brain imaging? Eur. J. Pain 9, 117–21. doi:10.1016/j.ejpain.2004.07.010
- Stamatakis, A.M., Stuber, G.D., 2012a. Activation of lateral habenula inputs to the ventral midbrain promotes behavioral avoidance. Nat. Neurosci. 15, 1105–7. doi:10.1038/nn.3145
- Stamatakis, A.M., Stuber, G.D., 2012b. Optogenetic strategies to dissect the neural circuits that underlie reward and addiction. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 2. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a011924
- Stefanik, M.T., Moussawi, K., Kupchik, Y.M., Smith, K.C., Miller, R.L., Huff, M.L., Deisseroth, K., Kalivas, P.W., LaLumiere, R.T., 2013. Optogenetic inhibition of cocaine seeking in rats. Addict. Biol. 18, 50–3. doi:10.1111/j.1369-1600.2012.00479.x
- Steimer, T., 2011. Animal models of anxiety disorders in rats and mice: some conceptual issues. Dialogues Clin. Neurosci. 13, 495–506.
- Stice, E., Figlewicz, D.P., Gosnell, B. a, Levine, A.S., Pratt, W.E., 2012. The contribution of brain reward circuits to the obesity epidemic. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 1–12.
- Strack, S., Colbran, R.J., 1998. Autophosphorylation-dependent targeting of calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II by the NR2B subunit of the

N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 20689–20692. doi:10.1074/jbc.273.33.20689

- Strack, S., McNeill, R.B., Colbran, R.J., 2000. Mechanism and regulation of calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II targeting to the NR2B subunit of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 23798– 23806. doi:10.1074/jbc.M001471200
- Strekalova, T., Couch, Y., Kholod, N., Boyks, M., Malin, D., Leprince, P., Steinbusch, H.M., 2011. Update in the methodology of the chronic stress paradigm: internal control matters. Behav. Brain Funct. 7, 9. doi:10.1186/1744-9081-7-9
- Stuber, G.D., Sparta, D.R., Stamatakis, A.M., van Leeuwen, W.A., Hardjoprajitno, J.E., Cho, S., Tye, K.M., Kempadoo, K.A., Zhang, F., Deisseroth, K., Bonci, A., 2011. Excitatory transmission from the amygdala to nucleus accumbens facilitates reward seeking. Nature 475, 377–80. doi:10.1038/nature10194
- Sulzer, D., 2011. How addictive drugs disrupt presynaptic dopamine neurotransmission. Neuron 69, 628–49. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2011.02.010
- Sulzer, D., Sonders, M.S., Poulsen, N.W., Galli, A., 2005. Mechanisms of neurotransmitter release by amphetamines: a review. Prog. Neurobiol. 75, 406–33. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2005.04.003
- Suska, A., Lee, B.R., Huang, Y.H., Dong, Y., Schlüter, O.M., 2013. Selective presynaptic enhancement of the prefrontal cortex to nucleus accumbens pathway by cocaine. PNAS 110, 713–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.1206287110
- Swanson, C.J., Baker, D. a, Carson, D., Worley, P.F., Kalivas, P.W., 2001. Repeated cocaine administration attenuates group I metabotropic glutamate receptor-mediated glutamate release and behavioral activation: a potential role for Homer. J. Neurosci. 21, 9043–52.
- Szumlinski, K.K., Abernathy, K.E., Oleson, E.B., Klugmann, M., Lominac, K.D., He, D.-Y., Ron, D., During, M., Kalivas, P.W., 2006. Homer isoforms differentially regulate cocaine-induced neuroplasticity. Neuropsychopharmacology 31, 768–77. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1300890
- Szumlinski, K.K., Ary, A.W., Lominac, K.D., 2008. Homers regulate drug-induced neuroplasticity: implications for addiction. Biochem. Pharmacol. 75, 112–33. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2007.07.031
- Szumlinski, K.K., Dehoff, M.H., Kang, S.H., Frys, K.A., Lominac, K.D., Klugmann, M., Rohrer, J., Griffin, W., Toda, S., Champtiaux, N.P., Berry, T., Tu, J.C., Shealy, S.E., During, M.J., Middaugh, L.D., Worley, P.F., Kalivas, P.W., 2004. Homer proteins regulate sensitivity to cocaine. Neuron 43, 401–13. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2004.07.019
- Szumlinski, K.K., Lominac, K.D., Oleson, E.B., Walker, J.K., Mason, A., Dehoff, M.H., Klugmann, M., Klugman, M., Cagle, S., Welt, K., During, M., Worley, P.F., Middaugh, L.D., Kalivas, P.W., 2005. Homer2 is necessary for EtOH-

induced neuroplasticity. J. Neurosci. 25, 7054–61. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1529-05.2005

- Tan, K.R., Brown, M., Labouèbe, G., Yvon, C., Creton, C., Fritschy, J.-M., Rudolph, U., Lüscher, C., 2010. Neural bases for addictive properties of benzodiazepines. Nature 463, 769–74. doi:10.1038/nature08758
- Tanda, G., 2007. Modulation of the endocannabinoid system: therapeutic potential against cocaine dependence. Pharmacol. Res. 56, 406–17. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2007.09.001
- Terrier, J., Lüscher, C., Pascoli, V., 2015. Cell-Type Specific Insertion of GluA2-Lacking AMPARs with Cocaine Exposure Leading to Sensitization, Cue-Induced Seeking, and Incubation of Craving. Neuropsychopharmacology. doi:10.1038/npp.2015.345
- Thomas, M.J., Beurrier, C., Bonci, A., Malenka, R.C., 2001. Long-term depression in the nucleus accumbens: a neural correlate of behavioral sensitization to cocaine. Nat. Neurosci. 4, 1217–23. doi:10.1038/nn757
- Ting-A-Kee, R., van der Kooy, D., 2012. The neurobiology of opiate motivation. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 2. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a012096
- Traynelis, S.F., Wollmuth, L.P., McBain, C.J., Menniti, F.S., Vance, K.M., Ogden, K.K., Hansen, K.B., Yuan, H., Myers, S.J., Dingledine, R., 2010. Glutamate receptor ion channels: structure, regulation, and function. Pharmacol. Rev. 62, 405–496. doi:10.1124/pr.109.002451
- Tsai, H.-C., Zhang, F., Adamantidis, A., Stuber, G.D., Bonci, A., de Lecea, L., Deisseroth, K., 2009. Phasic firing in dopaminergic neurons is sufficient for behavioral conditioning. Science (80-.). 324, 1080–4. doi:10.1126/science.1168878
- Tsien, J.Z., Huerta, P.T., Tonegawa, S., 1996. The essential role of hippocampal CA1 NMDA receptor-dependent synaptic plasticity in spatial memory. Cell 87, 1327–1338. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81827-9
- Tzschentke, T.M., 2007. Measuring reward with the conditioned place preference (CPP) paradigm: update of the last decade. Addict. Biol. 12, 227–462. doi:10.1111/j.1369-1600.2007.00070.x
- Tzschentke, T.M., 1998. Measuring reward with the conditioned place preference paradigm: a comprehensive review of drug effects, recent progress and new issues. Prog. Neurobiol. 56, 613–72.
- Ungless, M.A., Whistler, J.L., Malenka, R.C., Bonci, A., 2001. Single cocaine exposure in vivo induces long-term potentiation in dopamine neurons. Nature 411, 583–7. doi:10.1038/35079077
- Van Eden, C.G., Buijs, R.M., 2000. Functional neuroanatomy of the prefrontal cortex: autonomic interactions. Prog. Brain Res. 126, 49–62. doi:10.1016/S0079-6123(00)26006-8
- Vertes, R.P., Hoover, W.B., 2008. Projections of the paraventricular and paratenial nuclei of the dorsal midline thalamus in the rat. J. Comp. Neurol.

508, 212–237. doi:10.1002/cne.21679

- Vertes, R.P., Linley, S.B., Hoover, W.B., 2015. Limbic circuitry of the midline thalamus. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 54, 89–107. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.01.014
- Vialou, V., Robison, A.J., Laplant, Q.C., Covington, H.E., Dietz, D.M., Ohnishi, Y.N., Mouzon, E., Rush, A.J., Watts, E.L., Wallace, D.L., Iñiguez, S.D., Ohnishi, Y.H., Steiner, M.A., Warren, B.L., Krishnan, V., Bolaños, C.A., Neve, R.L., Ghose, S., Berton, O., Tamminga, C.A., Nestler, E.J., 2010. DeltaFosB in brain reward circuits mediates resilience to stress and antidepressant responses. Nat. Neurosci. 13, 745–752. doi:10.1038/nn.2551
- Vicini, S., Wang, J.F., Li, J.H., Zhu, W.J., Wang, Y.H., Luo, J.H., Wolfe, B.B., Grayson, D.R., 1998. Functional and pharmacological differences between recombinant N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. J. Neurophysiol. 79, 555–66.
- Volkow, N.D., 2010. Comorbidity: Addiction and Other Mental Illnesses.
- Volkow, N.D., Fowler, J.S., Wang, G.J., Baler, R., Telang, F., 2009. Imaging dopamine's role in drug abuse and addiction. Neuropharmacology 56 Suppl 1, 3–8. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2008.05.022
- Vries, T. De, Vries, W. de, De Vries, T.J., de Vries, W., Janssen, M.C.W., Schoffelmeer, A.N.M., 2005. Suppression of conditioned nicotine and sucrose seeking by the cannabinoid-1 receptor antagonist SR141716A. Behav. Brain Res. 161, 164–8. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2005.02.021
- Walker, A.G., Wenthur, C.J., Xiang, Z., Rook, J.M., Emmitte, K.A., Niswender, C.M., Lindsley, C.W., Conn, P.J., 2015. Metabotropic glutamate receptor 3 activation is required for long-term depression in medial prefrontal cortex and fear extinction. PNAS Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. United States Am. 112, 1196–1201.
- Wang, G.J., Volkow, N.D., Logan, J., Pappas, N.R., Wong, C.T., Zhu, W., Netusil, N., Fowler, J.S., 2001. Brain dopamine and obesity. Lancet 357, 354–7.
- Wang, X., Cahill, M.E., Werner, C.T., Christoffel, D.J., Golden, S.S., Xie, Z., Loweth, J.S., Marinelli, M., Russo, S.J., Penzes, P., Wolf, M.E., 2013. Kalirin-7 Mediates Cocaine-Induced AMPA Receptor and Spine Plasticity, Enabling Incentive Sensitization. J. Neurosci. 33, 11012–11022. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1097-13.2013
- Ward, S.J., Walker, E. a, Dykstra, L. a, 2007. Effect of cannabinoid CB1 receptor antagonist SR141716A and CB1 receptor knockout on cue-induced reinstatement of Ensure and corn-oil seeking in mice. Neuropsychopharmacology 32, 2592–600. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1301384
- Watson, G.B., Bolanowski, M.A., Baganoff, M.P., Deppeler, C.L., Lanthorn, T.H., 1990. D-cycloserine acts as a partial agonist at the glycine modulatory site of the NMDA receptor expressed in Xenopus oocytes. Brain Res. 510, 158–60. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(90)90745-W

- Weitlauf, C., Egli, R.E., Grueter, B.A., Winder, D.G., 2004. High-frequency stimulation induces ethanol-sensitive long-term potentiation at glutamatergic synapses in the dorsolateral bed nucleus of the stria terminalis. J. Neurosci. 24, 5741–5747. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1181-04.2004
- Wenthur, C.J., Morrison, R., Felts, A.S., Smith, K.A., Engers, J.L., Byers, F.W., Daniels, J.S., Emmitte, K.A., Conn, P.J., Lindsley, C.W., 2013. Discovery of (R)-(2-fluoro-4-((-4-methoxyphenyl)ethynyl)phenyl) (3-hydroxypiperidin-1yl)methanone (ML337), an mGlu3 selective and CNS penetrant negative allosteric modulator (NAM). J. Med. Chem. 56, 5208–5212. doi:10.1021/jm400439t
- Wiggins, A., Smith, R.J., Shen, H.-W., Kalivas, P.W., 2011. Integrins modulate relapse to cocaine-seeking. J. Neurosci. 31, 16177–84. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3816-11.2011
- Wise, R., 1996. Addictive drugs and brain stimulation reward. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 19, 319–40. doi:10.1146/annurev.ne.19.030196.001535
- Wise, R.A., 2009. Roles for nigrostriatal--not just mesocorticolimbic--dopamine in reward and addiction. Trends Neurosci. 32, 517–24. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2009.06.004
- Witten, I.B., Steinberg, E.E., Lee, S.Y., Davidson, T.J., Zalocusky, K. a, Brodsky, M., Yizhar, O., Cho, S.L., Gong, S., Ramakrishnan, C., Stuber, G.D., Tye, K.M., Janak, P.H., Deisseroth, K., 2011. Recombinase-driver rat lines: tools, techniques, and optogenetic application to dopamine-mediated reinforcement. Neuron 72, 721–33. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2011.10.028
- Wolf, M.E., Ferrario, C.R., 2010. AMPA receptor plasticity in the nucleus accumbens after repeated exposure to cocaine. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 35, 185–211. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.01.013.AMPA
- Wolf, M.E., Khansa, M.R., 1991. Repeated administration of MK-801 produces sensitization to its own locomoter stimulant effects but blocks sensitization to amphetamine. Brain Res. 562, 164–168. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(91)91202-C
- Wright, J.M., Dobosiewicz, M.R.S., Clarke, P.B.S., 2012. α- and β-Adrenergic receptors differentially modulate the emission of spontaneous and amphetamine-induced 50-kHz ultrasonic vocalizations in adult rats. Neuropsychopharmacology 37, 808–21. doi:10.1038/npp.2011.258
- Xi, Z., Spiller, K., Gardner, E.L., 2009. Mechanism-based medication development for the treatment of nicotine dependence. Acta Pharmacol. Sin. 30, 723–39. doi:10.1038/aps.2009.46
- Xi, Z.-X., Baker, D. a, Shen, H., Carson, D.S., Kalivas, P.W., 2002. Group II metabotropic glutamate receptors modulate extracellular glutamate in the nucleus accumbens. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 300, 162–171.
- Yao, W.-D., Gainetdinov, R.R., Arbuckle, M.I., Sotnikova, T.D., Cyr, M., Beaulieu, J.-M., Torres, G.E., Grant, S.G.N., Caron, M.G., 2004. Identification of PSD-

95 as a regulator of dopamine-mediated synaptic and behavioral plasticity. Neuron 41, 625–38.

- Yeoh, J.W., James, M.H., Graham, B. a., Dayas, C. V., 2014. Electrophysiological characteristics of paraventricular thalamic (PVT) neurons in response to cocaine and cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript (CART). Front. Behav. Neurosci. 8, 1–11. doi:10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00280
- Yoon, J.H., Minzenberg, M.J., Raouf, S., D'Esposito, M., Carter, C.S., 2013. Impaired Prefrontal-Basal Ganglia Functional Connectivity and Substantia Nigra Hyperactivity in Schizophrenia. Biol. Psychiatry 74, 122–129. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.11.018
- Young, C.D., Deutch, A.Y., 1998. The effects of thalamic paraventricular nucleus lesions on cocaine-induced locomotor activity and sensitization. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 60, 753–8.
- Young, R., 2009. Drug Discrimination, in: Buccafusco, J. (Ed.), Methods of Behavior Analysis in Neuroscience. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.
- Zhai, H., Li, Y., Wang, X., Lu, L., 2008. Drug-induced alterations in the extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) signalling pathway: implications for reinforcement and reinstatement. Cell. Mol. Neurobiol. 28, 157–72. doi:10.1007/s10571-007-9240-3
- Zhang, Y., Svenningsson, P., Picetti, R., Schlussman, S.D., Nairn, A.C., Ho, A., Greengard, P., Kreek, M.J., 2006. Cocaine self-administration in mice is inversely related to phosphorylation at Thr34 (protein kinase A site) and Ser130 (kinase CK1 site) of DARPP-32. J. Neurosci. 26, 2645–51. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3923-05.2006
- Zhou, Q.Y., Grandy, D.K., Thambi, L., Kushner, J.A., Van Tol, H.H., Cone, R., Pribnow, D., Salon, J., Bunzow, J.R., Civelli, O., 1990. Cloning and expression of human and rat D1 dopamine receptors. Nature 347, 76–80. doi:10.1038/347076a0
- Zhu, Y., Wienecke, C.F.R., Nachtrab, G., Chen, X., 2016. A thalamic input to the nucleus accumbens mediates opiate dependence. Nature 530, 219–222. doi:10.1038/nature16954